MECHANISMS, MEASUREMENT, AND MANAGEMENT OF VASOGENIC EDEMA AFTER STROKE

EDITED BY: Gabriel Broocks, Andre Kemmling, Jens Minnerup and Shervin Kamalian <u>PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neurology</u>







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-695-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-695-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

MECHANISMS, MEASUREMENT, AND MANAGEMENT OF VASOGENIC EDEMA AFTER STROKE

Topic Editors:

Gabriel Broocks, University of Hamburg, Germany Andre Kemmling, University Heart Center Luebeck, Germany Jens Minnerup, University of Münster, Germany Shervin Kamalian, Harvard Medical School, United States

Citation: Broocks, G., Kemmling, A., Minnerup, J., Kamalian, S., eds. (2022). Mechanisms, Measurement, and Management of Vasogenic Edema after Stroke. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-695-8

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Mechanisms, Measurement, and Management of Vasogenic Edema After Stroke

Gabriel Broocks, Jens Minnerup, Shervin Kamalian and Andre Kemmling

- 08 Image Patch-Based Net Water Uptake and Radiomics Models Predict Malignant Cerebral Edema After Ischemic Stroke
 Bowen Fu, Shouliang Qi, Lin Tao, Haibin Xu, Yan Kang, Yudong Yao, Benqiang Yang, Yang Duan and Huisheng Chen
- 20 Net Water Uptake Calculated in Standardized and Blindly Outlined Regions of the Middle Cerebral Artery Territory Predicts the Development of Malignant Edema in Patients With Acute Large Hemispheric Infarction Hai-Bin Xu, Yu-Fei Sun, Na Luo, Jia-Qi Wang, Guo-Can Chang, Lin Tao, Ben-Qiang Yang and Hui-Sheng Chen
- 28 Glibenclamide Advantage in Treating Edema After Intracerebral Hemorrhage (GATE-ICH): Study Protocol for a Multicenter Randomized, Controlled, Assessor-Blinded Trial

Jingjing Zhao, Fang Yang, Changgeng Song, Li Li, Xiai Yang, Xiaofeng Wang, Liping Yu, Jun Guo, Kangjun Wang, Feng Fu and Wen Jiang on behalf of the GATE-ICH Study Group

35 Computed Tomography Based Score of Early Ischemic Changes Predicts Malignant Infarction

Matthias Bechstein, Lukas Meyer, Silke Breuel, Tobias D. Faizy, Uta Hanning, Noel van Horn, Rosalie McDonough, Jens Fiehler and Gabriel Broocks

- **45** Interaction Effect of Baseline Serum Glucose and Early Ischemic Water Uptake on the Risk of Secondary Hemorrhage After Ischemic Stroke Jawed Nawabi, Sarah Elsayed, Henriette Scholz, André Kemmling, Lukas Meyer, Helge Kniep, Matthias Bechstein, Fabian Flottmann, Tobias D. Faizy, Gerhard Schön, Jens Fiehler, Uta Hanning and Gabriel Broocks
- 55 Value of Dual-Energy Dual-Layer CT After Mechanical Recanalization for the Quantification of Ischemic Brain Edema

Paul Steffen, Friederike Austein, Thomas Lindner, Lukas Meyer, Matthias Bechstein, Johanna Rümenapp, Tristan Klintz, Olav Jansen, Susanne Gellißen, Uta Hanning, Jens Fiehler and Gabriel Broocks

61 The Role of Edema in Subacute Lesion Progression After Treatment of Acute Ischemic Stroke

Praneeta Konduri, Katinka van Kranendonk, Anna Boers, Kilian Treurniet, Olvert Berkhemer, Albert J. Yoo, Wim van Zwam, Robert van Oostenbrugge, Aad van der Lugt, Diederik Dippel, Yvo Roos, Joost Bot, Charles Majoie, Henk Marquering and the MR CLEAN Trial Investigators (Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial of Endovascular Treatment for Acute Ischemic Stroke in the Netherlands) 72 Pretreatment of Sulfonylureas Reducing Perihematomal Edema in Diabetic Patients With Basal Ganglia Hemorrhage: A Retrospective Case-Control Study

Zhang Jingjing, Zhao Jingjing, Hui Bo, Wang Le, Wei Jingya, Wei Dong, Yang Fang and Jiang Wen

78 Stroke Lateralization in Large Hemisphere Infarctions: Characteristics, Stroke-Related Complications, and Outcomes

Jie Li, Ping Zhang, Yingying Liu, Wanli Chen, Xingyang Yi and Chun Wang

87 The Benefit of Thrombectomy in Patients With Low ASPECTS Is a Matter of Shades of Gray—What Current Trials May Have Missed Gabriel Broocks, Lukas Meyer, Rosalie McDonough, Matthias Bechstein, Uta Hanning, Jens Fiehler and Andre Kemmling for the I-LAST Investigators





Editorial: Mechanisms, Measurement, and Management of Vasogenic Edema After Stroke

Gabriel Broocks 1*, Jens Minnerup², Shervin Kamalian³ and Andre Kemmling⁴

¹ Department of Diagnostic and Interventional Neuroradiology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany, ² Department of Neurology With Institute of Translational Neurology, University Hospital Münster, Münster, Germany, ³ Department of Neuroradiology, Harvard Medical School and Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, ⁴ Department of Neuroradiology, University Marburg, Marburg, Germany

Keywords: stroke, edema, ischemia, imaging, infarction

Editorial on the Research Topic

Mechanisms, Measurement, and Management of Vasogenic Edema After Stroke

INTRODUCTION

Cerebral tissue edema is a pathophysiological hallmark of acute ischemic injury. Cerebral ischemia induced by critical brain perfusion results in disturbed water homeostasis, and subsequently a net uptake of water and cations into the ischemic tissue. In large ischemic lesions, as a severe complication, progressive water uptake may lead to severe space-occupying edema within the first days after stroke onset with mortality up to 80% (1, 2). Therefore, the identification and validation of reliable neuroimaging biomarkers for developing brain edema remains an elementary challenge of stroke imaging despite recent advances in artificial intelligence-based automated imaging tools. Furthermore, it has recently been observed that treatment strategies in ischemic vasogenic edema may be a therapeutic target for both endovascular treatment, as well as novel adjuvant neuroprotective drugs (6). The aim of this Research Topic was to investigate neuroimaging biomarkers of ischemic vasogenic edema in acute stroke for imaging triage, measurement of treatment effects, and prediction of functional outcome.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Jean-Claude Baron.

University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Gabriel Broocks g.broocks@uke.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 29 January 2022 Accepted: 01 February 2022 Published: 24 February 2022

Citation:

Broocks G, Minnerup J, Kamalian S and Kemmling A (2022) Editorial: Mechanisms, Measurement, and Management of Vasogenic Edema After Stroke. Front. Neurol. 13:865078. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.865078

MECHANISMS OF VASOGENIC EDEMA AFTER STROKE

The identification of variables associated with the progression of ischemic edema is a fundamental challenge in the asssessment of acute ischemic stroke patients on admission, particularly considering modifiable variables that could be used to alter the progression of infarction. Nawabi et al. hypothesized that baseline serum glucose, which is known to be associated with functional outcome and response to endovascular treatment, interacts with the effect of tissue water uptake on the occurrence of intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH), a major complication after reperfusion therapy. It was observed that a higher degree of early tissue water uptake and high admission serum glucose were both independent predictors of ICH. Although a clear causal relationship remains speculative, stricter glucose control, and monitoring could be tested to reduce the risk of ICH in patients undergoing thrombectomy.

In the further course of ischemic brain infarct, vasogenic edema progresses and constitutes up to 35% of the total infarct lesion volume. Konduri et al. sought to elucidate the role of edema in subacute lesion progression and its influence on unfavorable functional outcome by quantifying

5

net water uptake including patients from the MR CLEAN trial. It was observed that edema volume ususally increases in the period between 1 day and 1 week after acute ischemic stroke, depending on the degree of recanalization, and was significantly associated with functional outcome.

So far, limited data exist regarding the hemispheric differences in the incidence of stroke-related complications and outcomes of patients with extensive baseline stroke. Li et al. assessed the hemispheric differences with characteristics, complications, and outcomes of patients suffering from large hemisphere infarctions (LHI). Li et al. observed that right-sided patients with LHI had higher frequency of atrial fibrillation and cardio-embolism than the left-sided patients, whereas stroke lateralization was not an independent predictor of mortality and unfavorable outcome.

MEASUREMENT OF VASOGENIC EDEMA AFTER STROKE

Malignant cerebral edema (MCE) following ischemic stroke regularly results in very poor outcomes. Hence, the early prediction of MCE might help to identify patients that could benefit from decompressive surgery. Quantitative net water uptake (NWU) has been described as a predictor of MCE; however, the utilization of CT perfusion and lesion segmentation is currently necessary for NWU assessment. Fu et al. proposed a new Image Patch-based Net Water Uptake (IP-NWU) procedure that only uses non-enhanced admission CT and does not need lesion segmentation. In summary, IP-NWU showed a high diagnostic accuracy to predict MCE, with an AUC of 0.86. By combining IP-NWU with imaging features through a random forest classifier, the radiomics model achieved even an AUC of 0.96. Xu et al. aimed to investigate whether NWU calculated in standardized and blindly outlined regions of the middle cerebral artery territory can predict the development of MCE, aiming to further standardize and simplify the procedure of NWU quantification. Xu et al. concluded that NWU calculated in standardized and blindly outlined regions of the middle cerebral artery territory was a good predictor for the development of MCE (AUC: 0.73).

Steffen et al. performed a pilot study to investigate the potential value of dual-energy dual-layer CT after mechanical thrombectomy (MT) for the improved assessment of ischemic edema, as it is known that contrast staining after MT might directly affect the measurement of NWU (7). NWU was measured in conventional polychromatic CT images and virtual non-contrast images in a blinded fashion. It was observed that NWU may be quantified precisely on conventional CT images, as the underestimation of ischemic edema due to contrast staining was low. Nonetheless, a relevant proportion of patients after MT (2 out of 10 patients) might show significant contrast staining resulting in edema underestimation.

The measurement of quantitative NWU is not yet established in acute stroke triage. Bechstein et al. propose a simple imaging score to be applied on baseline non-enhanced CT images (i.e., "NEMMI score"). It was hypothesized that this score, consisting of measurements of visually evident ischemic changes (sum of the maximum diameter anterior-poster + mediolateral of the hypoattenuated lesion in baseline-CT multiplied by a hypoattenuation factor) on non-enhanced CT predicts malignant middle cerebral artery infarctions with a high diagnostic power. In conclusion, the authors observed that the NEMMI score might serve as a quick and simple rating tool of early ischemic changes on CT and could serve as a surrogate marker for developing malignant edema. Its diagnostic accuracy was similar to CTP and clinical parameters.

Finally, the quantification of early edematous water uptake might have particular importance in the assessment of patients with extensive baseline infarction (i.e., low ASPECTS). The rating of ASPECTS is based on the presence of hypoattenuation of the ischemic brain tissue, which is directly related to early infarct, and the degree of relative hypoattenuation can be used to quantify ischemic edema on CT. The purpose of the pilot study of Broocks et al. was to evaluate how early tissue water uptake in acute ischemic brain might determine lesion fate and functional outcome in low ASPECTS patients undergoing MT. In this single center analysis of 155 low ASPECTS patients, NWU showed to be an independent predictor of outcome. While low NWU was a beneficial constellation regarding the effect of recanalization on outcome, high NWU was associated with futile recanalization. Further research is necessary to elucidate the value of quantitative NWU in the assessment of low ASPECTS patients.

MANAGEMENT OF VASOGENIC EDEMA AFTER STROKE

Currently it is tested, whether Glibenclamide, a sulfonylurea, improves outcome in large hemispheric stroke and reduces formation of ischemic edema (6). Zhao et al. aim to explore the efficacy of small doses of oral glibenclamide in perihematomal edema (PHE) and the prognosis of patients with ICH in a clinical trial (GATE-ICH, NCT03741530). The study assesses the effects of small doses of oral glibenclamide in reducing the PHE after ICH and improving the 90-day prognosis of patients. Similarly, Jingjing et al. assessed whether sulfonylureas are associated with lower PHE and improved clinical outcomes in diabetic patients who have acute basal ganglia hemorrhage. In this casecontrol study, Jingjing et al. concluded that pretreatment with sulfonylureas were associated with lower PHE and relative PHE on admission. No significant effect was found on the clinical outcomes when the patients were discharged. Still, the authors see a need for further studies to assess the potential clinical benefit using sulfonylureas for ICH patients.

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE CHALLENGES

Neuroimaging biomarkers of ischemic edema in acute stroke are highly relevant for imaging triage of stroke patients, to measure and compare treatment effects, and to predict functional outcome. First, it is important to realize that the term "edema" is regularly connected with different meanings, such as "swelling" (i.e., expansion of an infarct lesion with adjacent anatomy shift), or "net uptake of water" into the ischemic tissue which is evident by progressive hypoattenuation even below visually evident brain swelling. The precise quantification of early edema remains an elementary challenge, and NWU may particularly serve as a tool to select patients for treatment. Current trials may have missed this opportunity.

For instance, it is yet uncertain how to select patients with a low ASPECTS for endovascular treatment (8, 9). The currently active low ASPECTS trials apply different inclusion criteria based on ischemic core volume or ASPECTS. However, the degree of hypoattenuation, which directly reflects net uptake of water, is currently not considered as imaging biomarker in stroke triage. As described in the above-mentioned pilot study, the degree of water uptake as quantified on baseline CT might serve as a predictor of outcome, and could be tested as a tool to select low ASPECTS patients for thrombectomy (10). A further application of edema imaging is to guide adjuvant treatment. The CHARM trial (NCT02864953) is a phase 3 study to evaluate the efficacy

REFERENCES

- Hacke W, Schwab S, Horn M, Spranger M, De Georgia M, von Kummer R. 'Malignant' middle cerebral artery territory infarction: clinical course and prognostic signs. *Arch Neurol.* (1996) 53:309–15. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1996.00550040037012
- Minnerup J, Wersching H, Ringelstein EB, Heindel W, Niederstadt T, Schilling M, et al. Prediction of malignant middle cerebral artery infarction using computed tomography-based intracranial volume reserve measurements. *Stroke*. (2011) 42:3403–9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.619734
- Nawabi J, Flottmann F, Hanning U, Bechstein M, Schon G, Kemmling A, et al. Futile recanalization with poor clinical outcome is associated with increased edema volume after ischemic stroke. *Invest Radiol.* (2019) 54:282– 87. doi: 10.1097/RLI.00000000000539
- Sheth KN, Kimberly WT, Elm JJ, Kent TA, Mandava P, Yoo AJ, et al. Pilot study of intravenous glyburide in patients with a large ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. (2014) 45:281–3. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.003352
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Hanning U, Schon G, Sporns P, Minnerup J, et al. Impact of endovascular recanalization on quantitative lesion water uptake in ischemic anterior circulation strokes. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2020) 40:437–45. doi: 10.1177/0271678X18823601
- Sheth KN, Kimberly WT, Elm JJ, Kent TA, Yoo AJ, Thomalla G, et al. Exploratory analysis of glyburide as a novel therapy for preventing brain swelling. *Neurocrit Care*. (2014) 21:43–51. doi: 10.1007/s12028-014-9970-2
- Wolman DN, van Ommen F, Tong E, Kauw F, Dankbaar JW, Bennink E, et al. Non-contrast dual-energy CT virtual ischemia maps accurately estimate ischemic core size in large-vessel occlusive stroke. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:6745. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-85143-3
- McDonough R, Elsayed S, Faizy TD, Austein F, Sporns PB, Meyer L, et al. Computed tomography-based triage of extensive baseline infarction: ASPECTS and collaterals versus perfusion imaging for outcome prediction. *J Neurointerv Surg.* (2020) 13:869–74. doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2020-016848
- 9. Meyer L, Bechstein M, Bester M, Hanning U, Brekenfeld C, Flottmann F, et al. Thrombectomy in extensive stroke may not be beneficial and

and safety of intravenous glibenclamide for severe cerebral edema. However, this study only includes patients with visually evident and apparent large infarct lesions, in particular patients after thrombectomy (likely the majority or large minority of patients) when inclusion criteria are met on follow-up MRI DWI scans. Alternatively, NWU on baseline CT could be used to select patients for glibenclamide administration early prior to visually apparent brain swelling, before, or during thrombectomy to mediate the detrimental effect of net water uptake at an early ischemic lesion stage, which may progress to high levels quickly often resulting in malignant edema and futile recanalization (3, 11, 12).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

is associated with increased risk for hemorrhage. *Stroke.* (2021) 52:3109–17. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.120.033101

- Broocks G, McDonough R, Bechstein M, Hanning U, Brekenfeld C, Flottmann F, et al. Benefit and risk of intravenous alteplase in patients with acute large vessel occlusion stroke and low ASPECTS. *J Neurointerv Surg.* (2022). doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2021-017986 [Epub ahead of print].
- Nawabi J, Flottmann F, Kemmling A, Kniep H, Leischner H, Sporns P, et al. Elevated early lesion water uptake in acute stroke predicts poor outcome despite successful recanalization When "tissue clock" and "time clock" are desynchronized. *Int J Stroke.* (2021) 16:863–72. doi: 10.1177/1747493019884522
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Scheibel A, Aigner A, Faizy TD, Hanning U, et al. Quantitative lesion water uptake in acute stroke computed tomography is a predictor of malignant infarction. *Stroke.* (2018) 49:1906– 12. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.020507

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Broocks, Minnerup, Kamalian and Kemmling. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Image Patch-Based Net Water Uptake and Radiomics Models Predict Malignant Cerebral Edema After Ischemic Stroke

Bowen Fu¹, Shouliang Qi^{1,2*}, Lin Tao³, Haibin Xu³, Yan Kang⁴, Yudong Yao⁵, Benqiang Yang⁶, Yang Duan⁶ and Huisheng Chen^{5*}

¹ College of Medicine and Biological Information Engineering, Northeastern University, Shenyang, China, ² Key Laboratory of Intelligent Computing in Medical Image, Ministry of Education, Northeastern University, Shenyang, China, ³ Department of Neurology, General Hospital of Northern Theater Command, Shenyang, China, ⁴ College of Health Science and Environment Engineering, Shenzhen Technology University, Shenzhen, China, ⁵ Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Stevens Institute of Technology, Hoboken, NJ, United States, ⁶ Department of Radiology, General Hospital of Northern Theater Command, Shenyang, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriel Broocks, Universität Hamburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Matthias Bechstein, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany Jawed Nawabi, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany

*Correspondence:

Shouliang Qi qisl@bmie.neu.edu.cn orcid.org/0000-0003-0977-1939 Huisheng Chen chszh@aliyun.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 24 September 2020 Accepted: 26 November 2020 Published: 23 December 2020

Citation:

Fu B, Qi S, Tao L, Xu H, Kang Y, Yao Y, Yang B, Duan Y and Chen H (2020) Image Patch-Based Net Water Uptake and Radiomics Models Predict Malignant Cerebral Edema After Ischemic Stroke. Front. Neurol. 11:609747. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.609747 Malignant cerebral edema (MCE) after an ischemic stroke results in a poor outcome or death. Early prediction of MCE helps to identify subjects that could benefit from a surgical decompressive craniectomy. Net water uptake (NWU) in an ischemic lesion is a predictor of MCE; however, CT perfusion and lesion segmentation are required. This paper proposes a new Image Patch-based Net Water Uptake (IP-NWU) procedure that only uses non-enhanced admission CT and does not need lesion segmentation. IP-NWU is calculated by comparing the density of ischemic and contralateral normal patches selected from the middle cerebral artery (MCA) area using standard reference images. We also compared IP-NWU with the Segmented Region-based NWU (SR-NWU) procedure in which segmented ischemic regions from follow-up CT images are overlaid onto admission images. Furthermore, IP-NWU and its combination with imaging features are used to construct predictive models of MCE with a radiomics approach. In total, 116 patients with an MCA infarction (39 with MCE and 77 without MCE) were included in the study. IP-NWU was significantly higher for patients with MCE than those without MCE (p < 0.05). IP-NWU can predict MCE with an AUC of 0.86. There was no significant difference between IP-NWU and SR-NWU, nor between their predictive efficacy for MCE. The inter-reader and interoperation agreement of IP-NWU was exceptional according to the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient (ICC) analysis (inter-reader: ICC = 0.92; interoperation: ICC = 0.95). By combining IP-NWU with imaging features through a random forest classifier, the radiomics model achieved the highest AUC (0.96). In summary, IP-NWU and radiomics models that combine IP-NWU with imaging features can precisely predict MCE using only admission non-enhanced CT images scanned within 24 h from onset.

Keywords: malignant cerebral edema, predictive model, radiomics, CT image, ischemic stroke, net water uptake

INTRODUCTION

Stroke is the leading cause of death and disability, resulting in 5.9 million deaths and 102 million disability-adjusted life-years worldwide (1). Ischemic stroke accounts for about 85% of the total incidence (2). A focal occlusion at the middle cerebral artery (MCA) leads to large hemispheric infarctions in some patients since the MCA supplies a large amount of blood to the brain.

Progressive cerebral edema usually results in a spaceoccupying infarct. The edema increases both brain volume and intracranial pressure. In the first 1–3 days after the onset of stroke, an abrupt neurological decline associated with displacement of midline brain structures may occur in \sim 10% of the patients with ischemic stroke of the MCA (3–5). These tissue shifts and subsequent brain herniation make the mortality rate increase to nearly 80% and thus are termed malignant cerebral edema (MCE) or malignant MCA infarction (6, 7). MCA can be relieved by decompressive craniectomy performed within 48 h of stroke onset or before herniation (3, 8).

Early and precise prediction of MCE can help identify the patients who could potentially benefit from a surgical decompressive craniectomy. Moreover, it can also help clinicians prepare for possible deterioration and communicate with patients and their family members about the goals of care (5). Compared with MRI, CT is the most favorable imaging modality for the prediction of MCE due to its fast acquisition and widespread availability. For example, Minnerup et al. (6) proposed the use of CT-based cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) volume as a predictor of MCE. The ischemic lesion volume must be measured manually from the admission perfusion CT images (cerebral blood volume, CBV). The clot burden score and collateral score measured from CT angiography have also been considered as predictors of MCE (9). Ong et al. developed the Enhanced Detection of Edema in Malignant Anterior Circulation Stroke (EDEMA) to predict the risk of lethal malignant edema; it includes two CT imaging variables at 24 h after the midline shift and basal cistern effacement (10). The EDEMA score showed a higher positive predictive value (93%) than the baseline image markers, such as the Alberta Stroke Program Early CT score (ASPECTS) or hyperdense vessel sign. Cheng et al. added the National Institute of Health Stroke Score (NIHSS) into EDEMA and validated it using a dataset of Chinese patients (11). Two recent meta-analysis studies summarized additional potential predictors (12, 13).

Net water uptake (NWU) measured by non-enhanced CT is useful for predicting malignant infarctions. A CBV map driven from CT perfusion (CTP) can be used to precisely locate the early ischemic infarct core and a non-enhanced CT is applied to quantitatively measure density changes. The NWU is calculated using the formula $1-D_{Ischemic}/D_{Normal}$, where $D_{Ischemic}$ (HU) is the density of the ischemic core with hypoattenuation and D_{Normal} is the density of the area of the contralateral normal tissue (14–16).

Radiomics aims to extract high-dimensional and quantitative features from medical images that can be used to build predictive models with machine learning methods to support clinical decisions (17, 18). Radiomics has played an important role in the study of many diseases such as cancers (19, 20). For stroke management, radiomics have been used to predict recanalization in ischemic stroke and hematoma expansion (21, 22). However, no study on predicting MCE by radiomics has been reported.

Regarding NWU and the prediction of MCE, most previous studies required multimodal CT images including CTP or CTA. Some dedicated software packages involve tedious semiautomatic or even manual segmentation. Hence, we propose a new way of calculating NWU that uses only non-enhanced admission CT and does not require CTP, CTA, or segmentation of the ischemic core. We hypothesize that in patients with ischemic stroke due to MCA occlusion, a non-enhanced admission CT can be used to predict MCE by calculating NWU through pre-defined image patches on the affected and non-affected MCA areas. Moreover, combining NWU with clinical and imaging features enables the construction of radiomics models that can predict MCE at an early stage after an ischemic MCA stroke.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and the Dataset

This retrospective single-center study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of the General Hospital of Northern Theater Command and no informed consent was required by the committee. The selection of patients was carried out in accordance with inclusion and exclusion criteria. The inclusion criteria for this study were the following: (1) patients who were diagnosed with an MCA infarction with the occlusion at the MCA M1 segment; (2) patients that had both nonenhanced CT images within 24h on admission and nonenhanced CT images after 24 h as the follow-up scan; (3) demographic information was available from the time of the stroke onset to the CT scans, including NIHSS score, the use of interventional thrombectomy (IT), the use of bone flap surgery, and the outcome (death for stroke or not); and (4) the development of an MCE was known. Using these criteria, we selected 125 patients from archive data on patients who were admitted to the General Hospital of Northern Theater Command between April 2017 and December 2018. Nine patients were further excluded due to the poor quality of admission CT images at 24 h. Finally, a total of 116 patients were included in the study.

We declared patients to have an MCE if they had infarcts with a mass effect during the follow-up non-contrast CT after admission, had clinically experienced a cerebral hernia due to the mass effect of edema, received bone flap surgery, or died due to the mass effect. This definition is the same as that given by Broocks et al. (16).

CT images were acquired with a Discovery CT750 HD scanner (GE Healthcare, Milwaukee, WI, USA) with a tube voltage of 120 kVp, x-ray tube current of 300 mA, the protocol of Axial Head, a slice thickness of 5.0 mm, 20 mm spacing between slices, a matrix of 512×512 , and voxel spacing of 0.449/0.449 mm. The CT image data is available upon request after approval from the General Hospital of Northern Theater Command, China.



Net Water Uptake Calculated by Image Patches

Given the fact that an early hypoattenuated infarct (lesion core) is often not visible or that it can be difficult to precisely locate in non-enhanced CT images, we propose a new way of calculating net water uptake using CT patches determined using the standard reference images. After reviewing all the images, two experienced neuroradiologists selected four slices as the standard reference images and marked two mirrored patches of 30×30 voxels from the right and left MCA areas at each slice, as shown in **Figure 1**.

The criteria for determining the reference images included: (1) that patches should be located in the upper temporal lobe, the lateral parietal lobe, or the border area of the frontal, temporal, and parietal lobes; (2) the patches should avoid old lesions; (3) that patches should be located in the infarct area if there is an obvious infarct area; and, (4) the regions with CSF should be avoided to eliminate its effect on NWU. Subsequently, blinded to any clinical information, two other neuroradiologists independently located four pairs of patches from the images of each patient using these reference images and following the criteria mentioned above simultaneously.

Among each pair of patches, the example with hypoattenuation was considered to be ischemic and became density (HU) of $D_{Ischemic}$; the other was the normal patch with the density of D_{Normal} . Image patch-based net water uptake (IP-NWU) was calculated with the formula:

$$IP - NWU = 1 - \frac{D_{Ischemic}}{D_{Normal}}.$$
 (1)

Net Water Uptake Calculated by Segmented Regions

We determined another way of calculating NWU by manually segmenting the ischemic regions. The result was named the segmented region-based NWU (SR-NWU). As shown in **Figure 2**, first, both the admission CT images (<24 h; Image-A) and the follow-up CT images (>24 h; Image-F) were aligned and normalized to MNI-152 space by linear affine transformation with 12 degrees of freedom. Second, four slices were selected from Image-F using standard reference images and the ischemic regions were manually segmented. Finally, these regions were overlaid onto Image-A to calculate $D_{Ischemic}$ from the CT intensity in Image-A, and D_{Normal} was determined from the mirrored region.

Histogram Based Imaging Features

To fully utilize the information contained in the selected patches, we also calculated the voxel-wised IP-NWU maps ($\frac{D_{Ischemic}}{D_{Normal}}$, four 30 × 30 matrices with elements ranging from 0 to 1.0). Based on the four maps, the discrete histogram function can be depicted as

$$h\left(r_{n}\right) = Y_{n} \tag{2}$$

where r_n is IP-NWU of the *n*-th grade, Y_n is the number of voxels with IP-NWU of r_n , n = 1, 2, ..., N. Here N was set at 8.

For univariate data Y_1 , Y_2 , ..., Y_N , five parameters could be calculated: (1) standard deviation (*s*); (2) slope; (3) entropy; (4) skewness (*g*); and (5) kurtosis. The slope was defined as the gradient between the minimum and maximum points among the vector of Y_1 , Y_2 , ..., Y_N . Entropy was defined as

$$H = \sum_{n=1}^{N} p_n \log p_n \tag{3}$$

where p_n is the ratio of the number of voxels with IP-NWU of r_n to the total number of voxels. *H* indicates the average amount of information in the image. The skewness was defined as

$$g = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(Y_i - \overline{Y}\right)^3 / N}{s^3}$$
(4)

where *s* is the standard deviation and \overline{Y} is the mean. The skewness was near zero for the symmetric data, negative for the data skewed left, and positive for the data skewed right. The kurtosis is given as

$$k = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(Y_i - \overline{Y} \right)^4 / N}{s^4} - 3$$
 (5)

Hence, k is zero for the standard normal distribution; it is positive for a "heavy-tailed" distribution and negative for a "light-tailed" distribution.

In total, 13 image features including Y_1 , Y_2 , ..., Y_8 , and the five parameters defined above were employed to construct the radiomics models for predicting MCE. The calculation of 13 radiomics features was done using the Python code written by our group.

Machine Learning Algorithms

Three machine learning algorithms including support vector machine (SVM), logistic regression (LR), and random forest (RF) were employed as the classifier to predict MCE using IP-NWU,



13 image features, and three clinical features (age, gender, and NIHSS score).

For a training dataset $D = \{(x_1, y_1), (x_2, y_2), \dots, (x_m, y_m)\}, y_i \in \{-1, +1\}$, the SVM algorithm draws each entity (x_i, y_i) in the dataset as a point in n-dimensional space (*n* is the number of features) and each feature is treated as a specific coordinate. The classification is carried out by finding a hyperplane (ω, b) that maximizes the margin between two categories (23–25). The learned parameters ω and b can be determined by solving the following equations.

$$\min_{\omega,b} \frac{1}{2} \|\omega\|^2 \tag{6}$$

s.t.
$$y_i\left(\omega^T x_i\right) \ge 1, \ i = 1, \ 2, \ \dots, \ m.$$
 (7)

LR is a kind of classic supervised learning method and it models the log odds (or logit) by linearly combining the independent variables (26).

$$\ln\left(\frac{y}{\left(1-y\right)}\right) = \omega^{T}x + b \tag{8}$$

For a dataset $\{(x_i, y_i)\}_{i=1}^m$, $y_i \in \{0, 1\}$, LR estimates ω and b by maximizing the log-likelihood

$$l(\omega, b) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \ln p(y_i | x_i; \omega, b;)$$
(9)

where

$$p(y=1|x) = \frac{e^{w^T x + b}}{1 + e^{w^T x + b}}$$
(10)

$$p(y = 0|x) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{w^T x + b}}$$
(11)

RF is a parallel-style ensemble learning method that uses a decision tree as the base learner and bagging as the ensemble strategy (27, 28). Each bootstrap sample generated through bagging with m observations was used to train one decision tree and a final consensus estimate was obtained by combining all individual bootstrap estimates. A subset p of n features was selected randomly for the partition of each node of the tree, which effectively reduced the similarity of trees generated from different bootstrap samples (29). One can refer to the specific literature on machine learning for more details about SVM, LR, and RF (30).

All three machine learning algorithms were implemented with Scikit-learn (an open source machine learning library) with default settings. Regarding the RF classifier, there was hyperparameter tuning and cross validation. Specifically, the optimal values of two hyperparameters of random_state and n_estimators were determined with a grid search: for random_state, a range of 2–16 with a step of 2 was used, and for n_estimators, a range of 100–1,000 with a step of 100 was used. The final optimal parameters were random_state = 10 and n_estimators = 100.

Statistics and Performance Evaluation of Predictive Models

The inter-reader agreement for IP-NWU was evaluated with the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC). If the ICC is larger than 0.75, then the reliability of the method for calculating NWU is good. The Bland-Altman statistical method was applied to assess the agreement between two methods of calculating NWU. For IP-NWU, the inter-reader and interoperation agreement were also assessed with the Bland-Altman method. A *p*-value of <0.05 was considered to indicate a significant difference.

The performances of various predictive models were evaluated with leave-one-out cross validation (LOOCV). It was implemented with Scikit-learn. In LOOCV, for a dataset with **m** samples, only one sample was left for the test and the others were used for training a model. This process was conducted for **m** times. LOOCV has been shown to almost estimate the generalizability of machine learning models impartially (31).

The receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC), the area under the ROC curve (AUC), the confusion matrix, accuracy (ACC), sensitivity (SEN), specificity (SPC), F1-score, positive predictive value (PPV), and negative predictive value (PPV) were calculated and compared. DeLong's method was used to evaluate whether there was a significant difference between two AUCs of ROC curves (32). Matthews correlation coefficient (MCC) was also used to evaluate and compare the performance of binary classifiers since it considers all fields of the confusion matrix (33).

RESULTS

Clinical Characteristics

Among all 116 patients, 39 patients (13 female, 33.3%) were observed with MCE and 77 patients (32 female, 41.6%) were without MCE. There was no significant difference in NIHSS scores between groups with MCE and without MCE [median, 12; interquartile range (IQR), 7 vs. median, 15; IQR, 4.5; p = 0.2288]. The time from stroke onset to the first CT scan was longer in patients with MCE (mean 8.28 h vs. mean 5.32 h; p < 0.05). However, the time from stroke onset to the second CT scan was equivalent for the two groups (mean 35.42 h vs. mean 36.90 h; p > 0.05). The rate of IT was only 15.52% (18 of 116, 4 in the MCE group, 14 in the non-MCE group). Among the 18 patients treated with IT, 11 had achieved complete perfusion and 7 had achieved partial perfusion according to the Thrombolysis in Cerebral Infarction perfusion (TICI) scale (34). The four patients in the MCE group achieved complete perfusion after IT treatment. All the above characteristics of patients are listed in Table 1.

IP-NWU and Its Value With Time

IP-NWU in patients who developed MCE was significantly higher than that in those without MCE (p < 0.05; Figure 3A). The average of IP-NWU in these two groups was 18.2 and 8.5%. These values were very close to those given by a previous

study (18.0 and 7.0%) where semiautomatic segmentation of core lesions was done with the aid of CT perfusion images (16).

IP-NWU in both groups increased from the time of onset to imaging (**Figure 3B**). However, the edema rate for the group with MCE was larger than that of the group without MCE.

IP-NWU as a Predictor of MCE and the Influence of IT and Time on Predictions

The optimal cut-off value of IP-NWU for discriminating between the patients with MCE and without MCE was 12.25%. Using this cut-off value, the predictive model could achieve a SEN of 0.64, an SPE of 0.91, and an ACC of 0.82. Univariate ROC curve analysis of IP-NWU resulted in an AUC of 0.86 (**Figure 4A**).

As for ROC curve predictions of MCE by IP-NWU, there was no significant difference between groups including and excluding patients who underwent IT (DeLong test, p > 0.05; MCC, 0.58 vs. 0.55; **Figure 4A**). This result demonstrated that interventional thrombectomy does not influence the prediction of MCE when using IP-NWU. These findings are in accordance with previous observations (16).

The predictive power of IP-NWU/time and IP-NWU/log(time+1) was not higher than that of IP-NWU, according to the ROC curves shown in **Figure 4B** (DeLong test, p > 0.05). MCC was 0.49 and 0.54 for IP-NWU/time and IP-NWU/log(time+1), respectively. Broocks et al. reported a similar result (16).

Image Patches vs. Segmented Regions

As for the value of NWU, there was no significant difference between the methods of image patches and segmented regions (Bland-Altman test, p > 0.05; Figure 5A). Most points of difference (113 of 116) were located within the 95% limits of agreement (1.96 standard deviation).

In terms of the prediction of MCE, as shown in **Figure 5B**, IP-NWU had better performance than SR-NWU (AUC: 0.85 vs. 0.83). However, no significant difference was observed (DeLong test, p > 0.05; MCC, 0.58 vs. 0.55). Using the comparison of confusion matrices, one also can find that IP-NWU had higher SEN (0.64 vs. 0.56), SPE (0.91 vs. 0.90), and ACC (0.82 vs. 0.78) than SR-NWU (**Figures 5C,D**).

Inter-reader and Interoperation Agreement of IP-NWU

As for the method of IP-NWU, there was an exceptional interreader agreement (ICC is 0.92). The Bland-Altman method also indicated that there was no significant difference between Researcher A and Researcher B regarding the measurement of IP-NWU (p > 0.05; **Figure 6A**). Most points were located within the 95% limits of agreement. Meanwhile, as shown in **Figure 6B**, no significant difference was observed between the two measurements by the same reader (p > 0.05), indicating good reproducibility of the image patch method. The ICC of the two measurements was 0.95.

Radiomics Model for Predicting MCE

As shown in **Table 2**, for all three machine learning algorithms, SVM, LR, and RF adding the clinical information of age, gender,

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of patients with a middle cerebral artery ischemic stroke.

Characteristic	Patient with MCE, n = 39	Patients without MCE, <i>n</i> = 77	p	
Demographics			-	
Age, year, mean (SD)	64.23 (±11.39)	65.79 (±12.05)	0.5993ª	
Women, No. [%]	13 [33.3%]	32 [41.6%]	0.3059 ^b	
NIHSS score			0.2288ª	
Median (IQR)	12 (±7)	15 (±4.5)	_	
Mean (SD)	11 (±6.83)	15 (±2.94)	-	
With IT, No. [%]	4 [21.1%]	14 [18.2%]	0.2654 ^b	
Time from stroke onset to the first CT scan (within 24 h), hour, mean (SD)	8.28 (±6.53)	5.32 (±4.11)	0.0038ª	
Time from stroke onset to the second CT scan (beyond 24 h), hour, mean (SD)	35.42 (±8.83)	36.90 (±10.70)	0.4600 ^a	

MCE, Malignant cerebral edema; CT, Computed tomography; IT, Interventional thrombectomy; NIHSS, National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale; SD, Standard deviation; IQR, Interquartile range.

^aTwo-sample t-test; ^bChi-squared test.



FIGURE 3 | Image patch-based net water uptake (IP-NWU) and its relationship with time. (A) IP-NWU comparison between patients with MCE and without MCE; (B) The relationship between IP-NWU and time from stroke onset to imaging.



FIGURE 4 | Prediction of malignant cerebral edema (MCE) by IP-NWU and its confounders. (A) ROC curve of prediction of MCE by IP-NWU for groups including patients who underwent interventional thrombectomy (IT) and excluding patients who underwent IT; (B) ROC curve by IP-NWU/time and by IP-NWU/log(time+1).



and NIHSS scores of the patients onto IP-NWU did not improve prediction of MCE. For SVM and LR, compared with the prediction when only using IP-NWU, neither features of "NWU + Imaging" nor "NWU + Clinical + Imaging" improved the performance of predicting MCE.

However, as for RF, the features of "NWU + Imaging" can significantly increase the ACC to 0.91, SEN to 0.85, SPE to 0.94, AUC to 0.96, F1-score to 0.90, PPV to 0.87, NPV to 0.92, and

MCC to 0.79 (**Table 2, Figure 7**; DeLong test, p < 0.05). When adding the clinical information, no significant improvement was observed (DeLong test, p > 0.05; MCC, 0.80 vs. 0.79). This means that the performance of the radiomics model for predicting MCE depends on both the classifiers and features. In the current study the combination of RF and features of "NWU + Clinical + Imaging" had the best performance. For this model, 73 of 77 patients who did not develop MCE were



accurately predicted and 33 of 39 patients who developed MCE for II were accurately predicted.

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to calculate net water uptake (NWU) using admission non-enhanced CT image patches scanned within 24 h from stroke onset and build predictive models for MCE by combining NWU with other features using a radiomics approach. The main findings had four aspects: (1) NWU can be estimated by using the standard reference images and patches; (2) the results

for IP-NWU showed no significant difference with results when using segmented regions; (3) IP-NWU is a predictor of MCE; and, (4) radiomics models using IP-NWU and other imaging features can predict MCE rather precisely.

Standard Reference Images and Patches: An Exceptional Method for Calculating Net Water Uptake

Net water uptake in the ischemic regions was originally proposed to identify patients with stroke onset within 4.5 h (the time window of thrombolysis) and extended to predict malignant

TABLE 2 | Performance comparison of different radiomics models for predicting MCE.

Classifier	Features	ACC	SEN	SPE	AUC	F1-score	PPV	NPV
SVM	NWU + Clinical	0.80	0.62	0.88	0.85	0.72	0.72	0.82
	NWU + Imaging	0.84	0.64	0.94	0.84	0.85	0.83	0.84
	NWU + Clinical + Imaging	0.83	0.62	0.94	0.84	0.80	0.83	0.83
LR	NWU + Clinical	0.80	0.59	0.91	0.85	0.72	0.77	0.81
	NWU + Imaging	0.80	0.59	0.91	0.83	0.72	0.77	0.81
	NWU + Clinical + Imaging	0.81	0.62	0.91	0.81	0.73	0.78	0.82
RF	NWU + Clinical	0.77	0.62	0.84	0.83	0.74	0.67	0.81
	NWU + Imaging	0.91	0.85	0.94	0.96	0.90	0.87	0.92
	NWU + Clinical + Imaging	0.91	0.85	0.95	0.96	0.91	0.89	0.92



infarction in 2018 (15, 16). It relies on the high sensitivity of CT perfusion to precisely locate the infarct core and the high specificity of non-enhanced CT to measure density. However, for many stroke centers and patients, the CTP and its postprocessing for quantitative perfusion maps, including cerebral blood volume, cerebral blood flow (CBF), mean transit time (MTT), and time to drain (TTD), are not accessible. The early hypoattenuation of the ischemic core in nonenhanced CT images is uncertain or difficult to detect. However, the anatomic location of the MCA (the potential target of infarction) is known. Therefore, we proposed a way of calculating NWU using the standard reference images and patches. Our results showed that this method enables presenting a significant difference in NWU between patients with MCE and without MCE. Further study of the inter-reader agreement in NWU calculation demonstrated that the method had good reproducibility. In summary, using the standard reference images and patches is an exceptional way of calculating net water uptake. It is easy to implement, reliable, and does not require the aid of CTP, CT angiography, or manual segmentation.

Recently, NWU has been used to quantify the treatment effects for ischemic stroke; e.g., thrombectomy and adjuvant drugs, especially for the cases with uncertain indications for treatment, such as low ASPECTS (35). Therefore, IP-NWU may be extended to similar applications.

Reference Images and Patches vs. Segmented Ischemic Regions

Locating the infarct core by overlaying segmented ischemic regions from follow-up CT images (>24 h after stroke onset) is an alternative method compared to the standard method of using a CBV map from CTP. No significant difference was observed between IP-NWU and SR-NWU, which supports the evidence that IP-NWU is accurate.

However, it is still not clear to what extent the follow-up CT images can work as surrogates of CTP. The ischemic core, penumbra, and benign oligemia cannot be differentiated from the follow-up CT images (36). The registration error between Image-A and Image-F may have a further detrimental effect on NWU calculations.

Predictor of MCE and Other Confounders

IP-NWU can be a predictor of MCE for middle cerebral artery stroke patients with an AUC of 0.85. Moreover, the prediction was not influenced by interventional thrombectomy, which is in agreement with a previous study (16). The decision to take IT is based on an early infarct and hypoattenuation. Specifically, patients with a large volume of early infarct and visually evident areas of hypoattenuation are potentially excluded from IT. However, the recanalization status and its influence on IP-NWU and MCE are unknown and need further investigation (37, 38). Complete recanalization does not directly indicate a good clinical outcome (39). It has been noted that the prediction of MCE is different from that of cerebral edema (40, 41). Moreover, the rate of IT in our current study (15.52%, 18 of 116) might be lower than that in developed countries due to the high economic cost and late presentations at the hospital.

The relationship between IP-NWU and time in patients with MCE and without MCE is also in accord with that reported in a previous study (16); i.e., NWU increases with time from stroke onset. However, there was no significant difference in the AUC for MCE prediction among NWU, NWU/time, and NWU/log(time+1).

Radiomics Leverages Machine Learning and Features to Predict MCE Precisely

Our radiomics model using RF and features of "NWU+Clinical+Imaging" had a comparable performance with the model reported by Broocks et al. (AUC: 0.96 vs. 0.93) (16). This indicated that using more imaging features

might be superior to only using NWU. Moreover, the possible reason may rely on two aspects: (1) CTP was not used to locate the ischemic core; and (2) our data consisted of 33.6% (39 of 116) of patients with MCE, which was higher than that in a study by Broocks et al. (18.2%) (16). Our model also showed a higher AUC than that of EDEMA scores (AUC = 0.72) (10) and that of modified EDEMA scores by adding NIHSS scores for 478 Chinese patients (AUC = 0.80) (11).

Radiomics leverages machine learning and quantitative imaging features to improve the prediction of clinical outcomes (18). For the prediction of MCE in our current study, radiomics worked well. By adding 13 imaging features from histogram analysis of voxel-wised IP-NWU maps, the AUC of the classifier by RF can increase from 0.86 to 0.96. This improvement may be due to the fact that: (1) multivariate analysis by machine learning has more predictive power than the univariate ROC analysis; and, (2) IP-NWU is only the mean of IP-NWU maps, and more measures from these maps represent the characteristics of the core lesions better. The lesion volume, texture features, penumbra pattern, and other high-level abstract features may be helpful and should be included in radiomics models of MCE predictions in the near future.

All 13 imaging features extracted from histogram analysis were used without selection in our current study. Unlike the application of the PyRadiomics Python package in tumor imaging, more than 1,000 features are extracted (https:// pyradiomics.readthedocs.io/). Hence feature selection must be done to reduce overfitting. During feature selection, the importance of features can be obtained (42). Since we only used 13 imaging features, feature selection, and importance analysis were not undertaken in this study. The reason why the PyRadiomics Python package was not used to extract more than 1,000 features is that the voxel-wised IP-NWU map has a small size of 30×30 voxels. This map does not contain rich information such as the locations of tumor lesions.

For the predictive radiomics model, there is a danger of overfitting if the number of features is very large. In our study, the largest number of features was 19 (IP-NWU, 13 imaging features, and 3 clinical features) and 116 samples or patients were included. According to a rule of thumb in radiomics, each feature requires 10 samples (18). Therefore, the overfitting in our study should be minimal.

In the present study, RF performed better for MCE prediction than SVM and LR. For example, the model using RF and "NWU + Clinical + Imaging" had an AUC of 0.96, while the model using LR and SVM had an AUC of 0.81 and 0.84, respectively. RF usually performs best in situations where the output is highly sensitive to small changes in input (29). This may indicate that the prediction of MCE is highly sensitive to small changes in NWU and imaging features. Moreover, RF is one ensemble or consensus estimator, and thus has the merit of mitigating both underfitting and overfitting (29). Underfitting and overfitting may exist in the current study given the fact that the sample size was small.

Adding the clinical information of age, gender, and NIHSS scores did not significantly improve the prediction of MCE, which agreed with another previous report (16).

Limitations and Future Works

Our study has some limitations that could provide direction to future studies. First, our study was retrospective and limited to one single center. The relevance of the resulting radiomics models is unknown for data from other hospitals. Second, the number of patients (116) was relatively small, which limits the statistical power of the study. Third, the selection of slices and patches was done by experts, making IP-NWU depend on expert conditions, such as preferences, experiences, and mood. To set image patches in the cortex orientated by ASPECTS regions may further improve the presented method. It is noted that the cortex regions with CSF should be avoided to eliminate the effect of CSF on NWU. This criterion may make some early infarcts in the cortex not represented in the image patches. Finally, we used three machine learning algorithms and manually designed histogram-based imaging features.

A prospective and multi-center study with CTP and nonenhanced CT scans should be carried out in the near future, before the proposed IP-NWU and radiomics models are introduced as clinical applications. The automatic and machine learning based detection of early infarctions from non-contrastenhanced CT images should be used to help calculate NWU and predict MCE (43, 44). Other features such as texture and high-level abstract representation can be included. As a state-ofthe-art example of deep learning, a deep convolutional neural network (DCNN) may help predict MCE directly according to the image patches or infarction regions (45–47). Given the fact that a stroke is a dynamic process, using both admission and follow-up CT images to characterize the temporal and spatial development of infarcts and edema volume may further improve the final prediction of clinical outcomes.

CONCLUSION

Net water uptake can be calculated based on mirrored patches that are selected by senior neuroradiologists from admission non-enhanced CT images that were scanned within 24 h after stroke onset using standard reference images. The resulting IP-NWU values showed a significant difference between patients with MCE and without MCE and thus it is an effective predictor of MCE. The inter-reader and interoperation agreement for IP-NWU are exceptional. Through integrating IP-NWU and

REFERENCES

- 1. Hankey GJ. Stroke. *Lancet.* (2017) 389:641–54. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30962-X
- Zerna C, Thomalla G, Campbell BCV, Rha JH, Hill MD. Current practice and future directions in the diagnosis and acute treatment of ischaemic stroke. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:1247–56. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31874-9
- Wartenberg KE. Malignant middle cerebral artery infarction. Curr Opin Crit Care. (2012) 18:152–63. doi: 10.1097/MCC.0b013e32835075c5
- Horsch AD, Dankbaar JW, Stemerdink TA, Bennink E, van Seeters T, Kappelle LJ, et al. Imaging findings associated with space-occupying edema in patients with large middle cerebral artery infarcts. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2016) 37:831–7. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A4637
- Kimberly WT. Predicting malignant cerebral edema after large hemispheric stroke. *Neurocrit Care*. (2020) 32:84–5. doi: 10.1007/s12028-019-00841-1

other imaging features by machine learning, the radiomics models further improved the prediction of MCE. In summary, this study demonstrated the feasibility of predicting MCE using only admission non-enhanced CT images scanned within 24 h after onset, even without the aid of CT perfusion or follow-up CT scans. This will potentially help clinicians make decisions about performing a surgical decompressive craniectomy or employing other intensive monitoring to benefit stroke patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of General Hospital of Northern Theater Command. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SQ, YK, YY, and HC designed and directed the study. BF, SQ, LT, HX, BY, and YD analyzed data. LT, HX, and HC recruited participants and acquired data. BY and YD reviewed the CT images and drew the image patches. BF, SQ, YK, and YY drafted the manuscript together. All authors revised and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was partly supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China under Grant (Nos. 81671773, 61672146 to SQ), the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (N181904003, N172008008, and N2024005-2 to SQ), and the Science and Technology Program of Shenyang (20-205-4-044 to YD).

- Minnerup J, Wersching H, Ringelstein EB, Heindel W, Niederstadt T, Schilling M, et al. Prediction of malignant middle cerebral artery infarction using Computed Tomography-based intracranial volume reserve measurements. *Stroke*. (2011) 42:3403–9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.619734
- Berrouschot J, Sterker M, Bettin S, Koster J, Schneider D. Mortality of space-occupying ('malignant') middle cerebral artery infarction under conservative intensive care. *Intensive Care Med.* (1998) 24:620–3. doi: 10.1007/s001340050625
- Vahedi K. Decompressive hemicraniectomy for malignant hemispheric infarction. *Curr Treat Opt Neurol.* (2009) 11:113–9. doi: 10.1007/s11940-009-0014-8
- Kim H, Jin ST, Kim YW, Kim SR, Park IS, Jo WK. Predictors of malignant brain edema in middle cerebral artery infarction observed on CT angiography. *J Clin Neurosci.* (2015) 22:554–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2014. 08.021

- Ong CJ, Gluckstein J, Laurido-soto O, Yan Y, Lee JM. Enhanced detection of edema in malignant anterior circulation stroke (EDEMA) score: a risk prediction tool. *Stroke.* (2017) 48:1969–72. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.016733
- Cheng Y, Wu S, Wang Y, Song Q, Liu M. External validation and modification of the EDEMA score for predicting malignant brain edema after acute ischemic stroke. *Neurocrit Care.* (2020) 32:104–12. doi: 10.1007/s12028-019-00844-y
- Wu S, Yuan R, Wang Y, Wei C, Zhang S, Yang X, et al. Early prediction of malignant brain edema after ischemic stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Stroke.* (2018) 49:2918–27. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.0 22001
- Miao J, Song X, Sun W, Qiu X, Zhou Z. Predictors of malignant cerebral edema in cerebral artery infarction: a meta-analysis. J Neurolog Sci. (2020) 409:116607. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2019.116607
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Ernst M, Faizy TD, Minnerup J, Siemonsen S, et al. Computed tomography-based imaging of voxel-wise lesion water uptake in ischemic brain: relationship between density and direct volumetry. *Investig Radiol.* (2017) 53:207–13. doi: 10.1097/RLI.000000000000430
- Minnerup J, Broocks G, Kalkoffen J, Langner S, Knauth M, Psychogios MN, et al. Computed Tomography–based quantification of lesion water uptake identifies patients within 4.5 hours of stroke onset: a multicenter observational study. ANNALS Neurol. (2016) 80:924–34. doi: 10.1002/ana.24818
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Scheibel A, Aigner A, Faizy T, Hanning U, et al. Quantitative lesion water uptake in acute stroke: Computed Tomography is a predictor of malignant infarction. *Stroke*. (2018) 49:1906–12. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.020507
- Lambin P, Rios-Velazquez E, Leijenaar R, Carvalho S, Stiphout RGPM, Granton P, et al. Radiomics: extracting more information from medical images using advanced feature analysis. *Eur J Cancer.* (2012) 48:441–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.11.036
- Gillies RJ, Kinahan PE, Hricak H. Radiomics: images are more than pictures, they are data. *Radiology*. (2016) 278:563–77. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2015151169
- Avanzo M, Stancanello J. Beyond imaging: the promise of radiomics. *Phys* Med. (2017) 38:122. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmp.2017.05.071
- Lee G, Lee HY, Park H, Schiebler ML, van Beek EJR, Ohno Y, et al. Radiomics and its emerging role in lung cancer research, imaging biomarkers and clinical management: state of the art. *Euro J Radiol.* (2016) 86:297. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2016.09.005
- Ma C, Zhang Y, Niyazib T, Wei J, Guocai G, Liu J, et al. Radiomics for predicting hematoma expansion in patients with hypertensive intraparenchymal hematomas. *Euro J Radiol.* (2019) 115:10–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2019.04.001
- 22. Qiu W, Kuang H, Nair J, Assis Z, Najm XM, McDougall XC, et al. Radiomicsbased intracranial thrombus features on CT and CTA predict recanalization with intravenous alteplase in patients with acute ischemic stroke. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2018) 40:39–44. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A5918
- Cortes C, Vapnik VN. Support vector networks. *Mach Learn.* (1995) 20:273– 97. doi: 10.1007/BF00994018
- 24. Chang CC, Lin CJ. LIBSVM: a library for support vector machines. ACM Trans Intell Syst Technol. (2011) 2:27. doi: 10.1145/1961189.1961199
- Bzdok D, Krzywinski M, Altman N. Machine learning: supervised methods. Nat Methods. (2018) 15:6–7. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.4551
- Lever J, Krzywinski M, Altman N. Logistic regression. Nat Methods. (2016) 13:541–2. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3904
- Breiman L. Bagging predictors. Mach Learn. (1996) 24:123–40. doi: 10.1007/BF00058655
- Breiman L. Random forests. Mach Learn. (2001) 45:5–32. doi: 10.1023/A:1010933404324
- Altman N, Krzywinski M. Ensemble methods: bagging and random forests. Nat Methods. (2017) 14:933–4. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.4438
- Kotsiantis SB, Zaharakis ID, Pintelas PE. Machine learning: a review of classification and combining techniques. *ArtifIntell Rev.* (2006) 26:159–90. doi: 10.1007/s10462-007-9052-3
- Cawley GC, Talbot NLC. Fast exact leave-one-out crossvalidation of sparse least-squares support vector machines.

Neural Netw. (2004) 17:1467–75. doi: 10.1016/j.neunet.2004. 07.002

- Sun X, Xu W. Fast implementation of DeLong's algorithm for comparing the areas under correlated receiver operating characteristic curves. *IEEE Signal Process Lett.* (2014) 21:1389–93. doi: 10.1109/LSP.2014.2337313
- Matthews B. Comparison of the predicted and observed secondary structure of T4 phage lysozyme. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (1975) 405:442–51. doi: 10.1016/0005-2795(75)90109-9
- Fugate JE, Klunder AM, Kallmes DF. What is meant by "TICI?" Am J Neuroradiol. (2013) 34:1792–7. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A3496
- Broocks G, Hanning U, Flottmann F, Schönfeld M, Djamsched FT, Sporns P, et al. Clinical benefit of thrombectomy in stroke patients with low ASPECTS is mediated by oedema reduction. *Brain.* (2019) 142:1399–407. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz057
- Feng R, Badgeley M, Mocco J, Oermann EK. Deep learning guided stroke management: a review of clinical applications. J Neuro Intervent Surg. (2017) 10:358–62. doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2017-013355
- Christian D, Galldiks N, Bosche B, Kracht L, Graf R. The severity of ischemia determines and predicts malignant brain edema in patients with large middle cerebral artery infarction. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* (2012) 33:1–7. doi: 10.1159/000330648
- Nawabi J, Flottmann F, Kemmling A, Kniep H, Leischner H, Sporns P, et al. Elevated early lesion water uptake in acute stroke predicts poor outcome despite successful recanalization – when "tissue clock" and "time clock" are desynchronized. *Internat J Stroke.* (2019). doi: 10.1177/1747493019884522. [Epub ahead of print].
- García-Tornel Á, Requena M, Rubiera M, Muchada M, Pagola J, Rodriguez-Luna D, et al. When to stop: detrimental effect of device passes in acute ischemic stroke secondary to large vessel occlusion. *Stroke*. (2019) 50:1781–8. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.025088
- Muscari A, Faccioli L, Lega MV, Lorusso A, Trossello MP, Puddu GM, et al. Predicting cerebral edema in ischemic stroke patients. *Neurolog Sci.* (2019) 40:745–52. doi: 10.1007/s10072-019-3717-y
- Thoren M, Azevedo E, Dawson J. Predictors for cerebral edema in acute ischemic stroke treated with intravenous thrombolysis. *Stroke*. (2017) 48:2464–71. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.018223
- Parmar C, Grossmann P, Bussink J, Lambin P, Aerts HJWL. Machine learning methods for quantitative radiomic biomarkers. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 5:13087. doi: 10.1038/srep13087
- Qiu W, Kuang H, Teleg E, Ospel J, Sohn S, Almekhlafi MA, et al. Machine learning for detecting early infarction in acute stroke with non-contrastenhanced CT. *Radiol.* (2020) 294:638–44. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2020191193
- Kambiz N. Detection of acute infarction on non-contrast-enhanced CT: Closing the gap with MRI via machine learning. *Radiol.* (2020) 294:645–6. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2020192703
- Puig J, Shankar J, Liebeskind D, Terceo M, Essig M. From "time is brain" to "imaging is brain": a paradigm shift in the management of acute ischemic stroke. J Neuroimag. (2020) 30:562–71. doi: 10.1111/jon.12693
- Lee EJ, Kim YH, Kim N, Kang DW. Deep into the brain: artificial intelligence in stroke imaging. J Stroke. (2017) 19:277–85. doi: 10.5853/jos.2017. 02054
- Lundervold AS, Lundervold A. An overview of deep learning in medical imaging focusing on MRI. Z Med Phys. (2019) 29:102–27. doi: 10.1016/j.zemedi.2018.11.002

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Fu, Qi, Tao, Xu, Kang, Yao, Yang, Duan and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Net Water Uptake Calculated in Standardized and Blindly Outlined Regions of the Middle Cerebral Artery Territory Predicts the Development of Malignant Edema in Patients With Acute Large Hemispheric Infarction

Hai-Bin Xu¹, Yu-Fei Sun¹, Na Luo¹, Jia-Qi Wang¹, Guo-Can Chang¹, Lin Tao¹, Ben-Qiang Yang² and Hui-Sheng Chen^{1*}

General Hospital of Northern Theater Command, ShenYang, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriel Broocks, Universität Hamburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Tobias Djamsched Faizy, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany Noel Van Horn, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany

> *Correspondence: Hui-Sheng Chen chszh@aliyun.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 23 December 2020 Accepted: 16 February 2021 Published: 12 March 2021

Citation:

Xu H-B, Sun Y-F, Luo N, Wang J-Q, Chang G-C, Tao L, Yang B-Q and Chen H-S (2021) Net Water Uptake Calculated in Standardized and Blindly Outlined Regions of the Middle Cerebral Artery Territory Predicts the Development of Malignant Edema in Patients With Acute Large Hemispheric Infarction. Front. Neurol. 12:645590. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.645590 **Background and purpose:** Previous studies have demonstrated that Net Water Uptake (NWU) is associated with the development of malignant edema (ME). The current study aimed to investigate whether NWU calculated in standardized and blindly outlined regions of the middle cerebral artery can predict the development of ME.

¹ Department of Neurology, General Hospital of Northern Theater Command, ShenYang, China, ² Department of Radiology,

Methods: We retrospectively included 119 patients suffering from large hemispheric infarction within onset of 24 h. The region of the middle cerebral artery territory was blindly outlined in a standard manner to calculate NWU. Patients were divided into two groups according to the occurrence of ME, which is defined as space-occupying infarct requiring decompressive craniotomy or death due to cerebral hernia in 7 days from onset. The clinical characteristics were analyzed, and the receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC curve) was used to assess the predictive ability of NWU and other factors for ME.

Results: Multivariable analysis showed that NWU was an independent predictor of ME (OR 1.168, 95% CI 1.041–1.310). According to the ROC curve, NWU \geq 8.127% identified ME with good predictive power (AUC 0.734, sensitivity 0.656, specificity 0.862).

Conclusions: NWU calculated in standardized and blindly outlined regions of the middle cerebral artery territory is also a good predictor for the development of ME in patients with large hemispheric infarction.

Keywords: net water uptake, large hemispheric infarction, malignant edema, area under curve, prediction power

INTRODUCTION

Stroke has become a leading cause of mortality and disability worldwide, and it brings huge economic costs and family burdens (1). Acute ischemic stroke accounts for about 80% of all types of stroke (2). Large hemispheric infarction (LHI) is defined as affecting the majority of or complete middle cerebral artery (MCA)

NWU in MCA Predicts ME

territory with or without anterior cerebral artery and posterior cerebral artery involvement (3). It is a disastrous subtype of acute ischemic stroke, which may lead to life-threatening swelling (4). Furthermore, LHI patients with malignant edema (ME) develop a mortality rate of nearly 40 \sim 80% under standard treatment, while mortality of those without ME is nearly 5 \sim 25% (3, 5, 6). It has been demonstrated by previous studies that timely decompressive craniotomy may reduce the mortality of LHI patients with ME (7, 8). Thus, early identification of LHI patients at risk for ME should be anticipated (3, 9).

There have been several studies exploring valid predictors of ME in LHI patients, such as the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS), presence of hyperdense artery sign, a higher level of blood glucose, decreased level of consciousness, early infarct signs, intracranial cerebrospinal fluid volume, fluid balance variations, collateral circulation (10-17).

Interestingly, in 2018, Broocks' team found that Net Water Uptake (NWU) on baseline Computed Tomography (CT) was an important predictor of ME in LHI patients (9). Since then, accumulating evidence demonstrates that NWU can be used as an important qualified biomarker of edema in ischemic stroke. For example, NWU was used to estimate final infarction volumes (18), which serves as an indicator of "tissue clock" instead of the real "time clock" (19), and predicted the effect of recanalization (20) and early bleeding risk after endovascular treatment, especially with low ASPECTS (21). However, the measurement of NWU in previous studies mainly depends on CT perfusion (CTP) (9, 18–21). However, not all stroke centers have access to CTP in clinical practice. In this study, we aimed to investigate, whether NWU calculated in standardized and blindly outlined regions of the MCA territory is a reliable predictor of ME in patients with LHI.

METHODS

Population

The medical records and images of consecutive patients with LHI at Northern Theater General Hospital between October 9, 2017, and July 13, 2020, were reviewed retrospectively. This retrospective study was approved by an institutional review board and informed consent was waived. Patients were screened based on the following inclusion criteria: (1) acute ischemic stroke involving the anterior circulation with non-enhanced CT (NECT) with or without computed tomography angiography (CTA) at admission within 24 h from symptom onset; (2) follow-up NECT or diffusion weighted imaging (DWI) available within 24-48 h from symptom onset; and (3) MCA infarction occupying >1/2 MCA territory confirmed by follow-up CT or DWI; (4) NIHSS >3 at admission. Patients were excluded based on the following exclusion criteria: (1) presence of intracranial or subarachnoid hemorrhage at admission; (2) presence of symptomatic intracranial hemorrhage (SICH) (22) in followup CT; (3) preexisting stroke with mRS ≥ 2 ; (4) images not qualified enough for measurement due to artifacts; and (5) patients undergoing mechanical thrombectomy (considering the effect on the development of ME). The enrolled patients were separated into the ME group and the non-ME group depending on the presence or absence of ME. According to a previous study (9), ME was defined as a space-occupying infarct requiring decompressive craniotomy or death resulting from cerebral hernia in 7 days from symptom onset.

The following characteristics of patients were recorded at baseline: gender, age, NIHSS, intravenous thrombolysis or not, previous medical history such as atrial fibrillation, hypertension, diabetes, and ischemic stroke, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, blood glucose, the time from onset to the first image.

Image Acquisition and Analysis

CT scanner (General Electric, Boston, United States of America) was used in this study. The tube settings for NECT were 120 kV and 300 mA per rotation. Slices were reconstructed with a thickness of 5 mm.

All NECT images were outlined and calculated by one experienced neuroradiologist (BQ Yang) and neurologist (HS Chen), separately. The territory of MCA at basal ganglia level was blindly outlined in a standard manner at the infarct side according to clinical evidence. As shown in Figure 1, the extension line of the anterior horn of the lateral ventricle was set as the anterior boundary, and the extension line of the posterior horn of the lateral ventricle as the posterior one, while the outer edge of the brain cortex was set as the outer boundary, and inter edge of the caput nuclei caudate and posterior limb of the internal capsule as the inter boundary. Then, the mean density of the outlined MCA territory was measured and recorded as D_{ischemic}, while the mean density of a mirrored region at the contralateral side was measured and recorded as D_{normal} using commercially available software (Analyze 14.0, Biomedical Imaging Resource, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN). Both density measurements were sampled between 20 and 80 Hounsfield units to avoid intracranial calcifications and cerebral fluid and were eventually used to calculate NWU according to the method reported in a previous study (9).

$$NWU(\%) = (1 - D_{\text{ischemic}}/D_{\text{normal}})^* 100$$

Statistical Analysis

Scatterplot was carried out using the open source statistical software RStudio Version 1.3.1093 (Rstudio PBC, Boston, MA), and visualization with the R package ggplot2 (23). Other statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 22.0 for Windows (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY). Quantitative variables were described as mean \pm standard deviation (SD), or median and interquartile range (if not normally distributed) while counting data were presented as n (%). To compare the data between the two groups, we used a *t*-test or Mann–Whitney *U*-test (not normally distributed) for quantitative data, and a Chi-square test for counting data. Multivariable logistic regression analysis was used to identify the independent factors associated with ME. The odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) were also calculated. A P-value of <0.05 in two tails was considered to be significant. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves and area under curve (AUC) were calculated, respectively, to assess the ability of the factors in identifying patients with ME.



FIGURE 1 | Measurement of NWU on admission nonenhanced computed tomography (NECT). According to the clinical manifestations, the infarct lesion occurred in the right middle cerebral artery territory, which was blindly outlined. The mean density of the territory (Dischemic) and a mirrored contralateral region of interest (Dnormal) was then measured to calculate NWU.



The whole cohort was separated into six groups according to time windows (the time from onset to first image), that is 0-3 h, 3-6 h, 6-9 h, 9-12 h, 12-15 h, 15-24 h. ROC curves were used to assess the predictive ability of NWU in each time window in identifying ME. In addition, a scatterplot was used to show the possible relationship between NWU and the time from onset to

first image. Two models reported in a previous study (9) were used to investigate if NWU is more likely to be linear-related with the time from onset to first image in 24 h. One model is NWU= b^* time, stating that NWU is linear-related with the time from onset to first image. The other is NWU= b^* log (time+1), representing a non-linear relation. Thus, NWU/time

TABLE 1 Comparison of baseline characteristics between non-ME and
ME groups.

Characteristics	Non-ME group ($n = 87$)	ME group (<i>n</i> = 32)	P-value
Female (%)	31 (35.63)	14 (43.75)	0.418
Age, mean (SD)	66.69 (±11.82)	68.56 (±10.54)	0.432
NIHSS at admission, median (IQR)	14 (11–18)	18 (13–20)	0.003
IVT (%)	35 (40.23)	9 (28.13)	0.225
Atrial fibrillation (%)	39 (44.83)	16 (50)	0.616
Hypertension (%)	48 (55.17)	21 (65.63)	0.306
Diabetes (%)	18 (20.69)	7 (21.88)	0.888
Pre-ischemic stroke (%)	15 (17.24)	3 (9.38)	0.288
SBP, median (IQR)	162 (145–177)	161 (148–185)	0.484
DBP, median (IQR)	90 (80–97)	90 (82–109)	0.332
Blood glucose, median (IQR)	7.72 (6.25–9.77)	7.56 (6.11–9.23)	0.958
OFT, median (IQR)	4.28 (2.23-8.02)	7.01 (2.65–13.55)	0.039
NWU, median (IQR)	4.65 (1.51–7.41)	9.74 (3.24–12.52)	<.0.01

SD, standard deviation; NIHSS, National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale; IQR, interquartile range; IVT, intravenous thrombolysis; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; OFT, time from onset to first image; NWU, Net Water Uptake.

and NWU/log (time+1) were also tested together with absolute NWU as predictors of ME (9).

RESULTS

We continuously screened 322 patients from our stroke registry database. We excluded 203 patients due to different reasons including incomplete clinical data, infarction occupying <1/2 MCA territory, mechanical thrombectomy, symptomatic intracranial hemorrhage in follow-up CT (**Figure 2**). Finally, 119 patients were recruited for the analysis including the non-ME group (n = 87) and ME group (n = 32). As shown in **Table 1**, NIHSS at admission, the time from onset to first image, NWU in ME group were higher than those in the non-ME group (P < 0.05), while there is no significant difference in other characteristics between two groups.

The multivariable logistic regression analysis showed that NWU (OR: 1.168, 95% CI: 1.041–1.310) and NIHSS (OR: 1.121, 95% CI: 1.006–1.250) were significantly associated with ME, but not the time from onset to first image and tPA thrombolysis (**Table 2**).

ROC curves and AUC were also calculated to assess the prediction power of the factors mentioned above in identifying patients with ME. As shown in **Figure 3**; **Table 3**, NWU showed better performance at predicting the occurrence of ME with a higher AUC (0.734) than that of NIHSS at admission. The cutoff value, sensitivity, and specificity were exhibited in **Table 3**.

To investigate the possible association of the time from onset to first image with the prediction ability of NWU, the patients were further divided into six groups according to time windows. **TABLE 2** | Multivariable logistic regression analysis of NWU, NIHSS at admission, the time from onset to first image, and IVT.

Factors	В	S.E.	OR	95% CI	P-value
NWU	0.155	0.059	1.168	1.041-1.310	0.008
NIHSS at admission	0.115	0.055	1.121	1.006-1.250	0.038
OFT	0.005	0.049	1.005	0.913-1.105	0.925
IVT	-0.362	0.501	0.696	0.260-1.860	0.470

NIHSS, National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale; NWU, Net Water Uptake; OFT, time from onset to first image; IVT, intravenous thrombolysis; OR, odds ratio; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval.



TABLE 3 | Predictive values of AUC.

Factors	AUC	Cutoff	Sensitivity	Specificity
NWU	0.734	8.127	0.656	0.862
NIHSS at admission	0.677	17	0.656	0.632

NIHSS, National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale; NWU, Net Water Uptake; AUC, area under curve.

As shown in **Table 4**, NWU in the time window of 3–6 h showed a poor predictive value (AUC: 0.500).

Similar to the results of AUC, when the time from onset to first image was settled at the period from 3 to 6 h, the fitting line of the ME group and the non-ME group was too close to discriminate (**Figure 4**), suggesting that there may exist the time window of NWU predicting the occurrence of ME.

Absolute NWU, NWU/time, and NWU/log (time+1) were also assessed through ROC curves and used to identify patients at risk of ME. As shown in **Figure 5**, NWU and NWU/log (time+1) exhibited better predictive power than NWU/time (NWU: 0.734, NWU/log (time+1): 0.676, NWU/time was 0.575).

DISCUSSION

Recent studies have shown that NWU is an important surrogate marker for the development of ME (9, 18, 19), but NWU

TABLE 4 AUC of NWU in different time windows.			
Time window	AUC	N	
0–3 h	0.649	39	
3–6 h	0.500	33	
6–9 h	0.788	17	
9–12 h	0.958	10	
12–15 h	0.778	10	
15–24 h	1.000	10	

Time, time from onset to first image; AUC, area under curve.

calculation depended on CTP, which was used to detect the infarction area. The current study is the first attempt to calculate NWU based on the standardized and blindly outlined regions of MCA. The results showed that NWU calculated with this method also exhibited a good predictive value (AUC: 0.734) in identifying ME, although the predictive power was not as strong as that in a previous study (AUC: 0.93) (9).

The current method is not as accurate as the previous method (9) in defining the region of interest (ROI), because the ROI outlined in this standard manner did not represent the actual infarct lesion. For infarct lesions less than the whole MCA territory, the $D_{ischemic}$ value measured in this standard manner should be higher than that from the actual infarct lesion. This may explain a lower NWU and cutoff value than those in the previous study (9). Although the predictive power in this study is not as strong as that in a previous study (9), the current study still provided a feasible method to identify the risk of ME at an early phase of stroke, especially in the primary stroke centers without CTP technique.

It is interesting to note that the current study suggested that there may exist a "time window" for using NWU to predict





the development of ME, which has never been reported before. As shown by the AUC of NWU in different time windows (**Table 4**) and the scatterplot of NWU vs. the time from onset to first image (**Figure 4**), when time from onset to first image was within the period from 3 to 6 h, NWU did not perform well in discriminating ME. This phenomenon is very interesting and deserves to be determined in a future prospective study with a larger sample.

Considering the possible effect of the time from onset to first image on NWU, we further compared the prediction power of absolute NWU, NWU/time, and NWU/log (time+1) in the present study. The results showed that NWU and NWU/log (time+1) exhibited greater predictive power than NWU/time. This suggests that the dynamic change of NWU is not in a simple linear relationship with time within 24 h from symptom onset, which is consistent with the view of Pongpat Vorasayan's study (24). However, Broocks' team reported no significant difference among absolute NWU, NWU/time, NWU/log (time+1) in classifying ME within 6 h from symptom onset (9). The discrepancy may be due to the difference in the time from onset to first image (within 6 vs. 24 h) and in the NWU calculation methods (definite infarct lesion vs. blindly outlined MCA territory).

As we know, treatment options such as endovascular treatment and tPA thrombolysis may affect the development of edema (25, 26). To avoid the bias effect of endovascular treatment, patients with mechanical thrombectomy were excluded from this study. Given that the patients with tPA were enrolled in the present study, we further performed multivariable logistic regression analysis by adjusting tPA thrombolysis as a variable to exclude the potential effect of tPA. The results found that tPA thrombolysis did not affect the outcome in the current study.

There are limitations in this study. First, this is a singlecenter, retrospective study with a small sample size, which makes selection bias hard to avoid. The current method needs to be tested by a multi-center, prospective study with a larger sample size. Second, some data of paramount importance were missed, such as collateral status, infarct volume, dehydration indicators, and long-term follow-up of patients. Third, unbalanced baseline characteristics between two groups may impact the development of ME. To minimize the impact of unbalanced baseline characteristics, multivariable analysis was performed. Fourth, this standardized and blindly outlined method still requires manual operation. A software that can automatically measure NWU or even combine it with other factors related to ME could be meaningful.

CONCLUSIONS

NWU calculated in standardized and blindly outlined regions of the MCA territory showed a good prediction power for the development of ME in patients with LHI. The easy method may provide a practical tool to distinguish patients at risk of ME in primary stroke centers with less or no CTP examination, and warrant further testing in the future.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

REFERENCES

- GBD 2016 Stroke Collaborators. Global, regional, and national burden of stroke, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18:439–58. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30034-1
- Fedin AI, Badalyan KR. [Review of clinical guidelines for the treatment and prevention of ischemic stroke]. *Zh Nevrol Psikhiatr Im S S Korsakova*. (2019) 119:95–100. doi: 10.17116/jnevro201911908295
- Liebeskind DS, Jüttler E, Shapovalov Y, Yegin A, Landen J, Jauch EC. Cerebral edema associated with large hemispheric infarction. *Stroke*. (2019) 50:2619– 25. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.024766
- King ZA, Sheth KN, Kimberly WT, Simard JM. Profile of intravenous glyburide for the prevention of cerebral edema following large hemispheric infarction: evidence to date. *Drug Des Devel Ther.* (2018) 12:2539–52. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S150043
- Dohmen C, Bosche B, Graf R, Staub F, Kracht L, Sobesky J, et al. Prediction of malignant course in MCA infarction by PET and microdialysis. *Stroke*. (2003) 34:2152–8. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000083624.74929.32
- Thomalla G, Hartmann F, Juettler E, Singer OC, Lehnhardt FG, Köhrmann M, et al. Prediction of malignant middle cerebral artery infarction by magnetic resonance imaging within 6 hours of symptom onset: a prospective multicenter observational study. *Ann Neurol.* (2010) 68:435–45. doi: 10.1002/ana.22125
- Pallesen LP, Barlinn K, Puetz V. Role of decompressive craniectomy in ischemic stroke. Front Neurol. (2018) 9:1119. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01119
- Li YP, Hou MZ, Lu GY, Ciccone N, Wang XD, Dong L, et al. Neurologic functional outcomes of decompressive hemicraniectomy versus conventional treatment for malignant middle cerebral artery infarction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *World Neurosurg.* (2017) 99:709–25.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2016.12.069
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Scheibel A, Aigner A, Faizy TD, Hanning U, et al. Quantitative lesion water uptake in acute stroke computed tomography is a predictor of malignant infarction. *Stroke*. (2018) 49:1906–12. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.020507
- Broocks G, Kemmling A, Aberle J, Kniep H, Bechstein M, Flottmann F, et al. Elevated blood glucose is associated with aggravated brain edema in acute stroke. *J Neurol.* (2020) 267:440–8. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09 601-9
- 11. Thorén M, Azevedo E, Dawson J, Egido JA, Falcou A, Ford GA, et al. Predictors for cerebral edema in acute ischemic stroke

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of General Hospital of Northern Theater Command. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

H-BX retrospectively enrolled patients and wrote the paper. Y-FS, NL, J-QW, and G-CC acquired data. H-BX and LT made the figures. B-QY and H-SC analyzed imaging data. H-SC designed the study and critically revised the manuscript. All authors approved the content of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Science and Technology Project of Liao Ning Province (2018225023, 2019JH2/10300027).

treated with intravenous thrombolysis. *Stroke.* (2017) 48:2464–71. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.018223

- Strbian D, Meretoja A, Putaala J, Kaste M, Tatlisumak T, Helsinki Stroke Thrombolysis Registry Group. Cerebral edema in acute ischemic stroke patients treated with intravenous thrombolysis. *Int J Stroke*. (2013) 8:529–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-4949.2012.00781.x
- Jo K, Bajgur SS, Kim H, Choi HA, Huh PW, Lee K. A simple prediction score system for malignant brain edema progression in large hemispheric infarction. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0171425. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0171425
- Kauw F, Bennink E, de Jong H, Kappelle LJ, Horsch AD, Velthuis BK, et al. Intracranial cerebrospinal fluid volume as a predictor of malignant middle cerebral artery infarction. *Stroke.* (2019) 50. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.026853
- Pelz JO, Fischer MM, Bungert-Kahl P, Lindner D, Fricke C, Michalski D. Fluid balance variations during the early phase of large hemispheric stroke are associated with patients' functional outcome. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:720. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00720
- Broocks G, Kemmling A, Meyer L, Nawabi J, Schön G, Fiehler J, et al. Computed tomography angiography collateral profile is directly linked to early edema progression rate in acute ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. (2019) 50:3424– 30. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.027062
- Berkhemer OA, Jansen IG, Beumer D, Fransen PS, van den Berg LA, Yoo AJ, et al. Collateral status on baseline computed tomographic angiography and intra-arterial treatment effect in patients with proximal anterior circulation stroke. *Stroke.* (2016) 47:768–76. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.115. 011788
- Broocks G, Faizy TD, Flottmann F, Schön G, Langner S, Fiehler J, et al. Subacute infarct volume with edema correction in computed tomography is equivalent to final infarct volume after ischemic stroke: improving the comparability of infarct imaging endpoints in clinical trials. *Invest Radiol.* (2018) 53:472–6. doi: 10.1097/RLI.000000000000475
- Nawabi J, Flottmann F, Kemmling A, Kniep H, Leischner H, Sporns P, et al. Elevated early lesion water uptake in acute stroke predicts poor outcome despite successful recanalization - when "tissue clock" and "time clock" are desynchronized. *Int J Stroke*. (2019). doi: 10.1177/1747493019884522
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Hanning U, Schön G, Sporns P, Minnerup J, et al. Impact of endovascular recanalization on quantitative lesion water uptake in ischemic anterior circulation strokes. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2020) 40:437–45. doi: 10.1177/0271678X18823601
- 21. Nawabi J, Kniep H, Schön G, Flottmann F, Leischner H, Kabiri R, et al. Hemorrhage after endovascular recanalization in acute stroke: lesion extent,

collaterals and degree of ischemic water uptake mediate tissue vulnerability. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:569. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00569

- Hacke W, Kaste M, Bluhmki E, Brozman M, Dávalos A, Guidetti D, et al. Thrombolysis with alteplase 3 to 4.5 hours after acute ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med. (2008) 359:1317–29. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa08 04656
- Wickham, H. Ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag (2009). doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-98141-3
- Vorasayan P, Bevers MB, Beslow LA, Sze G, Molyneaux BJ, Hinson HE, et al. Intravenous glibenclamide reduces lesional water uptake in large hemispheric infarction. *Stroke.* (2019) 50:3021–27. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.0 26036
- Broocks G, Hanning U, Flottmann F, Schönfeld M, Faizy TD, Sporns P, et al. Clinical benefit of thrombectomy in stroke patients with low ASPECTS is mediated by oedema reduction. *Brain.* (2019) 142:1399–407. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz057
- 26. Goyal M, Menon BK, van Zwam WH, Dippel DW, Mitchell PJ, Demchuk AM, et al. Endovascular thrombectomy after large-vessel ischaemic stroke: a metaanalysis of individual patient data from five randomised trials. *Lancet.* (2016) 387:1723–31. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00163-X

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Xu, Sun, Luo, Wang, Chang, Tao, Yang and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Glibenclamide Advantage in Treating Edema After Intracerebral Hemorrhage (GATE-ICH): Study Protocol for a Multicenter Randomized, Controlled, Assessor-Blinded Trial

Jingjing Zhao^{1†}, Fang Yang^{1†}, Changgeng Song¹, Li Li¹, Xiai Yang², Xiaofeng Wang³, Liping Yu⁴, Jun Guo⁵, Kangjun Wang⁶, Feng Fu⁷ and Wen Jiang^{1*} on behalf of the GATE-ICH Study Group

¹ Department of Neurology, Xijing Hospital, Fourth Military Medical University (Air Force Medical University), Xi'an, China, ² Department of Neurology, Ankang Central Hospital, Ankang, China, ³ Department of Neurosurgery, The PLA 987 Hospital, Baoji, China, ⁴ Department of Neurology, The First Peoples Hospital of Xianyang, Xianyang, China, ⁵ Department of Neurology, Tangdu Hospital, Fourth Military Medical University (Air Force Medical University), Xi'an, China, ⁶ Department of Neurology, Hanzhong Central Hospital, Hanzhong, China, ⁷ Department of Neurology, 215 Hospital of Shaanxi NI, Xianyang, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriel Broocks, Universität Hamburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Julian Nicolas Acosta, Yale University, United States Nikoloz Tsiskaridze, Pineo Medical Ecosystem, Georgia

*Correspondence:

Wen Jiang jiangwen@fmmu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 20 January 2021 Accepted: 25 March 2021 Published: 27 April 2021

Citation:

Zhao JJ, Yang F, Song CG, Li L, Yang XA, Wang XF, Yu LP, Guo J, Wang KJ, Fu F and Jiang W (2021) Glibenclamide Advantage in Treating Edema After Intracerebral Hemorrhage (GATE-ICH): Study Protocol for a Multicenter Randomized, Controlled, Assessor-Blinded Trial. Front. Neurol. 12:656520. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.656520 **Introduction:** Brain edema after acute intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH) plays a critical role in the secondary injury of ICH and may heighten the potential for a poor outcome. This trial aims to explore the efficacy of small doses of oral glibenclamide in perihematomal edema (PHE) and the prognosis of patients with ICH.

Methods and Analysis: The GATE-ICH trial is a multicenter randomized, controlled, assessor-blinded trial. A total of 220 adult patients with acute primary ICH in 28 study centers in China will be randomized to the glibenclamide group (glibenclamide plus guideline-recommended ICH management) or the control group (guideline-recommended ICH management). Multivariate logistic regression will be used to analyze the relationship between the treatments and primary outcome.

Study Outcomes: The primary efficacy outcome is the proportion of poor functional outcomes (modified Rankin Scale \geq 3) at 90 days after enrollment. The secondary efficacy outcomes include changes in the volume of ICH and PHE between the baseline and follow-up computed tomography scans as well as the clinical scores between the baseline and follow-up assessments.

Discussion: The GATE-ICH trial will assess the effects of small doses of oral glibenclamide in reducing the PHE after ICH and improving the 90-day prognosis of patients.

Clinical Trial Registration: www.clinicaltrials.gov., NCT03741530. Registered on November 8, 2018.

Trial Status: Protocol version: May 6, 2019, Version 5. Recruitment and follow-up of patients is currently ongoing. This trial will be end in the second quarter of 2021.

Keywords: perihematomal edema, intracerebral hemorrhage, glibenclamide, prognosis, clinical trial

INTRODUCTION

Intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH) accounts for 10–15% of the 15 million strokes worldwide each year and has a high mortality and morbidity (1). Compared with Western populations, the incidence of ICH in the Chinese population is higher (1, 2). However, only 12–39% of ICH survivors achieve long-term functional independence (3, 4). Despite the severe outcomes, there are no effective medical or surgical therapeutics available (5).

Perihematomal edema (PHE) after primary ICH, as a combination of early vasogenic edema following cytotoxic edema (6, 7). It is the most critical factor of secondary brain injury that leads to additional neurological deterioration (8, 9). The volume of PHE increases by ~75% during the first 24 h after ICH. It peaks in ~5–6 days, and continues for 14 days (1). Managing PHE may be an optimal target for ameliorating secondary brain injury in patients with ICH (10).

Most recently, glibenclamide, a sulfonylurea (SFU) drug and potent inhibitor of the sulfonylurea receptor 1-transient receptor potential melastatin 4 (SUR1-TRPM4) channels, has attracted great interest as a promising therapy for the prevention of cerebral edema after hemispheric infarction. It has been verified in the GAMES-RP study (11-13). Glibenclamide may contribute to mitigating both cytotoxic and vasogenic edema by blocking the SUR1-TRPM4 channels, inhibiting apoptosis, scavenging free radicals, and protecting the integrity of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (14-16). In patients with ICH with a history of diabetes, SFU used prior to ICH could reduce the accumulation of ICH and PHE volume and improve the short-term prognosis (17, 18). Given the safety and efficacy of oral glibenclamide in treating edema after brain injury, we supposed that the oral formulation of glibenclamide would be efficacious in preventing PHE in patients with acute ICH.

METHODS AND ANALYSIS

Study Objectives

The purpose of this hospital-based study is to assess whether small doses of oral glibenclamide would reduce edema and improve the prognosis in patients with ICH.

Study Design

The Glibenclamide Advantage in Treating Edema after Intracerebral Hemorrhage (GATE-ICH) study is a multicenter, randomized, controlled, assessor-blinded clinical trial. The subjects will be randomized into one of the two intervention arms using a web-based 1:1 centralized randomization process (http://cerebralhemorrhage.applinzi.com. computerized random numbers): (1) the glibenclamide group (glibenclamide plus guideline-recommended ICH management), and (2) the control group (guideline-recommended ICH management). There are four time points of assessment: baseline (t0), 3 days (t1), 7 days (t2), and 90 days (t3) after enrollment (**Table 1**). The **Supplementary File 1** describes the Recommendations of Interventional Trials (SPIRIT), which indicates the
 TABLE 1 | Overview of assessment points and measurements.

Time range		
baseline assessment prior to enrollment		
3 days (72 h \pm 12 h) post-enrollment		
7 days (168 h \pm 12 h) post-enrollment		
90 days (± 7 d) post-enrollment		

recommended items and corresponding page numbers of the present protocol.

Study Population

The GATE-ICH trial (www.clinicaltrials.gov. NCT03741530) involves 26 hospitals in the Shaanxi Province of China. We will conduct the study based on the recommendations of the Good Clinical Practice guidelines and the Declaration of Helsinki. The trial has been approved by the ethics committee of Xijing Hospital (KY20182067-X-3). The study will include patients with acute primary ICH who have ganglia hemorrhage of 5-30 mL confirmed by a baseline head computed tomography (CT). The inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria are shown in Box 1. Potential patients will be identified by emergency physicians and the initial neurologists. Trained neurologists at every center will be requested to make a definite diagnosis of ICH and confirm that each patient has met the inclusion criteria of the study. A written informed consent form of the present study and additional post-hoc analysis will be sent to all of the subjects or their guardians by the trained neurologists.

Randomization

The baseline data of potential participants will be provided to the research coordinators by investigators at every center. Through a web-based 1:1 randomization (computerized random numbers) process (http://cerebralhemorrhage.applinzi.com/index.php), patients will be assigned to one of the two intervention arms by the research coordinators.

Training of Investigators

To ensure the quality of the GATE-ICH trial, all the investigators from every center are required to receive official training regarding the study protocol, Good Clinical Practice guidelines, clinical scores including the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS), National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS), ICH score, Barthel index, and modified Rankin Scale (mRS), as well as the recognition of basal ganglia hemorrhage on head CT.

Trial Interventions

Intervention Arms

The time course of plasma glibenclamide levels indicates that an oral formulation of 3.5 mg/day at 4 h after administration is equal to an intravenous formulation of a 0.13-mg bolus followed by a dose of 3 mg/day, which has been proved efficacious and safe for treating edema in patients with ischemic stroke (13, 19).

BOX 1 | Inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria

- 1. Age 18-70 years with primary ICH.
- 2. Baseline CT with basal ganglia hemorrhage of 5-30 mL.
- 3. GCS score \geq 6.
- 4. Symptom onset <72 h prior to admission.
- 5. Informed consent.

Exclusion criteria

- 1. Supratentorial ICH planned to evacuation of a large hematoma.
- 2. Hemorrhage breaking into ventricles of the brain.
- 3. Prior significant disability (mRS \geq 3).
- 4. Severe renal disease (i.e., renal disorder requiring dialysis) or eGFR <30 $\,$ ml/min/1.73 $\,$ m^2.
- 5. Severe liver disorder, or ALT >3 times or bilirubin >2 times upper limit of normal.
- 6. BG < 3.1 mmol/L at enrollment, or with the history of hypoglycemia.
- Having acute ST elevation infarction, or decompensated heart failure, or cardiac arrest, or acute coronary syndrome, or known history of acute coronary syndrome, or acute myocardial infarction, or coronary intervention in the past 3 months.
- Treatment with sulfonylurea in the past 7 days, including glyburide, glyburide plus metformin, glimepiride, repaglinide, glipizide, gliclazide, tolbutamide, and/or glibornuride.
- 9. Treatment with bosentan in the past 7 days.
- 10. Having an allergy to sulfa or other sulfonylurea drugs.
- 11. Known G6PD deficiency.
- 12. Pregnant women.
- 13. Breast-feeding women disagreeing to participate the study or to discontinue breastfeeding during and after the study.
- 14. Being enrolled in another study and receiving an investigational drug.
- 15. Refusing to be enrolled, having poor compliance, and/or tending to withdraw.

ALT, Alanine aminotransferase; BG, Blood glucose; CT, computed tomography; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; GCS, Glasgow Coma Scale; G6PD, Glucose-6-phosphate Dehydrogenase; ICH, intracerebral hemorrhage; mRS, modified Rankin Scale.

The half-life of glibenclamide is 4.0-13.4 h in elderly patients and 4.0-13.9 h in younger patients (20). In order to achieve a stable drug concentration that coincides with three mealtimes, we chose a dose of 1.25 mg, 3 times per day (3.75 mg/day). In our pilot study, 10 patients in the glibenclamide group and 12 patients in the control group were enrolled. The plasma concentration of glibenclamide elevated to 47.6 ng/mL at 2 h after the first dose, and gradually achieved by steady state plasma concentration of glibenclamide at 72 h (26.7 ng/mL). Patients assigned to the glibenclamide group will receive tablets containing 1.25 mg of glibenclamide [Yun Peng Pharmaceutical Co., Shanxi, China; each capsule (2.5 mg)] three times daily (no more than 30 min before a meal) for 7 consecutive days after enrollment in addition to the usual care and medications for ICH. Patients in the control group will receive only the usual care and medications for ICH. Glibenclamide tablets should not be administered after head CT on day 7. Treatment with other SFU agents is not permitted during the 90-day follow-up period in either group.

Patient Safety

The study drug must be reduced to 1.25 mg twice daily if any of the following conditions are present: (1) laboratoryconfirmed blood glucose (BG) level <3.1 mmol/L; (2) or three laboratory-confirmed BG levels <3.9 mmol/L within 12 h. The study drug must be discontinued if either of these conditions occur twice. In patients with hyperglycemia during their hospitalization, increasing the dosage of glibenclamide or substituting glibenclamide with other SFU agents is not permitted. In patients with a laboratory-confirmed BG level <3.9 mmol/L, administration of 50% glucose is suggested, according to the following formula: supplementation volume of 50% glucose = [100–laboratory-confirmed BG (mg/dL)] × 0.4 mL. Other highly hyperosmotic glucose solutions with the same amount of sugar are also allowed.

Medical Care in the Hospital

Both groups in the present study will receive the same background care. Traditional dehydration therapy is not recommended for patients without intracranial hypertension. In patients with intracranial hypertension, the selection of osmotherapy medicines depends on local availability. The use of supplemental fluids is based on the clinical status of the subjects. In patients randomized to the glibenclamide group with inadequate intake, but not meeting the standard nasal feeding, 5 or 10% glucose is recommended to avoid hypoglycemia. The management of blood pressure and all other medical care for ICH patients will adhere to the ICH guidelines (21).

Study Procedures

Figure 1 presents the flow chart of the GATE-ICH trial. Based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria, the potential subjects offering informed consent will be randomized. At baseline, demographics, medical history (acute ischemic stroke, ICH, coronary events, diabetes mellitus, and hypertension), physical examination results, clinical scores (NIHSS, GCS, ICH score, Barthel index, mRS), vital signs, and head CT results will be recorded. Routine laboratory tests for patients with ICH will be conducted (routine blood tests, renal and liver function tests, serum lipid, fasting glucose, routine urine tests, electrocardiography, and head CT) on days 1, 3, and 7. Clinical scores (NIHSS, GCS, Barthel index, and mRS) on day 3 and day 7 or the day of hospital discharge will be collected. The Barthel index and mRS on day 90 will be assessed. During the entire period of hospitalization, concomitant treatments, adverse events (AEs), and serious AEs (SAEs) will be documented.

Imaging Evaluations

A baseline CT evaluation of ICH volume will be performed by the investigators and study coordinators in each center using an image matrix of 512×512 with a slice thickness of 5 mm. The three CT assessments of the same subject should use the same type of CT. At an initial meeting, all investigators will be trained on the methodology of hematoma volume calculation using ABC/2 and provided with an electronic instruction manual. CT scans will be performed as standard procedures, and additional magnetic resonance imaging or other scans will be used when



patients appear to have neurological deterioration. The final results of the three CT scans in every patient will be evaluated by independent investigators blinded to the clinical variables using the 3D Slicer software package (version 4.10.2; National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA). ICH and PHE volumes will be measured using a semiautomatic volumetric algorithm as in a previous study (**Figure 2**) (22, 23).

BG Monitoring

During the first 7 days after enrollment, BG will be monitored 3 times a day. In patients with hyperglycemia, BG will be monitored at least every 2 h until BG returns to normal.

Post-discharge Follow-Up

A telephone follow-up after discharge is planned at 90 days after enrollment. Post-discharge follow-up will be performed by the investigators in every center who did not participate in other parts of the trial, including the randomization or treatment of the subjects. When all efforts to follow-up have been made but have failed, the patients will be recorded as lost to follow-up at the end of the case report form.

Study Outcomes

Efficacy Outcomes

The primary efficacy endpoint is the percentage of unfavorable outcomes (mRS \geq 3) at 90 days post-enrollment. The secondary efficacy endpoints include changes in the volume of ICH and PHE between the baseline and follow-up CT scans, and changes in the clinical scores between baseline and follow-up.

Safety Outcomes

The safety endpoints include the BG-related safety and cardiac-related safety of glibenclamide tablets as follows: (1) hypoglycemia (BG <3.1 mmol/L), (2) symptomatic hypoglycemia (hypoglycemia with confirmed hypoglycemic symptoms), (3) incidence of cardiac AE/SAEs or a QT interval of >500 ms, and (4) incidence of all-cause mortality.

Blinding

The outcome assessors and data analysts will be blinded to the interventions. There will be one investigator assessing the functional outcomes in every center who will be blinded to the intervention received by the participants. All of the imaging evaluations will be conducted by independent investigators blinded to the clinical variables, interventions, and functional outcomes. The analyses will be conducted by blinded biostatisticians.

Data Quality

To narrow the gap of uniformity between the centers and ensure the quality of the study, the following guidelines will be implemented: (1) an initial meeting will be held for all of the principal investigators and research coordinators from the participating centers before the commencement of the GATE-ICH study; (2) in each research center, the principal investigator (PI) will administer the trial and the monitor the quality of the data; (3) to ensure the quality of the trial, training sessions, phase meetings, and monthly monitoring visits at every center will be required; and (4) the Quality Control and Assurance Committee Zhao et al.



FIGURE 2 | Measurements of hematoma and PHE using 3D slicer software package. (A) original image of a patient with ICH. (B) hematoma marked with pink. (C) PHE marked with blue. ICH, intracerebral hemorrhage; PHE, perihematomal edema.

will prepare monthly reports regarding the progress of the trial, including patient recruitment, randomization, protocol adherence, and completeness of the data. The informed consent forms, case report forms, reports of AE/SAE and CT data of Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine (DICOM) will be securely stored in a locked file cabinet in a secure office. All of the digital data will be stored in a password- and firewall-protected secure computer. The sponsor of the trial will have access to the final data.

Monitoring

The PI in each center will manage quality control by monitoring the administration of the trial in accordance with the protocol, applicable guidelines, and regulations. Monthly reports regarding the progress of the trial will be prepared by the Quality Control and Assurance Committee, including patient recruitment, randomization, protocol adherence, reports of AE/SAE and completeness of the data. All participating sites will have phase meetings and monthly monitoring visits to verify consent, eligibility criteria, anomalous data, and reported SAEs.

Determination of the Sample Size

The sample size was set at 220 to provide at least 80% power $(1-\beta)$ to detect an 23.3% absolute risk reduction in the primary efficacy outcome for patients in the glibenclamide group compared to those in the control group, using a test of two-sided significance with a 5% type I error (α). The rate of non-adherence to the treatment protocol and overall loss to follow-up is assumed to be 15%. In our pilot study, the volume of PHE in patients receiving glibenclamide was significantly smaller than control group at day 7 (21.74 ± 9.70 mL vs. 31.22 ± 10.16 mL, p = 0.038). At 90 days, 33.3% of patients in control group had unfavorable outcomes while the data was 10.0% for the patients assigned to glibenclamide group (**Supplementary File 2**).

Statistical Considerations

Patients in our study will be analyzed according to the intention-to-treat principle. Analyses will be conducted by blinded biostatisticians. Baseline data will be analyzed using univariate analyses. Categorical variables will be presented as rates, whereas continuous variables will be expressed as median (interquartile range) or mean \pm standard deviation. The primary and secondary outcomes will be compared between patients randomized to the glibenclamide group and the control group using the Chi-square test or Fisher's exact-test and the Student's t-test or Wilcoxon rank-sum-test. Logistic multivariate analyses will be used to adjust for potential confounding effects of different variables and estimate the adjusted odds ratios and associated 95% confidence intervals. Two-sided p-values < 0.05 in all tests will be considered significant. The statistical analysis will be performed with SPSS version 19.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Patient and Public Involvement

Patients were not involved in the design of the study. The burden of intervention and the participation time in the research will not be assessed by the patients themselves. During the treatment stage, analysis of adverse reactions (such as symptoms of low blood sugar) will require timely feedback from the patients, assessment of the investigators, and confirmation by assessment instruments. At the termination of the trial, a scientific article will be authored to present the main results, and a brief summary of the results in plain language will be provided to all participants.

Protocol Amendments

Any amendments to the protocol will be requested with the agreement of the GATE-ICH Study Group, Sponsor, and Funding Body. Following approval by the ethics committee, the modifications to the protocol will be communicated to the trial investigators and the trial registry (and if required, to the trial participants).

DISCUSSION

The GATE-ICH trial is a multicenter, randomized, controlled, assessor-blinded clinical trial in China. We will assess the hypothesis that small doses of oral glibenclamide is an effective method to reduce the PHE after ICH and to improve the 90-day prognosis of patients. The trial will provide new evidence regarding the management of PHE in patients with ICH.

In patients with supratentorial ICH, the hematoma volume was one of the important factors predicting outcomes (1). Patients with massive ICH (volume >30 mL) were associated with an increased risk of poor outcomes, and might respond better to surgical treatment rather than conservative treatment (24, 25). In addition, the clinical outcomes were not influenced by the PHE in patients with hematoma volume >30 mL no matter the location (10, 26). Results of previous studies found that the effect of PHE on 90-day unfavorable outcome was more relevant in patients with hematoma volume <30 mL than those with massive ICH (26-29). In patients with hematoma volume <30 mL, there was a significant association between PHE and poor outcome in basal ganglia ICH (10, 26). However, the relationship of PHE and poor outcome was controversial in lobar ICH (10, 26). Thus, basal ganglia hematomas with volumes <30 mL could be regard as an optimal target for interventions designed to ameliorate PHE after ICH (10).

Although the conservative treatment was usually suggested in patients with hematoma volume <30 mL, there are few effective therapies available for treatment of PHE after ICH (25). Traditional dehydration therapy is the most common option in clinical practice; however, its' effect is modest (7, 30). Identifying anti-edema drugs may be a promising intervention for ICH. As a candidate anti-edema drug, glibenclamide has been proven effective for the treatment of brain swelling after large hemispheric infarction in humans (12). In the GAMES-Pilot study, vasogenic edema appears to be reduced in patients with acute ischemic stroke treated with glibenclamide (16). It has been verified that glibenclamide could improve the injury of ICH through its' anti-inflammatory effects and scavenging of free radicals in pre-clinical studies (14, 15). Our study aims to test the efficacy of glibenclamide for treating edema and improving 90-day outcomes after ICH in a treated group compared to a control group in human subjects.

The GATE-ICH study is a multicenter randomized, controlled, assessor-blinded trial. Some limitations of this trial should also be noted. First, as a definite limitation in this trial, the placebo control was originally designed at the beginning of the design phase. However, unexpected failure of the placebo production line forced us to adjust initial study protocol from the placebo control to the blank control. After rigorous evaluation, the main outcome was a subjective outcome indicator and might be biased by the placebo effect, while both of imaging outcomes and safety outcomes were objective outcomes with limited placebo effect. In order to avoid the influence of placebo effect as much as possible, the outcomes evaluation and statistical analysis would be blindly processed by independent researchers throughout the study. Second, some background treatments were not standardized. For example, the selection of osmotherapy medicines depended on local availability in patients with intracranial hypertension. Thus, background treatments should be standardized as much as possible in future studies. Last but not least, the population was limited to the Chinese patients, which might restrain generalizability of the results to other populations. Thus, multicenter research in more countries will be needed.

Trial Status

We conceived and designed the present trial in 2018. The trial was registered on November 8, 2018 (ClinicalTrials.gov, NCT03741530) and initiated on November 25, 2018. The protocol was version 5 on May 6, 2019. At the time this manuscript is being submitted, the enrollment and follow-up of patients is currently ongoing. This trial will be end in the second quarter of 2021.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Ethics Committee of Xijing Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

This trial was conceived by FY and WJ. WJ is the chief investigator. JZ is a sub-investigator. CS assists with the study and analysis. LL, XY, XW, LY, JG, KW, and FF are the principal investigators and consulting clinicians at each study site. The first version of the manuscript was produced by JZ and FY with advice from WJ. All authors are responsible for the designation and conduction of this study as well as the data analysis, the drafting, and the reviewing of the final content of the paper.

FUNDING

The GATE-ICH trial was supported by the Shanxi Provincial Key Technologies Research and Development Program (2017ZDCXL-SF-02-02) and Shaanxi Provincial Center for Cerebrovascular Disease Clinical Research (2017LCZX01). The founders and sponsors had no influence on the study or this manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the GATE-ICH Study Group.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur. 2021.656520/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Qureshi AI, Mendelow AD, Hanley DF. Intracerebral haemorrhage. Lancet (London, England). (2009) 373:1632–44. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09) 60371-8
- Tsai CF, Thomas B, Sudlow CL. Epidemiology of stroke and its subtypes in Chinese vs. white populations: a systematic review. *Neurology*. (2013) 81:264–72. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31829bfde3
- 3. Broderick J, Connolly S, Feldmann E, Hanley D, Kase C, Krieger D, et al. Guidelines for the management of spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage in adults: 2007 update: a guideline from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association Stroke Council, High Blood Pressure Research Council, and the Quality of Care and Outcomes in Research Interdisciplinary Working Group. *Stroke.* (2007) 38:2001–23. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.183689
- An SJ, Kim TJ, Yoon BW. Epidemiology, risk factors, and clinical features of intracerebral hemorrhage: an update. J Stroke. (2017) 19:3–10. doi: 10.5853/jos.2016.00864
- Keep RF, Hua Y, Xi G. Intracerebral haemorrhage: mechanisms of injury and therapeutic targets. *Lancet Neurol.* (2021) 11:720–31. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70104-7
- Ziai WC. Hematology and inflammatory signaling of intracerebral hemorrhage. Stroke. (2013) 44:S74–8. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.000662
- Zheng H, Chen C, Zhang J, Hu Z. Mechanism and therapy of brain edema after intracerebral hemorrhage. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* (2016) 42:155–69. doi: 10.1159/000445170
- Grunwald Z, Beslow LA, Urday S, Vashkevich A, Ayres A, Greenberg SM, et al. Perihematomal edema expansion rates and patient outcomes in deep and lobar intracerebral hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care*. (2017) 26:205–12. doi: 10.1007/s12028-016-0321-3
- Gebel JM, Jr., Jauch EC, Brott TG, Khoury J, Sauerbeck L, Salisbury S, et al., Relative edema volume is a predictor of outcome in patients with hyperacute spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. (2002) 33:2636–41. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000035283.34109.EA
- Murthy SB, Moradiya Y, Dawson J, Lees KR, Hanley DF, Ziai WC. Perihematomal edema and functional outcomes in intracerebral hemorrhage: influence of hematoma volume and location. *Stroke*. (2015) 46:3088–92. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.010054
- King ZA, Sheth KN, Kimberly WT, Simard JM. Profile of intravenous glyburide for the prevention of cerebral edema following large hemispheric infarction: evidence to date. *Drug Design Dev Ther.* (2018) 12:2539–52. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S150043
- 12. Sheth KN, Elm JJ, Molyneaux BJ, Hinson H, Beslow LA, Sze GK, et al. Safety and efficacy of intravenous glyburide on brain swelling after large hemispheric infarction (GAMES-RP): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:1160–9. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30196-X
- Sheth KN, Petersen NH, Cheung K, Elm JJ, Hinson HE, Molyneaux BJ, et al. Long-term outcomes in patients aged ≤70 years with intravenous glyburide from the phase II GAMES-RP study of large hemispheric infarction: an exploratory analysis. *Stroke.* (2018) 49:1457–63. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.020365
- 14. Jiang B, Li L, Chen Q, Tao Y, Yang L, Zhang B, et al. Role of glibenclamide in brain injury after intracerebral hemorrhage. *Transl Stroke Res.* (2017) 8:183–93. doi: 10.1007/s12975-016-0506-2
- Zhou F, Liu Y, Yang B, Hu Z. Neuroprotective potential of glibenclamide is mediated by antioxidant and anti-apoptotic pathways in intracerebral hemorrhage. *Brain Res Bull.* (2018) 142:18–24. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2018.06.006
- Kimberly WT, Battey TW, Pham L, Wu O, Yoo AJ, Furie KL, et al. Glyburide is associated with attenuated vasogenic edema in stroke patients. *Neurocrit Care*. (2014) 20:193–201. doi: 10.1007/s12028-013-9917-z
- 17. Chang JJ, Khorchid Y, Kerro A, Burgess LG, Goyal N, Alexandrov AW, et al. Sulfonylurea drug pretreatment and functional outcome in diabetic

patients with acute intracerebral hemorrhage. J Neurol Sci. (2017) 381:182–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2017.08.3252

- Irvine H, Male S, Robertson J, Bell C, Bentho O, Streib C. Reduced intracerebral hemorrhage and perihematomal edema volumes in diabetics on sulfonylureas. *Stroke.* (2019) 50:995–8. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.022301
- Sheth KN, Simard JM, Elm J, Kronenberg G, Kunte H, Kimberly WT. Human data supporting glyburide in ischemic stroke. *Acta Neurochirurgica Suppl.* (2016) 121:13–8. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-184 97-5_3
- Jaber LA, Antal EJ, Welshman IR. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of glyburide in young and elderly patients with non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *Ann Pharmacother*. (1996) 30:472–5. doi: 10.1177/106002809603000507
- Hemphill JC, III, Greenberg SM, Anderson CS, Becker K, Bendok BR, Cushman M, et al. Guidelines for the management of spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke.* (2015) 46:2032–60. doi: 10.1161/STR.0000000000000069
- Volbers B, Staykov D, Wagner I, Dorfler A, Saake M, Schwab S, et al. Semi-automatic volumetric assessment of perihemorrhagic edema with computed tomography. *Eur J Neurol.* (2011) 18:1323–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2011.03395.x
- Urday S, Beslow LA, Goldstein DW, Vashkevich A, Ayres AM, Battey TW, et al. Measurement of perihematomal edema in intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke.* (2015) 46:1116–9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.0 07565
- LoPresti MA, Bruce SS, Camacho E, Kunchala S, Dubois BG, Bruce E, et al. Hematoma volume as the major determinant of outcomes after intracerebral hemorrhage. J Neurol Sci. (2014) 345:3–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2014. 06.057
- Inagawa T, Ohbayashi N, Takechi A, Shibukawa M, Yahara K. Primary intracerebral hemorrhage in Izumo City, Japan: incidence rates and outcome in relation to the site of hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery*. (2003) 53:1283–97; discussion 1297–8. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000093825.04 365.F3
- Sprügel MI, Kuramatsu JB, Volbers B, Gerner ST, Sembill JA, MadŽar D, et al. Perihemorrhagic edema: revisiting hematoma volume, location, and surface. *Neurology*. (2019) 93:e1159–70. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0000000000 08129
- Appelboom G, Bruce SS, Hickman ZL, Zacharia BE, Carpenter AM, Vaughan KA, et al. Volume-dependent effect of perihaematomal oedema on outcome for spontaneous intracerebral haemorrhages. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2013) 84:488–93. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-303160
- Qureshi AI, Safdar K, Weil J, Barch C, Bliwise DL, Colohan AR, et al. Predictors of early deterioration and mortality in black Americans with spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke.* (1995) 26:1764–7. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.26.10.1764
- 29. Wartenberg KE, Mayer SA. Reducing the risk of ICH enlargement. J Neurol Sci. (2007) 261:99–107. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2007.04.044
- Xi G, Keep RF, Hoff JT. Mechanisms of brain injury after intracerebral haemorrhage. *Lancet Neurol.* (2006) 5:53–63. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(05)70283-0

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Zhao, Yang, Song, Li, Yang, Wang, Yu, Guo, Wang, Fu and Jiang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Computed Tomography Based Score of Early Ischemic Changes Predicts Malignant Infarction

Matthias Bechstein^{*}, Lukas Meyer, Silke Breuel, Tobias D. Faizy, Uta Hanning, Noel van Horn, Rosalie McDonough, Jens Fiehler and Gabriel Broocks

Department of Diagnostic and Interventional Neuroradiology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

Background and Purpose: Identification of ischemic stroke patients at high risk of developing life-threatening malignant infarction at an early stage is critical to consider more rigorous monitoring and further therapeutic measures. We hypothesized that a score consisting of simple measurements of visually evident ischemic changes in non-enhanced CT (NEMMI score) predicts malignant middle cerebral artery (MCA) infarctions (MMI) with similar diagnostic power compared to other baseline clinical and imaging parameters.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Simone Beretta, San Gerardo Hospital, Italy

Reviewed by:

Inge A. Mulder, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Netherlands Martina Vigano', University of Milano Bicocca, Italy

> *Correspondence: Matthias Bechstein m.bechstein@uke.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 19 February 2021 Accepted: 14 May 2021 Published: 07 June 2021

Citation:

Bechstein M, Meyer L, Breuel S, Faizy TD, Hanning U, van Horn N, McDonough R, Fiehler J and Broocks G (2021) Computed Tomography Based Score of Early Ischemic Changes Predicts Malignant Infarction. Front. Neurol. 12:669828. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.669828 **Methods:** One hundred and nine patients with acute proximal MCA occlusion were included. Fifteen (13.8%) patients developed MMI. NEMMI score was defined using the sum of the maximum diameter (anterior-posterior plus medio-lateral) of the hypoattenuated lesion in baseline-CT multiplied by a hypoattenuation factor (3-point visual grading in non-enhanced CT, no/subtle/clear hypoattenuation = 1/2/3). Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis and multivariable logistic regression analysis were used to calculate the predictive values of the NEMMI score, baseline clinical and other imaging parameters.

Results: The median NEMMI score at baseline was 13.6 (IQR: 11.6–31.1) for MMI patients, and 7.7 (IQR: 3.9–11.2) for patients with non-malignant infarctions (p < 0.0001). Based on ROC curve analysis, a NEMMI score > 10.5 identified MMI with good discriminative power (AUC: 0.84, sensitivity/specificity: 93.3/70.7%), which was higher compared to age (AUC: 0.76), NIHSS (AUC: 0.61), or ischemic core volume (AUC: 0.80). In multivariable logistic regression analysis, NEMMI score was significantly and independently associated with MMI (OR: 1.33, 95%CI: 1.13–1.56, p < 0.001), adjusted for recanalization status.

Conclusion: The NEMMI score is a quick and simple rating tool of early ischemic changes on CT and could serve as an important surrogate marker for developing malignant edema. Its diagnostic accuracy was similar to CTP and clinical parameters.

Keywords: stroke, brain herniation, biomarkers, computerized tomography, malignant infarction, edema quantification

35
BACKGROUND

Stroke due to large vessel occlusion (LVO) is one of the major global causes of disability and death (1). Although endovascular thrombectomy has significantly improved clinical outcome, in particular after middle cerebral artery (MCA) occlusion, some patients nevertheless develop progressive cerebral edema with mass effect and transtentorial herniation, defined as malignant middle cerebral artery infarction (MMI) (2, 3). Rapid identification of patients at risk of life-threatening edema is important at an early stage of the clinical workflow in order to consider more rigorous monitoring of patients and, ultimately, triage for decompressive hemicraniectomy (4). A recent meta-analysis of multiple randomized trials for decompressive hemicraniectomy in LVO stroke with a total of 338 patients demonstrated a significant reduction of mortality after decompressive surgery by 39% compared to best medical treatment, and an increase in the number of patients with only mild to moderate disability (modified Rankin scale 2-3) by 13% (5). Cerebral edema due to ischemic stroke is considered to reach its maximum extent within 2-5 days after the initial vessel occlusion (4). In the case of malignant infarction, this usually comes with severe clinical deterioration. With high probability of already manifest brain tissue damage secondary to increased intracranial pressure at time of herniation, patients at risk of MMI should be identified at an earlier timepoint in order to benefit as much as possible from invasive therapy (6, 7). Clinical independent predictors of MMI have been widely discussed in the literature and include elevated levels on the National Institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS), history of arterial hypertension, female sex, congestive heart failure and younger age (8-11). Radiological predictors include a lower ASPECTS with hypodense ischemic changes on non-enhanced CT (NECT) secondary to increased net water uptake (NWU) (12-14). Nevertheless, these areas of hypodensity in NECT are often subtle and depend on time passed since stroke onset and other factors, in particular the presence of intracranial collaterals and core infarct volume (15). CT Perfusion (CTP) with measurement of CBV and permeability may further facilitate early detection of malignant edema, but requires multimodal imaging (13, 16, 17). In addition, higher clot burden, more proximal thrombus location, and poor intracranial collaterals have been described as predictors for MMI in CT-angiography (13). Yet, simple and widely feasible approaches to predict MMI at an early stage are sparse.

We hypothesized, that in patients with acute LVO, a scoring system based on simple measurement of the maximum anteriorposterior and mediolateral diameter of hypodense ischemic changes (AP+ML) in admission NECT, multiplied by a visually rated hypoattenuation factor of the hypodense lesion is associated with MMI (NEMMI score). The aim of this study was to assess the diagnostic ability of the NEMMI score in comparison to other common predictors of a malignant course after LVO. For this purpose, performance of the NEMMI score was tested against CTP-derived core lesion volume, and baseline clinical parameters.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

Ischemic stroke patients with LVO of the MCA territory admitted between January 2014 and July 2016 at the University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany (n = 109 patients) were retrospectively screened. As only anonymized data were registered, no informed consent was necessary in accordance with the ethical review board approval from the Ethics Committee of the Hamburg Chamber of Physicians (Hamburg, Germany).

The data on which the findings of this study are based are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Patient inclusion criteria for this study were as follows: (1) Acute ischemic MCA stroke secondary to LVO confirmed by multimodal CT within 6 h from symptom onset (non-enhanced CT [NECT], CT angiography, and CT perfusion [CTP]); (2) Visually evident early infarct lesion with hypoattenuation in admission NECT and/or lesion in CTP with reduced cerebral blood volume; (3) Follow-up CT 24–48 h after symptom onset; (4) Documented NIHSS score on admission; (5) Absence of intracranial hemorrhage and/or presence of old infarct lesions in admission NECT. Baseline and follow-up clinical characteristics and demographic information were extracted from the medical records, including use of mechanical recanalization and/or need for decompressive hemicraniectomy.

Definition of Malignant Infarction

Presence of malignant middle cerebral artery infarction (MMI) was defined as space-occupying infarct (>1/2 affected MCA territory) in follow-up CT at 24–48 h after admission with neurological signs of transtentorial/subfalcine herniation requiring decompressive hemicraniectomy or subsequent death secondary to edematous mass effect (12, 17, 18).

Imaging

Patients received a multimodal stroke imaging protocol at admission with NECT, CT angiography and CTP on an iCT 256 (Philips Healthcare, Best, the Netherlands) or SOMATOM force (Siemens Healthcare, Erlangen, Germany) scanner. NECT: Collimation 64 \times 0.6 (force: 96 \times 0.6), pitch 0.297 (force: 0.55), rotation time 0.4s (force: 1), field of view 270 mm, tube voltage 120 kV (force: 100), tube current 300 mA (force: 406), 4.0 mm slice reconstruction. CT angiography: Pitch 0.985 (force: 0.35), rotation time 0.4s (force: 0.25), field of view 220 mm, tube voltage 120 kV (force: 70-120), 300 mAs (force: 117-200), 2.0 mm slice reconstruction, 5 mm maximum intensity projection reconstruction with 1 mm increment. CTP: Rotation time 0.5 s (force: 0.5), field of view 220 mm, tube voltage 80 kV (force: 70), tube current 140 mAs (force: 170), 5 mm slice reconstruction, slice sampling rate 1.8 s (force 1.5), biphasic injection with 40 mL of highly iodinated contrast medium with 400 (mmol/L)/mL injected with 6 mL/s followed by 40 mL saline chaser bolus. Imaging data sets were assessed for quality with exclusion in case of severe motion artifacts. Raw perfusion data were analyzed on a Siemens workstation using Syngo VPCT Neuro software (Siemens Healthcare, Erlangen, Germany) or on

a Philips workstation using IntelliSpace Portal software (Philips Healthcare, Best, the Netherlands).

Assessment of NEMMI Score

Ratings were performed retrospectively on NECT images acquired not later than 6 h after symptom onset by two

experienced radiologists (>5 years clinical practice). The raters were blinded to specific patient data (i.e., age, subsequent evolution of malignant infarction). Scans with early hypoattenuated infarct lesions were than selected for assessment of the NEMMI score. The ratings were assessed for interrater reliability. Subsequently, a consensus reading of the



FIGURE 1 | Exemplary admission CT scans (A,D), CBV maps (B,E), and follow-up CT scans (C,F) of patients with acute MCA occlusion, who subsequently develop malignant infarction (upper row) or have a non-malignant clinical course (lower row). Calculation of the respective NEMMI scores as the sum of the maximum AP and ML early lesion diameter multiplicated by the visual hypoattenuation factor is depicted in (A,D).

cases was performed and only consensus measurements used for analyses.

The assessment of the NEMMI score was conducted in the following way: In the axial slice with the most prominent hypoattenuation, the maximal anterior-posterior (AP) and medio-lateral (ML) extension of the early lesion was measured in centimeters [cm] with the measurement tool provided by the image viewer of the hospital radiological information system (Centricity RIS-i 6.0, General Electric, Boston, MA, USA). In order to take into account varying hypoattenuation of the core lesion, the sum of the maximum lesion dimension (AP+ML [cm]) was then multiplied by a hypoattenuation factor of the hypodense lesion (3-point visual estimate of the hypodensity: No hypodensity = 1; Subtle hypodensity = 2; Clearly demarcated hypodensity = 3; Figure 1). In order to validate the visually assessed hypoattenuation factor, the gold standard of net water uptake (NWU) was assessed through a standardized image post-processing protocol according to Broocks et al. (12) and compared to the initially rated hypoattenuation factor (Figure 2).

Statistical Analysis

Absolute and relative frequencies for all patient characteristics were determined, separately for patients with and without MMI. A *t*-test was performed to compare ordinal data with normal distribution, while a Mann–Whitney *U*-test was used otherwise. A *p*-value of <0.05 was regarded as statistically significant. Medians are illustrated with the respective interquartile ranges (IQR), means with the respective standard deviation (SD).

The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was measured to assess the correlation between the visually rated hypoattenuation factor and the conventionally quantified NWU.

The NEMMI score was compared with the most relevant alternative clinical and imaging variables to predict MMI (admission NIHSS score, age, CTP core lesion volume, and recanalization status). Ischemic core volume was defined using absolute cerebral blood volume (CBV) with a threshold at $2.0 \text{ ml} \times 100 \text{ g}^{-1}$, as described by Wintermark et al. (19). Univariable receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves with the corresponding area under the curve (AUC) were determined



to compare the ability of NEMMI and alternative variables at admission to discriminate between patients with MMI and nonmalignant MCA territory infarctions. Inter-rater agreement was quantified using intra-class correlation coefficients (ICC).

In order to investigate the independent multivariable contribution of NEMMI and other variables to predict MMI, multivariable logistic regression analyses were performed presenting odds ratio (OR) estimates along with 95% confidence intervals using backwards selection of the independent variables (age, NIHSS, time from onset to imaging, baseline ischemic core volume, NEMMI, and recanalization status).

The open-source statistical software R (The R Foundation) was used for statistical analysis, and the R package ggplot2 for visualization. Receiver operating characteristic analyses were calculated with MedCalc version 12.7 (MedCalc Software, Ostend, Belgium).

RESULTS

A total of 109 patients fulfilled the inclusion criteria. Of these, 94 (86.2%) had a non-malignant course of disease, while 15 (13.8%) suffered from MMI with mass herniation. Patient characteristics are depicted in **Table 1**. Median NIHSS on admission (Non-MMI 16 [IQR 12–19]; MMI: 17 [IQR 16–18]; p = 0.158) and mean time from symptom onset to hospital admission (Non-MMI 3.3 h [SD 1.8]; MMI: 2.6 [SD 1]; p = 0.165) were similar in both groups. Ischemic core volumes showed high variations in non-MMI and MMI patients, with a mean volume of 16.9 mL (SD 17.6) and 50.1 mL (SD 37.7; p < 0.005), respectively. Follow-up infarct volume up to 48 h after admission

TABLE 1 Patient characteristics stratified by malignant and non-malignant	
infarcts.	

Patient characteristics	Non-malignant	Malignant
Subjects, n (%)	94 (86.2)	15 (13.8)
Age in years, mean (SD)	68.6 (14.8)	56.4 (12)
Female sex, n (%)	48 (51.1)	6 (40)
Admission NIHSS, median (IQR)	16 (12–19)	17 (16–18)
Time from onset to admission, mean h (SD)	3.3 (1.8)	2.6 (1)
Volume of early infarct (core volume), mean mL (SD)	16.9 (17.6)	50.1 (37.7)
Follow-up infarct volume, mean mL (SD)	48.6 (51.3)	204.3 (57.1)
Intravenous lysis, n (%)	73 (77.6)	11 (73.3)
Endovascular thrombectomy, n (%)	91 (96.8)	11 (73.3)
If thrombectomy performed: TICI 2b/3, n (%)	62 (68.1)	2 (18.2)
Anterior-posterior (AP) diameter of early lesion, median cm (IQR)	3.1 (1.8–4)	3.9 (3.1–6.3)
Mediolateral (ML) diameter of early lesion, median cm (IQR)	1.6 (1–2)	2.3 (1.8–3.7)
Hypoattenuation factor, median (IQR)	2 (1–2)	3 (2–3)
NEMMI score, median (IQR)	7.7 (3.9–11.2)	13.6 (11.6–31.1)

NIHSS, National Institute of Health Stroke Scale; SD, standard deviation; IQR, interquartile range; TICI, thrombolysis in cerebral infarction; NEMMI, non-enhanced malignant media infarction. was significantly elevated in patients with malignant clinical course (204.3 mL [SD 57.1] vs. 48.6 mL [SD 51.3]; p < 0.00001). The majority of patients in both groups received intravenous lysis (77.6 and 73.3%; p = 0.715). Endovascular thrombectomy was more frequent in the non-malignant group (96.8 vs. 73.3%; p < 0.0007), with also significant higher proportion of successful mechanical recanalization (TICI 2b/3: 68.1 vs. 18.2%; p < 0.002).

Inter-rater agreement was tested separately for the hypoattenuation factor, and both diameters (AP and ML). The intraclass correlation coefficient showing the reliability of averages of κ ratings was 0.88 (95%CI: 0.78–0.93) for the hypoattenuation factor, and 0.91 (95%CI: 0.84–0.95)/0.88 (95%CI: 0.79–0.94) for the AP and ML diameter, respectively.

Measurement of the median maximum lesion diameter on admission NECT was similar in both groups (AP: Non-MMI 3.1 cm [IQR 1.8–4]; MMI 3.9 cm [IQR 3.1–6.3]; p = 0.144/ML: Non-MMI 1.6 cm [IQR 1–2]; MMI 2.3 cm [IQR 1.8–3.7]; p = 0.082).

Mean NWU differed significantly between the three patients groups classified for hypoattenuation factor 1 (mean NWU 3.0%), 2 (mean NWU 7.7%), and 3 (mean NWU 12.9%), p = 0.0001 for factor 1 vs. factor 2, p < 0.0001 for factor 2 vs. factor 3 (**Figure 2**). Accordingly, a significant positive correlation was demonstrated for a visually assessed elevated hypoattenuation factor and increased NWU (Spearmans rho = 0.6, p < 0.0001, 95%CI of rho: 0.50–0.71).

The median NEMMI score was significantly elevated in patients developing subsequent MMI during their clinical course (7.7 [IQR 3.9–11.2] vs. 13.6 [IQR 11.6–31.1]; p < 0.0001; **Figure 3**).

Based on univariable ROC curve analysis, a NEMMI score >10.5 identified MMI with high discriminative power (AUC: 0.84; sensitivity: 93.3%; specificity: 70.7%; Youden J: 0.64), which was higher compared to age (AUC: 0.76), NIHSS (AUC: 0.61), or core lesion volume (AUC: 0.80; **Figure 4**).

In multivariable logistic regression analysis, NEMMI score was significantly associated with MMI (odds ratio: 1.33; 95%CI: 1.13–1.56; p < 0.001). Further independent variables that were significantly associated with MMI were recanalization status (OR: 0.04; 95%CI: 0.003–0.39; p = 0.006), and time from onset to imaging (OR: 0.22; 95%CI: 0.06–0.78; p = 0.02; see **Table 2**). A logistic regression model consisting of the NEMMI score and recanalization showed the highest diagnostic power to predict MMI (AUC: 0.92; 95%CI: 0.85–0.96), equivalent to the model NEMMI score + age + recanalization (AUC 0.92; 95%CI 0.86–0.97), and compared to the clinical models NIHSS + age + recanalization (AUC 0.89; 95%CI 0.81–0.94), NIHSS + recanalization (AUC 0.84; 95%CI 0.76–0.9), NIHSS + age (AUC 0.78; 95% CI 0.69–0.85), and core lesion volume (AUC 0.80; 95% CI 0.72–0.87; **Figure 5**).

DISCUSSION

Early triage of patients at high risk of malignant infarction for decompressive hemicraniectomy is a clinical challenge



and commonly subject of interdisciplinary discussion. The major predicament is to either wait until neurological deterioration paralleled by radiological findings of mass effect and therefore secondary tissue damage are present or to intervene preemptively with the associated risks of an invasive, potentially non-justified treatment and hence secondary worse outcome. Our study demonstrates the high predictive value of the NEMMI score in admission NECT to identify patients at risk of subsequent malignant infarction with clinical deterioration, need of decompressive craniectomy or letal outcome secondary to mass effect of the edematous tissue.

Other studies suggested accurate prediction of MMI on the basis of multimodal stroke imaging at admission (12, 17, 20, 21). However, these prediction models rely on parameters retrieved from image post-processing. Although this can be achieved semi-automatically, the process is still time consuming, i.e., requires mostly manual segmentation of the cerebrospinal fluid compartment and CBV lesion volume, or quantification of parenchymal net water uptake (12, 17, 22). The latter was demonstrated to be highly associated with a malignant course,

but quick assessment is not feasible as it requires calculation of mean densities. An alternative MMI risk prediction model is the EDEMA (Enhanced Detection of Edema in Malignant Anterior Circulation Stroke) score, which is based on clinical and imaging variables within the first 24 h after stroke onset and has recently been externally validated in a Chinese patient cohort (20, 21). Nevertheless, the score cannot be assessed upon admission, as it incorporates features only available after admission CT, i.e., reperfusion therapy, blood glucose and presence of midline shift within 1 day after symptom onset. In contrast, the assessment of the NEMMI score is based on simple measurement of the early lesion extent and visual quantification of the lesion hypodensity in one axial slice of the initial NECT. This can be achieved bedside in the emergency department with conventional radiological image viewers, without the necessity of obtaining additional clinical and laboratory parameters.

This allows consideration of a potential surgical decompressive treatment at the same time as other critical decisions are made by the treating physicians, in particular triage for mechanical thrombectomy or intravenous lysis.





To our knowledge, this study is the first to describe a simple imaging-based method to predict MMI at an early stage that does not require extensive post-processing, or time-consuming measurements.

The ASPECT (Alberta Stroke Program Early CT) score is a well-established imaging parameter for hypodense lesion involvement in acute MCA occlusion (23–25). Nevertheless, since the subterritorial regions assessed by the ASPECT score are each of different size but still count equally in terms of cumulative region involvement, it is not a quantitative score with respect to volume of affected tissue. In contrast, the proposed NEMMI score incorporates direct lesion diameters independent of the subterritorial location. As severity of brain swelling with mass effect is directly linked to baseline volume of edematous brain tissue, a score based on lesion dimensions rather than region involvement may be of advantage for MMI prediction (12, 23, 26).

The NEMMI score showed a high diagnostic power to predict a malignant infarction (AUC: 0.84), similar to CTPderived core lesion volume (AUC: 0.76), or clinical parameters (NIHSS, AUC: 0.61; age, AUC: 0.76). If validated on a larger patient cohort, this would support rapid risk-stratification of early decompressive therapy in patients with MCA occlusion independent of the availability of advanced stroke imaging. Furthermore, the NEMMI score addresses a common problem in detection of early ischemic changes on admission NECT: subtleness of the early lesion in relation to the extent of the lesion. While lesions may be large in size, the hypodensity may only be subtle and vice versa. The intensity of the edema is incorporated by grading the hypoattenuation of the early lesion on a quasi-quantitative scale (3-point visual grading of

TABLE 2 | Multivariable logistic regression analysis for risk analysis of MMI.

	Odds ratio	95%CI	P-value
Age	0.93	0.87–1	0.055
NIHSS at admission	1.15	0.95-1.39	0.15
NEMMI	1.33	1.13-1.56	0.001
Time from onset to imaging	0.22	0.06-0.79	0.02
Core lesion volume	0.99	0.95-1.04	0.71
Successful recanalization	0.04	0–0.39	0.006

NIHSS, National Institute of Health Stroke Scale; Cl, confidence interval; NEMMI, nonenhanced malignant media infarction. the hypodense lesion, no/subtle/clear, 1–3). Other studies have demonstrated hypodense NECT changes in more than 50% of the MCA territory as independent predictor of MMI (8, 9). This method requires volumetry of the ischemic changes and does not take into account the degree of the density changes. Nevertheless, further studies are necessary to compare different predictors of MMI in NECT with respect to predictive quality and acquisition speed.

In this study, core lesion volume was not associated with MMI in multivariable logistic regression analysis (**Table 2**), which is in accordance with recent studies observing that core lesion volume is not associated with functional outcome in low ASPECTS patients (27). Second, core lesion volume did not modify the effect of mechanical thrombectomy according to a recent meta-analysis (28).





We do not suggest that an elevated NEMMI score alone would serve as an indication for decompressive surgery. The score may rather facilitate decision making as it provides information about both lesion extent and progression in an acute clinical setting with high availability, applicability, and acquisition speed.

Further internal and external validation of the NEMMI score is necessary in a large patient cohort. Moreover, future studies should investigate how treatment factors such as successful or failed recanalization impact the predictive power of the score (29).

A major limitation of the current study and the proposed NEMMI score is the potentially compromised interrater reliability of the visually assessed hypoattenuation factor. The visual differentiation between a subtle or clearly demarcated hypoattenuation depends on various factors, such as type of scanner, image quality, slice thickness etc. An exact range of intensities (i.e., Hounsfield units) is difficult to define and would have to be adjusted for these variables. In contrast, experienced radiologists (in our study >5 years clinical practice) can judge hypoattenuations in scans acquired on a familiar scanner and with a standardized imaging protocol in a timely manner with acceptable objectiveness. Visual ratings in our study correlated significantly with NWU as semi-automatic standard measurement of ionic/vasogenic tissue edema and hence tissue hypoattenuation (12). While also interrater reliability was robust for both the measurement of the lesions diameters and the hypoattenuation factor, future studies aiming to validate the score will have to quantify this effect among various raters. Important in this context will be the simultaneous semiautomatic assessment of the NWU as independent marker of lesion hypodensity in order to either calibrate the visual grading or to serve as an objective parameter for comparison (30).

Due to strict inclusion criteria and narrow definition of malignant infarction the current study relies on a small patient sample and has therefore limited generalizability. Validation studies on a larger patient cohort will have to focus on the exact validity of the NEMMI score for prediction of MMI, ideally with definition of thresholds dependent on subsequent

REFERENCES

- GBD 2016 Causes of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national agesex specific mortality for 264 causes of death, 1980-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet*. (2017) 390:1151–210. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32152-9
- Hacke W, Schwab S, Horn M, Spranger M, De Georgia M, von Kummer R. 'Malignant' middle cerebral artery territory infarction: clinical course and prognostic signs. *Arch Neurol.* (1996) 53:309–15. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1996.00550040037012
- Goyal M, Menon BK, van Zwam WH, Dippel DW, Mitchell PJ, Demchuk AM, et al. Endovascular thrombectomy after large-vessel ischaemic stroke: a metaanalysis of individual patient data from five randomised trials. *Lancet.* (2016) 387:1723–31. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00163-X
- Pallesen LP, Barlinn K, Puetz V. Role of decompressive craniectomy in ischemic stroke. Front Neurol. (2018) 9:1119. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01119
- Alexander P, Heels-Ansdell D, Siemieniuk R, Bhatnagar N, Chang Y, Fei Y, et al. Hemicraniectomy versus medical treatment with large MCA infarct: a review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open.* (2016) 6:e014390. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014390

endovascular therapy and degree of recanalization. In the prethrombectomy era, prevalence of MMI was up to 10% in patients with MCA occlusion and significantly reduced during the era of endovascular thrombectomy (2, 31, 32).

CONCLUSION

The NEMMI score is a quick and simple rating tool of early ischemic changes on non-enhanced admission CT without the necessity of multimodal imaging or time-consuming image postprocessing. If validated on a larger patient cohort, it may serve as surrogate marker for developing malignant edema and hence facilitate early triage of patients for invasive monitoring or decompressive hemicraniectomy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Hamburg Chamber of Physicians (Hamburg, Germany). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB and GB conceptualized and supervised the study, acquired and analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. SB acquired the data. JF and UH analyzed the data and critically reviewed the manuscript. LM, NH, TF, and RM critically reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Qureshi AI, Suarez JI, Yahia AM, Mohammad Y, Uzun G, Suri MF, et al. Timing of neurologic deterioration in massive middle cerebral artery infarction: a multicenter review. *Crit Care Med.* (2003) 31:272– 7. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200301000-00043
- Dasenbrock HH, Robertson FC, Vaitkevicius H, Aziz-Sultan MA, Guttieres D, Dunn IF, et al. Timing of decompressive hemicraniectomy for stroke: a nationwide inpatient sample analysis. *Stroke.* (2017) 48:704– 11. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.116.014727
- Kasner SE, Demchuk AM, Berrouschot J, Schmutzhard E, Harms L, Verro P, et al. Predictors of fatal brain edema in massive hemispheric ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. (2001) 32:2117–23. doi: 10.1161/hs0901.0 95719
- Krieger DW, Demchuk AM, Kasner SE, Jauss M, Hantson L. Early clinical and radiological predictors of fatal brain swelling in ischemic stroke. *Stroke.* (1999) 30:287–92. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.30.2.287
- Thomalla G, Hartmann F, Juettler E, Singer OC, Lehnhardt FG, Kohrmann M, et al. Prediction of malignant middle cerebral artery infarction by magnetic resonance imaging within 6 hours of symptom onset: a prospective multicenter observational study. *Ann Neurol.* (2010) 68:435– 45. doi: 10.1002/ana.22125

- Nawabi J, Flottmann F, Kemmling A, Kniep H, Leischner H, Sporns P, et al. Elevated early lesion water uptake in acute stroke predicts poor outcome despite successful recanalization when "tissue clock" and "time clock" are desynchronized. *Int J Stroke*. (2019) 2019:1747493019884522. doi: 10.1177/1747493019884522
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Scheibel A, Aigner A, Faizy TD, Hanning U, et al. Quantitative lesion water uptake in acute stroke computed tomography is a predictor of malignant infarction. *Stroke.* (2018) 49:1906– 12. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.020507
- Horsch AD, Dankbaar JW, Stemerdink TA, Bennink E, van Seeters T, Kappelle LJ, et al. Imaging findings associated with space-occupying edema in patients with large middle cerebral artery infarcts. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2016) 37:831– 7. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A4637
- Minnerup J, Broocks G, Kalkoffen J, Langner S, Knauth M, Psychogios MN, et al. Computed tomography-based quantification of lesion water uptake identifies patients within 4.5 hours of stroke onset: a multicenter observational study. *Ann Neurol.* (2016) 80:924–34. doi: 10.1002/ana.24818
- Potter CA, Vagal AS, Goyal M, Nunez DB, Leslie-Mazwi TM, Lev MH. CT for treatment selection in acute ischemic stroke: a code stroke primer. *Radiographics*. (2019) 39:1717–38. doi: 10.1148/rg.2019190142
- Bektas H, Wu TC, Kasam M, Harun N, Sitton CW, Grotta JC, et al. Increased blood-brain barrier permeability on perfusion CT might predict malignant middle cerebral artery infarction. *Stroke*. (2010) 41:2539– 44. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.591362
- Minnerup J, Wersching H, Ringelstein EB, Heindel W, Niederstadt T, Schilling M, et al. Prediction of malignant middle cerebral artery infarction using computed tomography-based intracranial volume reserve measurements. *Stroke*. (2011) 42:3403–9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.61 9734
- Ropper AH. Lateral displacement of the brain and level of consciousness in patients with an acute hemispheral mass. N Engl J Med. (1986) 314:953– 8. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198604103141504
- Wintermark M, Flanders AE, Velthuis B, Meuli R, van Leeuwen M, Goldsher D, et al. Perfusion-CT assessment of infarct core and penumbra: receiver operating characteristic curve analysis in 130 patients suspected of acute hemispheric stroke. *Stroke.* (2006) 37:979–85. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000209238.61459.39
- Ong CJ, Gluckstein J, Laurido-Soto O, Yan Y, Dhar R, Lee JM. Enhanced detection of edema in malignant anterior circulation stroke (EDEMA) score: a risk prediction tool. *Stroke*. (2017) 48:1969–72. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.016733
- Cheng Y, Wu S, Wang Y, Song Q, Yuan R, Wu Q, et al. External validation and modification of the EDEMA score for predicting malignant brain edema after acute ischemic stroke. *Neurocrit Care.* (2020) 32:104– 12. doi: 10.1007/s12028-019-00844-y
- Broocks G, Leischner H, Hanning U, Flottmann F, Faizy TD, Schon G, et al. Lesion age imaging in acute stroke: water uptake in CT versus DWI-FLAIR mismatch. Ann Neurol. (2020) 88:1144–52. doi: 10.1002/an a.25903
- Barber PA, Demchuk AM, Zhang J, Buchan AM. Validity and reliability of a quantitative computed tomography score in predicting outcome of hyperacute stroke before thrombolytic therapy. ASPECTS Study Group. Alberta Stroke Programme Early CT Score. *Lancet.* (2000) 355:1670– 4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02237-6

- Pexman JH, Barber PA, Hill MD, Sevick RJ, Demchuk AM, Hudon ME, et al. Use of the alberta stroke program early CT score (ASPECTS) for assessing CT scans in patients with acute stroke. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2001) 22:1534–42.
- van Horn N, Kniep H, Broocks G, Meyer L, Flottmann F, Bechstein M, et al. ASPECTS interobserver agreement of 100 investigators from the TENSION study. *Clin Neuroradiol.* (2021). doi: 10.1007/s00062-020-00988-x. [Epub ahead of print].
- Ostwaldt AC, Battey TWK, Irvine HJ, Campbell BCV, Davis SM, Donnan GA, et al. Comparative analysis of markers of mass effect after ischemic stroke. J Neuroimaging. (2018) 28:530–4. doi: 10.1111/jon.12525
- 27. McDonough R, Elsayed S, Faizy TD, Austein F, Sporns PB, Meyer L, et al. Computed tomography-based triage of extensive baseline infarction: ASPECTS and collaterals versus perfusion imaging for outcome prediction. *J Neurointerv Surg.* (2020). doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2020-016848. [Epub ahead of print].
- Campbell BCV, Majoie C, Albers GW, Menon BK, Yassi N, Sharma G, et al. Penumbral imaging and functional outcome in patients with anterior circulation ischaemic stroke treated with endovascular thrombectomy versus medical therapy: a meta-analysis of individual patient-level data. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18:46–55. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30314-4
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Hanning U, Schon G, Sporns P, Minnerup J, et al. Impact of endovascular recanalization on quantitative lesion water uptake in ischemic anterior circulation strokes. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2020) 40:437–45. doi: 10.1177/0271678X18823601
- Broocks G, Hanning U, Flottmann F, Schonfeld M, Faizy TD, Sporns P, et al. Clinical benefit of thrombectomy in stroke patients with low ASPECTS is mediated by oedema reduction. *Brain.* (2019) 142:1399–407. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz057
- Fuhrer H, Schonenberger S, Niesen WD, Seide S, Meyne J, Gerner ST, et al. Endovascular stroke treatment's impact on malignant type of edema (ESTIMATE). J Neurol. (2019) 266:223–31. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-9127-x
- 32. Sporns PB, Minnerup J, Warneke N, Dziewas R, Hanning U, Berkemeyer S, et al. Impact of the implementation of thrombectomy with stent retrievers on the frequency of hemicraniectomy in patients with acute ischemic stroke. *Clin Neuroradiol.* (2017) 27:193–7. doi: 10.1007/s00062-015-0478-8

Conflict of Interest: JF receives research support from EU, BMBF, BMWi, DFG, Acandis, Medtronic, Microvention, Stryker. He is consultant for Acandis, Codman, Cerenovus, Medtronic, Microvention, Penumbra, Phenox, and Stryker, holds Stock of Tegus Medical and has executive functions at Eppdata (all unrelated).

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Bechstein, Meyer, Breuel, Faizy, Hanning, van Horn, McDonough, Fiehler and Broocks. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Interaction Effect of Baseline Serum Glucose and Early Ischemic Water Uptake on the Risk of Secondary Hemorrhage After Ischemic Stroke

Jawed Nawabi^{1,2,3*}, Sarah Elsayed¹, Henriette Scholz¹, André Kemmling^{4,5}, Lukas Meyer¹, Helge Kniep¹, Matthias Bechstein¹, Fabian Flottmann¹, Tobias D. Faizy¹, Gerhard Schön⁶, Jens Fiehler¹, Uta Hanning¹ and Gabriel Broocks¹

¹ Department of Diagnostic and Interventional Neuroradiology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany, ² Department of Radiology (CCM), Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Campus Mitte, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Freie Universität Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ³ Berlin Institute of Health, BIH Biomedical Innovation Academy, Berlin, Germany, ⁴ University Medical Center Schleswig-Holstein, Campus Lübeck, Lübeck, Germany, ⁵ University Medical Center Marburg, Marburg University, Marburg, Germany, ⁶ Institute of Medical Biometry and Epidemiology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Bruce Campbell, The University of Melbourne, Australia

Reviewed by:

Felix Ng, University of Melbourne, Australia W. Taylor Kimberly, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

> *Correspondence: Jawed Nawabi jawed.nawabi@charite.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

> Received: 02 April 2021 Accepted: 02 June 2021 Published: 08 July 2021

Citation:

Nawabi J, Elsayed S, Scholz H, Kemmling A, Meyer L, Kniep H, Bechstein M, Flottmann F, Faizy TD, Schön G, Fiehler J, Hanning U and Broocks G (2021) Interaction Effect of Baseline Serum Glucose and Early Ischemic Water Uptake on the Risk of Secondary Hemorrhage After Ischemic Stroke. Front. Neurol. 12:690193. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.690193 **Background and Purpose:** Intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH) after mechanical thrombectomy (MT) for acute ischemic stroke (AIS) remains a major complication and its early prediction is of high relevance. Baseline serum glucose (BGL) is a known predictor of ICH, but its interaction with early ischemic changes remains uncertain. We hypothesized that BGL interacts with the effect of tissue water uptake on the occurrence of ICH.

Methods: Three hundred and thirty-six patients with acute ischemic stroke treated with MT were retrospectively analyzed. ICH was diagnosed within 24 h on non-enhanced CT (NECT) and classified according to the Heidelberg Bleeding Classification. Early tissue water homeostasis has been assessed using quantitative lesion net water uptake (NWU) on admission CT. Multivariate logistic regression was used to identify predictors of ICH.

Results: One hundred and seven patients fulfilled the inclusion criteria of which 37 (34.6%) were diagnosed with ICH. Patients with ICH had a significant higher BGL on admission (median 177 mg/dl, IQR: 127–221.75, P < 0.001). In patients with low BGL (<120 mg/dl), higher NWU was associated with 1.34-fold increased likelihood of ICH, while higher NWU was associated with a 2.08-fold increased likelihood of ICH in patients with a high BGL (>200 mg/dl). In multivariable logistic regression analysis, BGL (OR: 1.02, 95% CI: 1.00–1.04, P = 0.01) and NWU (OR: 2.32, 95% CI: 1.44–3.73, P < 0.001) were significantly and independently associated with ICH, showing a significant interaction (P = 0.04).

Conclusion: A higher degree of early tissue water uptake and high admission BGL were both independent predictors of ICH. Higher BGL was significantly associated with accelerated effects of NWU on the likelihood of ICH. Although a clear causal relationship remains speculative, stricter BGL control and monitoring may be tested to reduce the risk of ICH in patients undergoing thrombectomy.

Keywords: glucose, edema, stroke, intracerebral hemorrhage, outcome

45

INTRODUCTION

Large randomized controlled trials provide efficacy of mechanical thrombectomy (MT) over medical treatment in patients with acute ischemic stroke (AIS) (1, 2). Irrespective of this success, intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH) remains a common and challenging complication with a negative impact on functional outcome. It is these very trials that have further verified a steady rate of symptomatic intracerebral hemorrhage (sICH) with 4.4% after MT when compared with intravenous thrombolysis (1). In addition, also asymptomatic ICH (aICH) has proven to have a negative impact on long-term functional outcome (3-6). Therefore, evaluating the risk factors for ICH becomes an important issue for continuously improving the efficacy of MT in patients with AIS. In patients with AIS, hyperglycemia has been a long recognized and frequent finding with up to 50% (7, 8) and repeatedly associated with increased bleeding events after thrombolytic therapy (IVT) and poor functional outcome (7-10). Furthermore, a linear relationship between increasing serum glucose and ischemic brain edema has been elucidated (11) and the latter is an independent risk factor for ICH after successful MT. The current state of literature provides no sufficient data for the mutual impact of serum glucose and early ischemic brain edema on the risk of ICH in patients with AIS (12-14). Utilizing the widely accepted Heidelberg Bleeding Classification (15), the objectives of the present study were to analyze the mutual impact of serum glucose and ischemic brain edema on the risk of ICH in patients with AIS after successful MT and, in particular, to investigate whether different glucose levels modify the effect of early edema formation on clinical outcome. We hypothesized that baseline serum glucose levels interact with the effect of early ischemic brain edema on functional outcome.

METHODS

Patients

Data of an anonymized cohort of 107 consecutive AIS patients with occlusion in the anterior circulation were retrospectively evaluated, in whom successful MT (TICI 2b/3) was performed (Figure 1). Patients were admitted between June 2015 and March 2018 in the University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf (n = 336). Data were analyzed after ethical board approval, and informed consent was waived by the institutional review board. The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author in accordance with the institution's data security regulations upon reasonable request. The patients were screened consecutively based on the following a priori defined inclusion criteria: (1) acute ischemic stroke with occlusion of the middle cerebral artery (MCA) or terminal internal carotid artery (ICA), (2) initially performed multimodal CT protocol with CT angiography (CTA) and perfusion CT (CTP), (3) known time from symptom onset to imaging <6 h, (4) follow-up CT (FU-NECT) within 24 h after admission imaging, (5) NIHSS score above 3, (6) documented NIHSS after 24 h and modified Ranking Scale (mRS) after 90 days, and (7) absence of pre-existing thromboembolic or hemodynamic infarctions in admission non-enhanced CT (NECT) within



24 h of stroke symptom onset. Baseline clinical characteristics including baseline serum glucose (BGL) and demographic information were filtered from the medical records. The follow-up CT (FCT) was analyzed for secondary ICH.

Image Acquisitions

All CT scans were performed on 256 slice scanners (Philips iCT 256) with the following imaging parameters: NECT with 120 kV, 280–320 mA, 5.0 mm slice reconstruction; CTA: 100–120 kV, 260–300 mA, 1.0 mm slice reconstruction, 5 mm MIP reconstruction with 1 mm increment, 0.6-mm collimation, 0.8 pitch, H20f soft kernel, 80 ml highly iodinated contrast medium and 50 ml NaCl flush at 4 ml/s; scan starts 6 s after bolus tracking at the level of the ascending aorta; CTP: 80 kV, 200–250 mA, 5 mm slice reconstruction (max. 10 mm), slice sampling rate 1.50 s (min. 1.33 s), scan time 45 s (max. 60 s), biphasic injection with 30 ml (max. 40 ml) of highly iodinated contrast medium with 350 mg iodine/ml (max. 400 mg/ml) injected with at least 4 ml/s (max. 6 ml/s) followed by 30 ml sodium chloride chaser bolus. All perfusion datasets were inspected for quality and excluded in case of severe motion artifacts.

Image Analysis

For image analysis, anonymized CT imaging scans were evaluated independently by two radiologists with 5 (JN) and 7 (GB) years of dedicated neuroradiology experience, blinded to all clinical and imaging information except stroke side.

Glucose and Edema for Secondary Hemorrhage in Stroke

Collateral Score

CTA collaterals were assessed independently on admission intracranial CTA MIPs and scored according to the grading system of Souza et al. (16) into grades 0 to 4: CS: 0 = absent collaterals in >50% of an MCA M2 branch (superior or inferior division) territory; 1 = diminished collaterals in >50% of an MCA M2 branch territory; 2 = diminished collaterals in <50% of an MCA M2 branch territory; 3 = collaterals equal to the contralateral hemisphere; and 4 = increased collaterals. In addition, collateral grades were grouped into good (collateral score 3–4), partial (collateral score 2), and poor (collateral score 0–1) (14). Calculated Cohen's kappa for interrater reliability was 0.91. Collaterals were dichotomized into poor collaterals as grade 0–2 and good collaterals as 3-4 (14).

Quantification of Ischemic Brain Edema

Anonymized admission CT imaging scans were segmented semimanually using commercially available software (Analyze 11.0, Biomedical Imaging Resource, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA) to derive net water uptake (NWU). The edematous proportion of the hypoattenuated ischemic lesion (% water uptake) was quantified using CT densitometry as previously published (17, 18). In brief, edematous volumetric changes of ischemic lesions due to water uptake were directly quantified by measurements of relative hypoattenuation (Equation 1). Visually evident edematous hypoattenuation was identified as infarct core lesion for further analysis, and a region of interest (ROI) was placed in this infarct core lesion (Dischemic). A symmetric ROI was mirrored automatically within the normal tissue of the contralateral hemisphere in order to obtain the density of the normal tissue prior to the infarction (Dnormal) (19-21). CT perfusion was used in addition to aid ROI definition of the early ischemic core by simultaneously presenting cerebral blood volume (CBV) parameter maps at a window between 0 and 6 ml/100 ml (19-22). ROIs were segmented with semiautomatic edge detection and sampled between 20 and 80 HU as described by Broocks et al. (19-22). Inaccuracies were corrected in consensus reading, if necessary. Relative NWU was calculated based on *D*_{ischemic} and *D*normal according to Equation 1.

Equation 1 (19–21):

% water uptake =
$$\left(1 - \frac{Dischemic}{Dnormal}\right) \times 100$$
 (1)

Intracranial Hemorrhage Classification

ICH diagnosis and classification was performed on FU-NECT according to the Heidelberg Bleeding Classification (15). All patients with a hyperdense phenomena without mass effect on first follow-up CT at 24h received a minimum second follow-up CT for evaluation of contrast extravasation. Contrast extravasation was classified with a disappearance with 24h on second FU-NECT (23).

Statistical Analysis

Data were tested for normality and homogeneity of variance using histogram plots and Kolmogorov–Smirnov-tests. Absolute and relative frequencies are given for categorical data. Median and interquartile range (IQR) are given for univariable distribution of metric variables. Patients with ICH vs. without ICH were compared by Mann-Whitney U-test for metric outcome variables and by chi-square test for categorical outcome variables (Table 1). Kappa statistic and calculated Cohen's k were used for interrater reliability measurement. ROC analysis was assessed to analyze the diagnostic performance for prediction of ICH after successful MT using increasing discrimination thresholds of independent predictors and cutoffs determined according to the Youden index (24, 25). The association between clinical and radiological parameters and ICH in patients after successful MT was assessed by univariate logistic regression analysis. For multivariate logistic regression analysis, a model with forward selection was used to identify significant variables for developing ICH (inclusion criterion: P-value of the score test ≤ 0.05 , exclusion criterion: *P*-value of the likelihood ratio test >0.1) (Table 2). Given for selected variables are odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI and P-value of likelihood ratio test. For non-selected variables, P-value of score test is displayed. The impact of BGL on the association of NWU and occcurence of ICH was tested using logistic regression analysis. The OR for NWU increase was assessed for patients with five different levels of blood glucose based on the relative distribution of BGL (Table 3). Finally, to further analyze the relationship of early edema formation and BGL, we trichotomized patients into three groups based on the distribution of NWU within the patient cohort. The interaction term for trichotomized NWU and BGL was calculated and plotted (Figure 2). A statistically significant difference was accepted at a P-value of <0.05. No adjustment for mutlitple testing was performed as the analyses being explorative in nature. Analyses were performed using MedCalc (version 11.5.1.0; Mariakerke, Belgium) and Stata/SE 13.0 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

RESULTS

Patients

Out of 336 patients, 107 consecutive patients were included according to the inclusion criteria [median age 76 years (IQR: 65.0-81.0) and 51.4% females] with 63 patients (58.9%) having received intravenous thrombolysis before MT. An example is illustrated in Figure 3. Thirty-seven patients (34.6%) had an ICH within 24 h after MT according to the Heidelberg Bleeding Classification with sICH identified in 19 patients (17.8%). Admission NIHSS was significantly higher in patients with ICH (P = 0.005). Also, both significantly higher NIHSS after 24 h and at discharge were observed in patients with ICH (P < 0.001). Further patient characteristics are summarized in Table 1. A history of diabetes was present in 20 (18.7%) patients with no statistical differences between patients with and without ICH (P = 0.63). The median blood glucose level at admission was 134 mg/dl (IQR: 110.0-178.5) with significant higher levels in patients with ICH 177 mg/dl (IQR: 127-221.75) vs. 126 mg/dl (IQR: 106–147) in patients without ICH (P < 0.001). CT-based derived parameters of quantitative NWU and collateral score were significantly different for both groups with a higher NWU in patients with ICH (13%; IQR: 11-16%) and lower collateral

 TABLE 1 | Comparison of demographic, clinical, and radiological characteristics between patients with intracerebral hemorrhage and those with no intracerebral hemorrhage after successful mechanical recanalization.

Baseline characteristics	All (<i>n</i> = 107)	Without ICH $(n = 70)$	With ICH $(n = 37)$	P-value
bertension, n (%) 60 (56.1) abetes mellitus, n (%) 20 (18.7) jal fibrillation, n (%) 39 (36.4) hoking, n (%) 15 (16.9) slipidemia, n (%) 23 (21.5) pod glucose (mg/dl), median (IQR) 135 (110.25; 178.5)		75 (64.8; 80.0)	79 (69; 84)	0.074
Female, n (%)	55 (51.4)	34 (48.6)	21 (56.8)	0.420
Hypertension, n (%)	60 (56.1)	36 (51.4)	24 (64.9)	0.183
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)			6 (16.2)	0.633
Atrial fibrillation, n (%)			20 (54.1)	0.006
Smoking, <i>n</i> (%)	15 (16.9)	10 (18.2)	5 (14.7)	0.670
Dyslipidemia, n (%)	23 (21.5)	16 (22.9)	7 (18.9)	0.637
Blood glucose (mg/dl), median (IQR)	icose (mg/dl), median (IQR) 135 (110.25; 178.5)		177 (127; 221.75)	<0.001
CT parameters, median (IQR)				
• ASPECTS	8 (6; 9)	8 (6.0; 9.0)	7 (5.5; 8.0)	0.02
Collateral score 2 (1.0; 3.0)		2 (2.0; 3.0)	1 (1.0;2.0)	<0.001
• Net water uptake (NWU) 0.04 (0.00; 0.1)		0.05 (0.03; 0.09)	0.13 (0.1; 0.16)	<0.001
Stroke cause, <i>n</i> (%)				0.054
Cardioembolic	56 (52.3)	33 (47.1)	23 (62.2)	
Large-artery atherosclerosis	42 (39.3)	28 (40.0)	14 (37.8)	
Others	9 (8.4)	9 (12.9)	O (O)	
Procedure process and results				
 General anesthesia, n (%) 	75.0 (70.1)	52 (74.3)	14 (37.8)	0.193
 Intravenous thrombolysis, n (%) 	63 (58.9)	26 (37.1)	19 (51.4)	0.250
• OTI (h), median (IQR)	2:35 (1:06; 3:44)	2:24 (0:59; 3:42)	2:40 (2:07; 3:51)	0.438
 ITR (h), median (IQR) 	1:47 (1:23; 2:03)	1:40 (1:19; 1:58)	1:53 (1:33; 2:10)	0.243
Passes of retriever	2 (1; 2)	2 (1; 2)	2 (1; 3)	0.071
 mTICI (2b, 3 grouped), n (%) 	107 (100)	70 (100)	37 (100)	0.486
Clinical parameters				
 NIHSS on admission 	13 (12; 19)	15 (12.0; 18.0)	19 (16.0; 20.0)	0.005
 NIHSS after 24 h 	3 (5; 20)	10 (4.0; 16.0)	19 (13.0; 34.5)	<0.001
 NIHSS at discharge 	1.5 (3; 14)	5 (1.0; 9.8)	14 (7.5; 18.5)	<0.001
90-day mRS, median (IQR)	4 (3.2; 4.0)	3 (2.5; 3.6)	5 (4.3; 5.3)	<0.001
• 0–1, <i>n</i> (%)	28 (28.0)	25 (37.3)	3 (9.1)	0.003
• 2–3, n (%)	15 (15)	11 (16.4)	4 (12.1)	0.572
• 4–6, <i>n</i> (%)	55 (51.4)	29 (44.6)	26 (78.8)	0.001

ICH, intracerebral hemorrhage; IQR, interquartile range; TICI, thrombolysis in cerebral infarction; NIHSS, National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale; TICI, thrombolysis in cerebral infarction; INR, international normalized ratio.

score (1; IQR: 1–2) vs. lower NWU (5%; IQR: 3–9%) and higher collateral score (2; IQR: 2–3) in patients without ICH. Baseline Alberta Stroke Program Early CT (ASPECTS) was statistically different between both groups, with ASPECTS 7 in patients with ICH (IQR: 5.5–8) and ASPECTS 8 in patients without ICH (IQR: 6–9, P = 0.02). Unfavorable clinical outcome at 90 days (mRS score 4–6) was higher in patients with ICH (78.8 vs. 44.6%, P = 0.001). Excellent clinical outcome (mRS score 0–1) at 90 days was higher in patients without ICH (37.3 vs. 9.1% with ICH, P = 0.003). **Figure 4** illustrates the relationship of BGL and NWU on the occurrence of ICH.

Prediction of ICH

Univariate ROC analysis was performed to identify the diagnostic accuracy of independent variables of univariate

TABLE 2 | Multivariable analysis of predictors of secondary hemorrhage after successful mechanical recanalization.

Serum glucose (mg/dl)	OR for ICH	95% CI	P-value
Net water uptake (NWU; per %)	2.31	1.33–3.73	< 0.001
Collateral score (ref: poor)	0.05	0.008-0.27	0.0007
Blood glucose (mg/dl)	1.02	1.00-1.04	0.01

Non-significant independent variables are not displayed. Given for selected variables are odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI) and P-value of likelihood ratio test. ICH, intracerebral hemorrhage.

logistic regression. NWU with an optimal cutoff above 8% predicted ICH with the highest discriminative power [area under the curve (AUC): 0.90, 95% CI: 0.82–0.95; specificity 74.3%,

TABLE 3 | The association of NWU and occurrence of secondary hemorrhage after successful mechanical recanalization, mediated by different baseline serum glucose levels.

OR for NWU (per %)	95% CI	P-value
1.34	1.00-1.79	0.05
1.39	1.09–1.78	0.008
1.63	1.24-2.13	0.0005
1.87	1.22-2.87	0.004
2.08	1.10-3.92	0.02
	1.34 1.39 1.63 1.87	1.34 1.00–1.79 1.39 1.09–1.78 1.63 1.24–2.13 1.87 1.22–2.87

Odds ratios (OR) for net water uptake (NWU) given for selected levels of serum blood glucose with 95% confidence interval (CI) and P-value of likelihood ratio test.

sensitivity 97.3%, P < 0.0001], followed by collateral score with an optimal cutoff below 1 (AUC: 0.81, 95% CI: 0.72–0.89; specificity 84.4%, sensitivity 67.7%, P < 0.0001) and admission serum glucose with an optimal cutoff above 147 mmol/L (AUC: 0.82, 95% CI: 0.73–0.89; specificity 74.3%, sensitivity 75.7%, P < 0.011; **Figure 5**).

Logistic regression analysis was performed to assess the association between various clinical and radiological parameters and the incidence of ICH after successful MT. At univariate logistic regression analysis, ICH was predicted by higher admission serum glucose (OR 1.01 per median, 95% CI: 1.00-1.02, P = 0.048), lower collateral score (OR 0.37 per median, 95%) CI: 0.20–0.67, *P* < 0.001), high admission NIHSS (OR: 1.08, 95% CI: 1.01–1.15, P = 0.027), low ASPECTS (OR: 0.78, 95% CI: 0.61– 0.99, *P* = 0.041), and higher early NWU (OR: 1.56, 95% CI: 1.31– 1.86, P < 0.0001). In multivariable logistic regression analysis, a higher degree of NWU (adjusted OR 2.31 per %, 95% CI: 1.33-3.73, P = 0.0006), a lower collateral score (adjusted OR 0.05 per median, 95% CI: 0.008–0.27, *P* = 0.0007), a lower ASPECTS (OR: 2.71, 95% CI: 1.31–5.61, P = 0.007), and a higher BGL (adjusted OR 1.02 per median, 95% CI: 1.00–1.04, P = 0.01) were identified as independent predictors of ICH after successful MT (Table 2). Higher admission NIHSS was not significantly associated with ICH (OR: 1.06, 95% CI: 0.94–1.2, *P* = 0.35).

Interaction of NWU and BGL

We tested how the likelihood for ICH by increasing NWU is associated with concordant increasing levels of BGL. For patients with lower BGL (<134 mg/dl, median), higher NWU was associated with a 1.39-fold likelihood for ICH, while for patients with higher BGL (>134 mg/dl), NWU increase was associated with 1.63-fold likelihood for ICH. For patients with very high BGL (>170 mg/dl), a NWU increase was associated with a 2.08-fold likelihood for ICH (**Table 3**). Finally, NWU was trichotomized into low (<7%), intermediate (7–12%), and high NWU (>12%). A higher trichotomized NWU was significantly associated with increased likelihood of ICH (OR: 9.41, 95% CI: 3.81–23.27, *P* < 0.001). The interaction term between NWU and BGL was significant (OR: 1.03, 95% CI: 1.01–1.06, *P* = 0.04; **Figure 2**).

Subanalysis for Patients With Intermediate and High NWU but Low BGL

Finally, patients with intermediate and high NWU (>7%) but low BGL (<134 mg/dl, median) were investigated. Comparing these patients to patients with higher BGL (>134 mg/dl), there were no significant differences in age, ASPECTS, NIHSS, or time from onset to imaging. However, patients with intermediate and high NWU but low BGL showed a significantly lower collateral score (1.4 vs. 2.2, P = 0.02).

DISCUSSION

Higher admission BGL as an independent predictor for developing an ICH after successful ET in AIS paired with the association between ischemic edema is the main finding of our study. Furthermore, the effect of NWU on the occurrence of ICH was increased in patients with higher BGL suggesting a specific interrelation between early edema formation, as a sign of blood-brain barrier injury, and BGL as a potential "accelerator" of blood-brain barrier injury. This finding was accompanied by elevated early ischemic edema and poor collateral score as a second independent predictor for ICH. BGL and NWU showed a significant interaction indicating that the slopes for likelihood of ICH with increasing BGL differ significantly according to the degree of NWU, as illustrated in Figure 2. In patients with very low early NWU, BGL increase did not alter the risk of ICH, while a BGL increase in patients with higher NWU resulted in a significant increase in likelihood for ICH. The specific interaction between early edema formation and serum glucose levels and its impact on the occurrence of ICH has not yet been described and might be a hint of a specific pathophysiological association. It has been observed that elevated levels of BGL are associated with aggravated edema formation (13), as a sign of blood-barrier injury, and that elevated levels of early edema formation increased the risk of secondary hemorrhage (12). Hence, the coexistence of high BGL and high NWU might be a constellation of very high risk for ICH and should be a hint for clinicians to indicate stricter monitoring and consider adjustment of glucose levels. Moreover, the findings could enrich for patients to study experimental treatments with antiedematous drugs, such as glyburide. Glyburide, an antidiabetic drug, is an inhibitor of the sulfonylurea receptor 1 and transient receptor potential melastatin 4 (SUR1-TRPM4) (26). The application of glyburide is safe and feasible and has been described for preventing edematous brain edema (27). In previous pre-clinical studies using rodent models with malignant edema, inhibition of SUR1 resulted in lower ischemic lesion volume, reduced mortality, and better functional outcome (28). Supporting these pre-clinical data, retrospective analyses on patients with diabetes and AIS observed that patients with medication of sulfonylurea drugs had an improved clinical outcome and lower rates of hemorrhagic transformation (HT) (29).

The nature of the association between acute elevated levels of admission glucose and increased risk of ICH has already been investigated in animal models of AIS as well as in both







FIGURE 3 Illustrative example of a patient with baseline glucose and water uptake and secondary ICH after successful thrombectomy. Illustration of a patient with high early baseline blood glucose and high ischemic water uptake, with subsequent secondary intracerebral hemorrhage after thrombectomy. On the left, patient admission images are displayed with admission non-enhanced CT and ROIs for ischemic hypoattenuation (*D*_{ischemic}) and on the contralateral side (*D*_{normal}) as well as relative CBV (rCBV). The rCBV map (ml per 100 ml) is inferred from a quantitative assessment of the partial volume averaging in each pixel. In the middle, follow-up non-enhanced CT images at 24 h are displayed with secondary intracerebral hemorrhage (parenchymal hematoma; grade 1). On the right, follow-up non-enhanced CT images at 48 h are displayed with secondary intracerebral hemorrhage (parenchymal hematoma; grade 2). rCBV, relative cerebral blood volume; NECT, non-enhanced CT; PH1, parenchymal hematoma grade 1; PH2, parenchymal hematoma grade 2.





FIGURE 5 | Receiver operating curve (ROC) analysis for the prediction of secondary hemorrhage after successful mechanical recanalization. ASPECTS, Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score; AUC, area under the curve; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; NWU, net water uptake; BGL, baseline glucose level.

retrospective and prospective clinical imaging studies (7, 30– 33). Previous studies evaluating the risk and rates of ICH have been hampered by the lack of consensus definitions

for bleeding events (31). The recently introduced Heidelberg Bleeding Classification provides a standardized and reproducible tool and basis for evaluating further treatment strategies (34). Nevertheless, our study is methodically limited to the important fact that a systematic approach in classifying symptomatic ICH is missing which should be addressed in future clinical studies with larger patient cohorts. The quantitative stratification of ischemic brain edema via NWU demonstrates the direct relation of hypoattenuation in CT to the percentage of volume of water uptake and has been validated with excellent sensitivity and reproducibility since (19, 20, 35). Recent findings of our study group give two major explanatory reasons for poor clinical outcome after MT and the risk of an ICH. Firstly, poor clinical outcome has been associated with increased levels of ischemic edema and further associated with poor collateral score and elevated BGL (12, 13, 36). Secondly, collaterals and the degree of NWU both mediate tissue vulnerability and the risk for an ICH (12). In line with this, the recently published study of Hao et al. also reported poor collateral circulation as an independent predictor for ICH (37). Yet, the relationship of NWU and hyperglycemia with respect to the occurrence of ICH after successful MT remains unknown. The pathophysiology adds support to our hypothesis as both elevated BGL and ischemic edema share a common pathway of impaired blood-brain barrier (BBB) with the risk of increased tissue vulnerability: ICH after MT occurs due to a reperfusion syndrome from rupture of necrotic vessel walls and increased BBB permeability due to prolonged ischemia (38, 39). By mediating both oxidative stress and inflammation response in vessel walls, hyperglycemia is also associated with increased reperfusion injury (40-42). The aggravated breakdown of the

BBB results in further edema formation and increased infarct volume (8, 43). Thorén et al. have investigated the impact of hyperglycemia on admission as an independent risk factor for cerebral edema in patients with AIS treated with IVT and obtained the extent of ischemic edema with a visual rating system (11). This study is in concordance with our previous findings that proved that the degree of early edema formation using a quantitative imaging biomarker is a risk factor for secondary ICH, possibly potentiated by increased levels of BGL (12, 38, 39). Taken all together, these independent variables may provide a closed loop that provides a target for therapeutic intervention to disrupt the cycle. Further clinical studies analyzing the mediated effect of NWU on the risk of ICH by increased levels of BGL are therefore needed. Also, potential beneficial treatment effects from the control of hyperglycemia in patients with AIS have been described numerously (44), yet established treatment methods are still under investigation. Although results from experimental studies support a causal relationship between hyperglycemia and poor functional outcome after stroke, multicenter trial data presented in the SHINE, GIST-UK, or THIS trial do not yet support intervention with insulin (45-47). In the future, clinical trials might consider combining reperfusion with further adjuvant treatment in patients with AIS and elevated levels of admission glucose. Yet, standardized methods to monitor possible effects on ischemic tissue edema are still missing. In this respect, quantitative NWU might provide a feasible imaging biomarker to monitor the effects of these drugs in prospective clinical trials, subject to the condition of a confirmed mediated effect of NWU by BGL (26, 27, 48).

Several limitations of our study deserve attention. First, for the assessment of NWU measurements, ROIs were drawn by a quantitative edge detection tool and boundaries adjusted manually if necessary, for example, in cases of anatomical asymmetry which may hamper NWU quantification. However, semiautomatic methods of Hounsfield unit value thresholding have been used in our previous studies with excellent reproducibly and partially mitigate a method bias (17, 21). Interrater reliability may further help to augment the accuracy of NWU measurements in the future. Additionally, the lack of information on the longitudinal course of glucose levels upon FU-NECT and the undocumented use of blood glucose-lowering drugs limit the generalizability of our results. Furthermore, the purpose of this study was to predict secondary ICH without further differentiating into symptomatic or asymptomatic ICH.

REFERENCES

- Goyal M, Menon BK, van Zwam WH, Dippel DWJ, Mitchell PJ, Demchuk AM, et al. Endovascular thrombectomy after large-vessel ischaemic stroke: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from five randomised trials. *Lancet*. (2016) 387:1723–31. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00163-X
- Phan K, Zhao DF, Phan S, Huo YR, Mobbs RJ, Rao PJ, et al. Endovascular therapy including thrombectomy for acute ischemic stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis with trial sequential analysis. *J Clin Neurosci.* (2016) 29:38–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2015.12.025

As it has been observed in both retrospective and prospective studies that asymptomatic ICH is also associated with worse functional outcome, we nevertheless consider our observation to be of importance (4–6). In light of these findings, it is relevant to investigate the risk factors for any ICH, to finally improve the prevention of ICH in patients undergoing MT. Finally, according to the retrospective nature of the study, no causality assumptions can be inferred from the obtained data.

CONCLUSIONS

Our study confirmed that higher BGL increased the likelihood for ICH, but depends on the degree of early ischemic edema. Although a causal relationship between NWU and higher BGL and ICH remains speculative and more data are needed, specific interactions between BGL and NWU may be tested as a further therapeutic target.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: According to the institution's strict data security regulations the entire datasets are not publicly available. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to jawed.nawabi@charite.de.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ärztekammer Hamburg WF-035/18. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

JN is grateful for being part of the BIH Charité—Digital Clinician Scientist Program funded by Charité—Universitaetsmedizin Berlin, the Berlin Institute of Health and the German Research Foundation (DFG, Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft).

- Jiang F, Zhao W, Wu C, Zhang Z, Li C, Che R, et al. Asymptomatic intracerebral hemorrhage may worsen clinical outcomes in acute ischemic stroke patients undergoing thrombectomy. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. (2019) 28:1752–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2019.02.006
- Hao Y, Liu W, Wang H, Zi W, Yang D, Wang W, et al. Prognosis of asymptomatic intracranial hemorrhage after endovascular treatment. J Neurointerv Surg. (2019) 11:123–6. doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2018-013848
- 5. Constant Dit Beaufils P, Preterre C, De Gaalon S, Labreuche J, Mazighi M, Di Maria F, et al. Prognosis and risk factors associated with asymptomatic intracranial hemorrhage after endovascular treatment of large vessel occlusion

stroke: a prospective multicenter cohort study. *Eur J Neurol.* (2021) 28:229–37. doi: 10.1111/ene.14539

- Nawabi J, Kniep H, Broocks G, Faizy TD, Schön G, Thomalla G, et al. Clinical relevance of asymptomatic intracerebral hemorrhage post thrombectomy depends on angiographic collateral score. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2020) 40:1599–607. doi: 10.1177/0271678X19871253
- Paciaroni M, Agnelli G, Caso V, Corea F, Ageno W, Alberti A, et al. Acute hyperglycemia and early hemorrhagic transformation in ischemic stroke. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* (2009) 28:119–23. doi: 10.1159/000223436
- Kruyt ND, Biessels GJ, DeVries JH, Roos YB. Hyperglycemia in acute ischemic stroke: pathophysiology and clinical management. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2010) 6:145–55. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2009.231
- Elgebaly MM, Ogbi S, Li W, Mezzetti EM, Prakash R, Johnson MH, et al. Neurovascular injury in acute hyperglycemia and diabetes: a comparative analysis in experimental stroke. *Transl Stroke Res.* (2011) 2:391– 8. doi: 10.1007/s12975-011-0083-3
- Hafez S, Coucha M, Bruno A, Fagan SC, Ergul A. Hyperglycemia, acute ischemic stroke, and thrombolytic therapy. *Transl Stroke Res.* (2014) 5:442– 53. doi: 10.1007/s12975-014-0336-z
- Thorén M, Azevedo E, Dawson J, Egido JA, Falcou A, Ford GA, et al. Predictors for cerebral edema in acute ischemic stroke treated with intravenous thrombolysis. *Stroke.* (2017) 48:2464–71. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.018223
- Nawabi J, Kniep H, Schön G, Flottmann F, Leischner H, Kabiri R, et al. Hemorrhage after endovascular recanalization in acute stroke: lesion extent, collaterals and degree of ischemic water uptake mediate tissue vulnerability. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:569. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00569
- Broocks G, Kemmling A, Aberle J, Kniep H, Bechstein M, Flottmann F, et al. Elevated blood glucose is associated with aggravated brain edema in acute stroke. J Neurol. (2020) 267:440–8. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09601-9
- Kim J-T, Liebeskind DS, Jahan R, Menon BK, Goyal M, Nogueira RG, et al. Impact of hyperglycemia according to the collateral status on outcomes in mechanical thrombectomy. *Stroke.* (2018) 49:2706– 14. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.022167
- von Kummer R, Broderick JP, Campbell BCV, Demchuk A, Goyal M, Hill MD, et al. The Heidelberg bleeding classification. *Stroke*. (2015) 46:2981– 6. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.010049
- Souza LCS, Yoo AJ, Chaudhry ZA, Payabvash S, Kemmling A, Schaefer PW, et al. Malignant CTA collateral profile is highly specific for large admission DWI infarct core and poor outcome in acute stroke. *AJNR*. (2012) 33:1331– 6. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A2985
- Broocks G, Hanning U, Flottmann F, Schönfeld M, Faizy TD, Sporns P, et al. Clinical benefit of thrombectomy in stroke patients with low ASPECTS is mediated by oedema reduction. *Brain.* (2019) 142:1399– 407. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz057
- Broocks G, Leischner H, Hanning U, Flottmann F, Faizy TD, Schön G, et al. Lesion age imaging in acute stroke: water uptake in CT versus DWI-FLAIR mismatch. Ann Neurol. (2020) 88:1144–52. doi: 10.1002/ana.25903
- Broocks G, Faizy TD, Flottmann F, Schön G, Langner S, Fiehler J, et al. Subacute infarct volume with edema correction in computed tomography is equivalent to final infarct volume after ischemic stroke: improving the comparability of infarct imaging endpoints in clinical trials. *Invest Radiol.* (2018) 53:472–6. doi: 10.1097/RLI.000000000000475
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Scheibel A, Aigner A, Faizy T, Hanning U, et al. Quantitative lesion water uptake in acute stroke computed tomography is a predictor of malignant infarction. *Stroke.* (2018) 49:1906–12. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.020507
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Ernst M, Faizy TD, Minnerup J, Siemonsen S, et al. Computed tomography-based imaging of voxel-wise lesion water uptake in ischemic brain. *Invest Radiol.* (2018) 53:207–13. doi: 10.1097/RLI.00000000000430
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Hanning U, Schön G, Sporns P, Minnerup J, et al. Impact of endovascular recanalization on quantitative lesion water uptake in ischemic anterior circulation strokes. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2020) 40:437–45. doi: 10.1177/0271678X18823601
- 23. Payabvash S, Qureshi MH, Khan SM, Khan M, Majidi S, Pawar S, et al. Differentiating intraparenchymal hemorrhage from contrast extravasation on post-procedural noncontrast CT scan in acute ischemic

stroke patients undergoing endovascular treatment. *Neuroradiology*. (2014) 56:737-44. doi: 10.1007/s00234-014-1381-8

- Powers DMW, Ailab. Evaluation: From Precision, Recall and F-Measure to ROC, Informedness, Markedness and Correlation. (2011). Available online at: http://www.bioinfo.in/contents.php?id=51 (accessed January 30, 2019).
- Ünal I. Defining an Optimal Cut-Point Value in ROC Analysis: An Alternative Approach. Available online at: https://www.semanticscholar. org/paper/Defining-an-Optimal-Cut-Point-Value-in-ROC-An-Unal/ 72178c2a8d7c42b2ddbc8f10b167ff6077a80895 (accessed July 4, 2020).
- 26. Sheth KN, Elm JJ, Molyneaux BJ, Hinson H, Beslow LA, Sze GK, et al. Safety and efficacy of intravenous glyburide on brain swelling after large hemispheric infarction (GAMES-RP): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:1160–9. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30196-X
- Sheth KN, Taylor Kimberly W, Elm JJ, Kent TA, Yoo AJ, Thomalla G, et al. Exploratory analysis of glyburide as a novel therapy for preventing brain swelling. *Neurocrit Care*. (2014) 21:43–51. doi: 10.1007/s12028-014-9970-2
- King ZA, Sheth KN, Kimberly WT, Simard JM. Profile of intravenous glyburide for the prevention of cerebral edema following large hemispheric infarction: evidence to date. *Drug Des Devel Ther.* (2018) 12:2539– 52. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S150043
- Sheth KN, Kimberly WT, Elm JJ, Kent TA, Mandava P, Yoo AJ, et al. Pilot study of intravenous glyburide in patients with a large ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. (2014) 45:281–3. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.003352
- Xing Y, Jiang X, Yang Y, Xi G. Hemorrhagic transformation induced by acute hyperglycemia in a rat model of transient focal ischemia. *Acta Neurochir Suppl.* (2011) 111:49–54. doi: 10.1007/978-3-7091-0693-8_9
- 31. Laredo C, Renú A, Llull L, Tudela R, López-Rueda A, Urra X, et al. Elevated glucose is associated with hemorrhagic transformation after mechanical thrombectomy in acute ischemic stroke patients with severe pretreatment hypoperfusion. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-67448-x
- 32. Song EC, Chu K, Jeong SW, Jung KH, Kim SH, Kim M, et al. Hyperglycemia exacerbates brain edema and perihematomal cell death after intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke.* (2003) 34:2215– 20. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000088060.83709.2C
- 33. Ergul A, Elgebaly MM, Middlemore ML, Li W, Elewa H, Switzer JA, et al. Increased hemorrhagic transformation and altered infarct size and localization after experimental stroke in a rat model type 2 diabetes. *BMC Neurol.* (2007) 15:33. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-7-33
- Neuberger U, Möhlenbruch MA, Herweh C, Ulfert C, Bendszus M, Pfaff J. Classification of Bleeding events: comparison of ECASS III (European Cooperative Acute Stroke Study) and the New Heidelberg bleeding classification. *Stroke.* (2017) 48:1983–5. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.016735
- 35. Minnerup J, Broocks G, Kalkoffen J, Langner S, Knauth M, Psychogios MN, et al. Computed tomography-based quantification of lesion water uptake identifies patients within 4.5 hours of stroke onset: a multicenter observational study. Ann Neurol. (2016) 80:924–34. doi: 10.1002/ana.24818
- Nawabi J, Flottmann F, Hanning U, Bechstein M, Schön G, Kemmling A, et al. Futile recanalization with poor clinical outcome is associated with increased edema volume after ischemic stroke. *Invest Radiol.* (2019) 54:282– 7. doi: 10.1097/RLI.00000000000539
- 37. Hao Y, Yang D, Wang H, Zi W, Zhang M, Geng Y, et al. Predictors for symptomatic intracranial hemorrhage after endovascular treatment of acute ischemic stroke. Stroke. (2017) 48:1203–9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.116.016368
- Rosell A, Cuadrado E, Ortega-Aznar A, Hernández-Guillamon M, Lo EH, Montaner J. MMP-9-positive neutrophil infiltration is associated to bloodbrain barrier breakdown and basal lamina type IV collagen degradation during hemorrhagic transformation after human ischemic stroke. *Stroke.* (2008) 39:1121–6. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.500868
- Stokum JA, Gerzanich V, Simard JM. Molecular pathophysiology of cerebral edema. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2016) 36:513– 8. doi: 10.1177/0271678X15617172
- Kamada H, Yu F, Nito C, Chan PH. Influence of hyperglycemia on oxidative stress and matrix metalloproteinase-9 activation after focal cerebral ischemia/reperfusion in rats. *Stroke*. (2007) 38:1044–9. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000258041.75739.cb

- Quast MJ, Wei J, Huang NC, Brunder DG, Sell SL, Gonzalez JM, et al. Perfusion deficit parallels exacerbation of cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury in hyperglycemic rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (1997) 17:553– 9. doi: 10.1097/00004647-199705000-00009
- 42. Shao B, Bayraktutan U. Hyperglycaemia promotes cerebral barrier dysfunction through activation of protein kinase C-β. Diabetes Obes Metab. (2013) 15:993–9. doi: 10.1111/dom. 12120
- 43. Bémeur C, Ste-Marie L, Desjardins P, Vachon L, Butterworth RF, Hazell AS, et al. Dehydroascorbic acid normalizes several markers of oxidative stress and inflammation in acute hyperglycemic focal cerebral ischemia in the rat. *Neurochem Int.* (2005) 46:399–407. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2004. 11.007
- Kunte H, Schmidt S, Eliasziw M, Del Zoppo GJ, Simard JM, Masuhr F, et al. Sulfonylureas improve outcome in patients with type 2 diabetes and acute ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. (2007) 38:2526–30. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.4 82216
- 45. Johnston KC, Bruno A, Pauls Q, Hall CE, Barrett KM, Barsan W, et al. Intensive vs. standard treatment of hyperglycemia and functional outcome in patients with acute ischemic stroke: the SHINE randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. (2019) 322:326–35. doi: 10.1001/jama.201 9.9346

- 46. Gray CS, Hildreth AJ, Sandercock PA, O'Connell JE, Johnston DE, Cartlidge NE, et al. Glucose-potassium-insulin infusions in the management of post-stroke hyperglycaemia: the UK Glucose Insulin in Stroke Trial (GIST-UK). Lancet Neurol. (2007) 6:397–406. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70080-7
- Bruno A, Kent TA, Coull BM, Shankar RR, Saha C, Becker KJ, et al. Treatment of hyperglycemia in ischemic stroke (THIS): a randomized pilot trial. *Stroke*. (2008) 39:384–9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.493544
- Pallan TV, Ahmed I. Glyburide in treating malignant cerebral edema. Blocking sulfonyl urea one (SUR1) receptors. J Vasc Interv Neurol. (2014) 7:23–5.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Nawabi, Elsayed, Scholz, Kemmling, Meyer, Kniep, Bechstein, Flottmann, Faizy, Schön, Fiehler, Hanning and Broocks. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Value of Dual-Energy Dual-Layer CT After Mechanical Recanalization for the Quantification of Ischemic Brain Edema

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Nikolaus Plesnila, Institute for Stroke and Dementia Research (ISD), Germany

Reviewed by:

Markus Möhlenbruch, Heidelberg University Hospital, Germany Yael Mardor, Sheba Medical Center, Israel

*Correspondence:

Paul Steffen dr.paulsteffen@gmail.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 15 February 2021 Accepted: 10 June 2021 Published: 19 July 2021

Citation:

Steffen P, Austein F, Lindner T, Meyer L, Bechstein M, Rümenapp J, Klintz T, Jansen O, Gellißen S, Hanning U, Fiehler J and Broocks G (2021) Value of Dual-Energy Dual-Layer CT After Mechanical Recanalization for the Quantification of Ischemic Brain Edema. Front. Neurol. 12:668030. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.668030 Paul Steffen^{1*†}, Friederike Austein^{1,2†}, Thomas Lindner¹, Lukas Meyer¹, Matthias Bechstein¹, Johanna Rümenapp², Tristan Klintz², Olav Jansen², Susanne Gellißen¹, Uta Hanning¹, Jens Fiehler¹ and Gabriel Broocks¹

¹ Department of Diagnostic and Interventional Neuroradiology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany, ² Department of Radiology and Neuroradiology, University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein, Kiel, Germany

Background and Purpose: Ischemic brain edema can be measured in computed tomography (CT) using quantitative net water uptake (NWU), a recently established imaging biomarker. NWU determined in follow-up CT after mechanical thrombectomy (MT) has shown to be a strong predictor of functional outcome. However, disruption of the blood–brain barrier after MT may also lead to contrast staining, increasing the density on CT scans, and hence, directly impairing measurements of NWU. The purpose of this study was to determine whether dual-energy dual-layer CT (DDCT) after MT can improve the quantification of NWU by measuring NWU in conventional polychromatic CT images (CP-I) and virtual non-contrast images (VNC-I). We hypothesized that VNC-based NWU (vNWU) differs from NWU in conventional CT (cNWU).

Methods: Ten patients with middle cerebral artery occlusion who received a DDCT follow-up scan after MT were included. NWU was quantified in conventional and VNC images as previously published and was compared using paired sample *t*-tests.

Results: The mean cNWU was 3.3% (95%CI: 0–0.41%), and vNWU was 11% (95%CI: 1.3–23.4), which was not statistically different (p = 0.09). Two patients showed significant differences between cNWU and vNWU ($\Delta = 24\%$ and $\Delta = 36\%$), while the agreement of cNWU/vNWU in 8/10 patients was high (difference 2.3%, p = 0.23).

Conclusion: NWU may be quantified precisely on conventional CT images, as the underestimation of ischemic edema due to contrast staining was low. However, a proportion of patients after MT might show significant contrast leakage resulting in edema underestimation. Further research is needed to validate these findings and investigate clinical implications.

Keywords: net water uptake, mechanical recanalization, dual-energy computed tomography, virtual non-contrast image, brain edema, ischemia, acute stroke

55

INTRODUCTION

Randomized control trials demonstrated that mechanical thrombectomy (MT) of anterior large vessel occlusion (LVO) in acute stroke patients improves the clinical outcome compared to standard therapy (1). Yet, the clinical outcome, even after successful recanalization varies widely (2), and is subject of ongoing investigations. Different parameters influence the outcome, for example, the time from clinical onset to reperfusion, patient age, the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) at admission, the Alberta stroke program early computed tomography (ASPECT) score at admission, and the baseline functional status (3).

Recently, it has been observed that the degree of edema formation in early follow-up imaging captured by net water uptake (NWU), a quantitative imaging biomarker, is an indicator of the response to MT (4). NWU is an accurate predictor of functional outcome and outperforms clinical variables, for example, age, NIHSS, and/or ASPECTS (4). These results are in accordance with other studies describing a strong correlation

between NWU quantified in CT and the final infarct volume (5, 6).

Cerebral edema is the pathophysiological response of ischemic brain tissue undergoing infarction, which is evident in CT by means of progressive tissue hypoattenuation (7). Reperfusion after LVO has been associated with increased edema formation caused by microvascular damage probably resulting in an extension of the initial infarct area (8), but recently, it has been observed that MT might reduce cerebral edema (9, 10) and is associated with a lower risk for progressive edema compared to intravenous thrombolysis (11).

Disruption of the blood-brain barrier after MT may not only lead to edema but also to hemorrhage and/or contrast staining (12), increasing the density on CT scans, and hence, directly impairing measurements of brain edema on conventional polychromatic CT images (CP-I). Lesion hyperattenuations are common findings after LVO and are described in up to 84% of patients directly after MT, and ~20% after 24 h, which could result in an underestimation of brain edema on conventional polychromatic images (CP-I) (13). Follow-up CT is routinely performed after MT, in particular to rule out hemorrhage (14),



FIGURE 1 | Upper row: Follow-up dual-layer dual-energy CT within 12 h in a 70-year-old man with left MCA occlusion (initial NHISS 7; ASPECTS 8) after thrombectomy (TICI 3), time onset to reperfusion 184 min. Conventional polychromatic image (first and third from the left), VNC image (second and fourth from the left). Example of ischemic ROI placement (red) and contralateral normal ROI placement (green). Lower row: Follow-up dual-layer dual-energy CT within 12 h in an 89-year-old man with right MCA occlusion (initial NHISS 17; ASPECTS 8) after thrombectomy (TICI 3), time onset to reperfusion 154 min. Conventional polychromatic image (first and third from the left). VNC image (second and fourth from the left). Example of ischemic ROI placement (red) and contralateral normal ROI placement (green).

but differentiation between tissues densities of similar Hounsfield units, for example, blood and contrast medium remains difficult in this modality.

Recently, dual-energy imaging methods have become increasingly popular in research and clinical practice because of their capability to discriminate between tissues of similar X-ray attenuation but different atomic numbers (15–19). Dual-energy CT technology is based upon the light-matter interaction and different absorption characteristics of specific substances. Iodine for instance increases X-ray absorption at 32.2 keV (16, 20). Different technical methods are available to capture these characteristic absorption profiles of substances and generate dual-energy CT datasets, which can be used to calculate virtual non-contrast images (VNC-I).

Considering the clinical relevance of cerebral edema as an indicator for malignant infarction as well as for outcome prediction, we aim to investigate the potential underestimation of edema on conventional CT images due to contrast staining by using DDCT scans for VNC-based NWU quantification. We hypothesized that NWU quantification in follow-up imaging after MT differs significantly between conventional polychromatic and VNC images.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

The data that support the results of this study are available from the corresponding author, upon reasonable request. The local ethics committee approved the study (Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Christian-Albrechts-University, Kiel; Number D 567/18) and waived the requirement to obtain informed consent. We retrospectively analyzed the data of 10 consecutive patients referred to our hospital between September 2019 and January 2020 who received DDCT scans of the cranium after MT of a LVO of the anterior circulation within the standard clinical protocol. MT was performed according to the ESO/ESMINT-Guidelines (21). Data was anonymized and analyzed, retrospectively.

Image Acquisition and Reconstruction

Image acquisition was performed on a dual-energy dual-layer CT (IQon spectral CT, Philips Healthcare, USA) with 120 kVp and 230 mAs. IntelliSpace (Version 11.1, Philips Healthcare, USA) was used as post-processing software. The VNC-I and the CP-I were generated from spectral based datasets and reformatted with 5-mm slice thickness. The CP-I were reconstructed using iterative model-based reconstructions (level 1, filter UB), whereas the VNC-I were generated using a spectral reconstruction mode (level 2).

Image Analysis

The data were analyzed using IntelliSpace (Version 11.1, Philips Healthcare, USA). The rater was blinded for all patient-related data and clinical information. A standardized procedure to quantify the proportion of ischemic edema due to NWU was used as previously published (5, 22). In summary, a region of interest (ROI) was placed for density measurements according to the

extent of ischemic hypoattenuation identified on conventional images with hindsight knowledge of VNC-I, and the core lesion in CT perfusion imaging was mirrored to the unaffected contralateral brain hemisphere. ROI histograms were sampled between 20 and 80 Hounsfield units to exclude voxels belonging to calcifications or cerebrospinal fluid. Both measurements were then used to calculate the proportion of edema within the lesion, obtaining NWU of CP-I (cNWU) (23, 24). This procedure was subsequently repeated on VNC-I to calculate VNC-based NWU (vNWU).

Statistical Analysis

Data is reported using standard descriptive statistics. All statistics were calculated using MedCalc (version 11.5.1.0, Mariakerke, Belgium). *P*-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. cNWU and vNWU were compared using paired sample *t*-tests with means and 95% confidence intervals. The difference of both measurements was compared for every patient (Δ NWU = vNWU – cNWU). Bland-Altman plots were used to illustrate measurements of vNWU and cNWU for every patient (**Figure 2**).

RESULTS

In this pilot study, 10 consecutive patients (five female and five male) were included with mean age of 81 years (range: 53–99). Within this group, patients had been examined 12h (\pm 6h) after MT (median 9.5h). The pattern of vessel occlusion was nine M1-occlusions and one proximal M2-occlusion. Post-interventional TICI score was 2b-3 in nine cases and 2a in 1 case. The median ASPECTS was 8 (range: 4–10), and the mean core lesion volume defined by regional cerebral blood flow <30% was 11.5 ml (range: 0–57 ml). The median NIHSS was 14 (interquartile range: 6–18).

Figure 1 demonstrates the CP-I and VNC-I, which were used for further image analysis. Overall, the mean NWU was 3.3% (95%CI: 0–0.41%) in cNWU and 11% (95%CI: 1.3–23.4%) in vNWU. The mean difference between cNWU and vNWU was 7.7%, which was not statistically different (p = 0.09).

Eight out of 10 patients showed a high agreement of NWU with a mean difference of only 2.3% between cNWU and vNWU (p = 0.23). Two out of 10 patients were significant outliers with high differences in NWU between cNWU and vNWU of 24 and 36%, respectively. For other aspects, these two patients were in range of the cohort. Age was 70 (86) years, ASPECTS was 8 (8), final TICI was 3 (3), core size lesion 0 (28) ml, and time from MT to follow-up CT scan was 7 h (10 h). The Bland-Altman Plot (**Figure 2**) shows the exact differences in NWU for each patient in percent.

DISCUSSION

This is the first study to investigate VNC-I for the use of NWU quantification, targeting a potential underestimation of cerebral edema in conventional CT images due to contrast staining in stroke lesions. This was done by comparing NWU in CP-I and VNC-I from DDCT scans, using a previously published method (6). The benefit of VNC-I to visually improve the detection of



cerebral edema in acute stroke lesions was shown (25, 26), but measuring the impact of VNC-I on NWU quantification has not been investigated before.

The main finding of this pilot study was that cNWU and vNWU did not show a significant difference in quantified NWU (p = 0.09). By trend, vNWU had a slightly higher NWU compared to cNWU (11 vs. 3.3.%), which was mainly caused by two outliers in our study group showing significant differences in NWU of 24 and 36%, respectively (Figure 2). The agreement of the other eight patients was high. This implies the possibility of a small subgroup of patients, which might show a stronger than average hyperattenuation in CP-I and thus an underestimation of true cerebral edema in cNWU. The underlying cause remains uncertain but possible cofounders influencing contrast staining in stroke lesions are: kidney function, diagnostic multimodal CT examinations before MT, and the recanalization procedure itself, resulting in different contrast agent preloads. Another already described cofounder to impact cNWU measurements is the time at which the follow-up CT is taken. Lesion hyperattenuations are decreasing in time with up to 84% patients having hyperattenuated lesions directly after MT but only 20% of patients after 24 h (6, 13). Detailed data describing the dynamics of hyperattenuations in acute and subacute stroke lesions are still lacking, and further investigations are needed to determine the temporal relationships.

Our results support previous studies describing NWU in acute stroke lesions as a reliable quantitative imaging biomarker

to measure edema in acute stroke lesions (9, 23, 24, 27–29). NWU hereby demonstrates a more accurate quantification of cerebral edema than other methods, such as midline shift measurements, which may significantly depend on age and volume of cerebrospinal fluid (30). This is in accordance with studies showing that NWU is a good predictor of functional outcome and does so more accurately than clinical variables (e.g., NIHSS) or final infarct volume (4–6), while other parameters like ASPECS show low interrater agreement reliability (31). Thus, NWU could serve as an interesting biomarker and imaging end point in stroke trials.

We hypothesized that the densitometric assessment of NWU could be impaired significantly by, even visually inapparent, iodine contrast staining on CP-I after MT, leading to an underestimation of cerebral edema. But the agreement between cNWU and vNWU was high in eight out of 10 patients showing a mean difference of only 2.3%, confirming cNWU and vNWU as a reliable imaging source to quantify NWU.

To our best knowledge, this is the first study to investigate whether residual contrast enhancement affects quantification of NWU in CP-I. As our results demonstrate: contrast staining after MT does not alter the measurement of NWU on CP-I significantly. However, a certain proportion of patients showed a significant difference in NWU between cNWU and vNWU, suggestive to interindividual factors influencing contrast staining.

Designed as a pilot and feasibility study, the number of included patients was small, resulting in low power. Yet, our results confirm previous studies that NWU can be determined reliably on CP-I as well as VNC-I and stimulate future research regarding the potential benefit of VNC-based NWU quantification.

In conclusion, this is the first study to investigate NWU using dual-energy dual-layer CT scans, demonstrating a strong agreement between cNWU and vNWU. Significant differences in cNWU and vNWU are seen in a small subgroup of patients, which should be subject for further research.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- 1. Goyal M, Menon BK, van Zwam WH, Dippel DW, Mitchell PJ, Demchuk AM, et al. Endovascular thrombectomy after large-vessel ischaemic stroke: a metaanalysis of individual patient data from five randomised trials. *Lancet*. (2016) 387:1723–31. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00163-X
- Jansen IGH, Mulder M, Goldhoorn RB, investigators MCR. Endovascular treatment for acute ischaemic stroke in routine clinical practice: prospective, observational cohort study (MR CLEAN Registry). *BMJ.* (2018) 360:k949. doi: 10.1136/bmj. k949
- 3. Sajobi TT, Menon BK, Wang M, Lawal O, Shuaib A, Williams D, et al. Early Trajectory of stroke severity predicts long-term functional outcomes in ischemic stroke subjects: results from the ESCAPE trial (endovascular treatment for small core and anterior circulation proximal occlusion with emphasis on minimizing CT to recanalization times). *Stroke.* (2017) 48:105– 10. doi: 10.1161/STR.00000000000127
- 4. Nawabi J, Flottmann F, Kemmling A, Kniep H, Leischner H, Sporns P, et al. Elevated early lesion water uptake in acute stroke predicts poor outcome despite successful recanalization—when "tissue clock" and "time clock" are desynchronized. *Int J Stroke.* (2019). doi: 10.1177/1747493019884522. [Epub ahead of print].
- Broocks G, Faizy TD, Flottmann F, Schon G, Langner S, Fiehler J, et al. Subacute infarct volume with edema correction in computed tomography is equivalent to final infarct volume after ischemic stroke: improving the comparability of infarct imaging endpoints in clinical trials. *Invest Radiol.* (2018) 53:472–6. doi: 10.1097/RLI.000000000000475
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Scheibel A, Aigner A, Faizy TD, Hanning U, et al. Quantitative lesion water uptake in acute stroke computed tomography is a predictor of malignant infarction. *Stroke.* (2018) 49:1906– 12. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.020507
- Yang GY, Chen SF, Kinouchi H, Chan PH, Weinstein PR. Edema, cation content, and ATPase activity after middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. *Stroke*. (1992) 23:1331–6. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.23.9.1331
- Jean WC, Spellman SR, Nussbaum ES, Low WC. Reperfusion injury after focal cerebral ischemia: the role of inflammation and the therapeutic horizon. *Neurosurgery.* (1998) 43:1382–96; discussion 96–7. doi: 10.1227/00006123-199812000-00076
- Broocks G, Hanning U, Flottmann F, Schonfeld M, Faizy TD, Sporns P, et al. Clinical benefit of thrombectomy in stroke patients with low ASPECTS is mediated by oedema reduction. *Brain.* (2019) 142:1399– 407. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz057

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Christian-Albrechts-University, Kiel; Number D 567/18. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PS, FA, and GB: conceptualization, planning, research, data management, statistical analysis, interpretation of results, and writing. TL: advisor on physical topics. SG: advisor on statistical analysis. JR and TK: help with data aquisition. LM, MB, UH, JF, and OJ: advisor on writing, interpretation of results, and proofreading. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Kimberly WT, Dutra BG, Boers AMM, Alves H, Berkhemer OA, van den Berg L, et al. association of reperfusion with brain edema in patients with acute ischemic stroke: a secondary analysis of the MR clean trial. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:453–61. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.5162
- Thoren M, Dixit A, Escudero-Martinez I, Gdovinova Z, Klecka L, Rand VM, et al. Effect of recanalization on cerebral edema in ischemic stroke treated with thrombolysis and/or endovascular therapy. *Stroke.* (2020) 51:216– 23. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.026692
- Puntonet J, Richard ME, Edjlali M, Ben Hassen W, Legrand L, Benzakoun J, et al. Imaging findings after mechanical thrombectomy in acute ischemic stroke. *Stroke.* (2019) 50:1618–25. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.024754
- Lummel N, Schulte-Altedorneburg G, Bernau C, Pfefferkorn T, Patzig M, Janssen H, et al. Hyperattenuated intracerebral lesions after mechanical recanalization in acute stroke. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2014) 35:345– 51. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A3656
- Mokin M, Kan P, Kass-Hout T, Abla AA, Dumont TM, Snyder KV, et al. Intracerebral hemorrhage secondary to intravenous and endovascular intraarterial revascularization therapies in acute ischemic stroke: an update on risk factors, predictors, and management. *Neurosurg Focus*. (2012) 32:E2. doi: 10.3171/2012.1.FOCUS11352
- Mangesius S, Janjic T, Steiger R, Haider L, Rehwald R, Knoflach M, et al. Dualenergy computed tomography in acute ischemic stroke: state-of-the-art. *Eur Radiol.* (2020) 31:4138–47. doi: 10.1007/s00330-020-07543-9
- McCollough CH, Leng S, Yu L, Fletcher JG. Dual- and multi-energy CT: principles, technical approaches, and clinical applications. *Radiology*. (2015) 276:637–53. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2015142631
- Tijssen MP, Hofman PA, Stadler AA, van Zwam W, de Graaf R, van Oostenbrugge RJ, et al. The role of dual energy CT in differentiating between brain haemorrhage and contrast medium after mechanical revascularisation in acute ischaemic stroke. *Eur Radiol.* (2014) 24:834– 40. doi: 10.1007/s00330-013-3073-x
- Phan CM, Yoo AJ, Hirsch JA, Nogueira RG, Gupta R. Differentiation of hemorrhage from iodinated contrast in different intracranial compartments using dual-energy head CT. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2012) 33:1088– 94. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A2909
- Gupta R, Phan CM, Leidecker C, Brady TJ, Hirsch JA, Nogueira RG, et al. Evaluation of dual-energy CT for differentiating intracerebral hemorrhage from iodinated contrast material staining. *Radiology.* (2010) 257:205– 11. doi: 10.1148/radiol.10091806
- Postma AA, Das M, Stadler AA, Wildberger JE. Dual-energy CT: what the neuroradiologist should know. *Curr Radiol Rep.* (2015) 3:16. doi: 10.1007/s40134-015-0097-9

- Turc G, Bhogal P, Fischer U, Khatri P, Lobotesis K, Mazighi M, et al. European stroke organisation (ESO)- european society for minimally invasive neurological therapy (ESMINT) guidelines on mechanical thrombectomy in acute ischemic stroke. J Neurointerv Surg. (2019) 11:535–8. doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2018-014568
- 22. Broocks G, Flottmann F, Ernst M, Faizy TD, Minnerup J, Siemonsen S, et al. Computed tomography-based imaging of voxel-wise lesion water uptake in ischemic brain: relationship between density and direct volumetry. *Invest Radiol.* (2018) 53:207–13. doi: 10.1097/RLI.00000000000430
- Nawabi J, Flottmann F, Hanning U, Bechstein M, Schon G, Kemmling A, et al. Futile recanalization with poor clinical outcome is associated with increased edema volume after ischemic stroke. *Invest Radiol.* (2019) 54:282– 7. doi: 10.1097/RLI.00000000000539
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Hanning U, Schon G, Sporns P, Minnerup J, et al. Impact of endovascular recanalization on quantitative lesion water uptake in ischemic anterior circulation strokes. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2020) 40:437–45. doi: 10.1177/0271678X18823601
- Mohammed MF, Marais O, Min A, Ferguson D, Jalal S, Khosa F, et al. Unenhanced dual-energy computed tomography: visualization of brain edema. *Invest Radiol.* (2018) 53:63–9. doi: 10.1097/RLI.0000000000000413
- Taguchi K, Itoh T, Fuld MK, Fournie E, Lee O, Noguchi K. "X-map 2.0" for edema signal enhancement for acute ischemic stroke using non-contrastenhanced dual-energy computed tomography. *Invest Radiol.* (2018) 53:432– 9. doi: 10.1097/RLI.000000000000461
- Nawabi J, Kniep H, Schon G, Flottmann F, Leischner H, Kabiri R, et al. Hemorrhage after endovascular recanalization in acute stroke: lesion extent, collaterals and degree of ischemic water uptake mediate tissue vulnerability. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:569. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019. 00569
- Broocks G, Kemmling A, Meyer L, Nawabi J, Schon G, Fiehler J, et al. Computed tomography angiography collateral profile is directly linked to early edema progression rate in acute ischemic stroke. *Stroke.* (2019) 50:3424–30. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.0 27062

- Broocks G, Leischner H, Hanning U, Flottmann F, Faizy TD, Schon G, et al. Lesion age imaging in acute stroke: water uptake in CT versus DWI-FLAIR mismatch. Ann Neurol. (2020) 88:1144–52. doi: 10.1002/ana.25903
- Minnerup J, Wersching H, Ringelstein EB, Heindel W, Niederstadt T, Schilling M, et al. Prediction of malignant middle cerebral artery infarction using computed tomography-based intracranial volume reserve measurements. *Stroke.* (2011) 42:3403–9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.619734
- van Horn N, Kniep H, Broocks G, Meyer L, Flottmann F, Bechstein M, et al. ASPECTS interobserver agreement of 100 investigators from the TENSION study. *Clin Neuroradiol.* (2021). doi: 10.1007/s00062-020-00 988-x. [Epub ahead of print].

Conflict of Interest: JF reports grants and personal fees from Acandis, grants and personal fees from Cerenovus, grants and personal fees from Microvention, grants and personal fees from Medtronic, grants and personal fees from Stryker, grants from Route 92, personal fees from Phenox, personal fees from Penumbra, outside the submitted work. OJ reports grants and personal fees from Acandis, grants and personal fees from Cerenovus, grants and personal fees from Boehringer, personal fees from Bayer, and personal fees from Philips, outside the submitted work.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Steffen, Austein, Lindner, Meyer, Bechstein, Rümenapp, Klintz, Jansen, Gellißen, Hanning, Fiehler and Broocks. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Edema in Subacute Lesion Progression After Treatment of Acute Ischemic Stroke

Praneeta Konduri^{1,2*}, Katinka van Kranendonk², Anna Boers^{1,3}, Kilian Treurniet^{2,4}, Olvert Berkhemer^{2,5,6}, Albert J. Yoo⁷, Wim van Zwam^{8†}, Robert van Oostenbrugge^{9†}, Aad van der Lugt^{6†}, Diederik Dippel^{5†}, Yvo Roos^{10†}, Joost Bot¹¹, Charles Majoie^{2†}, Henk Marquering^{1,2} and the MR CLEAN Trial Investigators (Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial of Endovascular Treatment for Acute Ischemic Stroke in the Netherlands)

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriel Broocks, Universität Hamburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Hui-Sheng Chen, Shenyang Northern Hospital, China Paul Reidler, LMU Munich University Hospital, Germany Hannes Leischner, Klinikum Lüneburg, Germany

*Correspondence:

Praneeta Konduri p.r.konduri@amsterdamumc.nl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 04 May 2021 **Accepted:** 18 June 2021 **Published:** 20 July 2021

Citation:

Konduri P, van Kranendonk K, Boers A, Treurniet K, Berkhemer O, Yoo AJ, van Zwam W, Oostenbrugge Rv, van der Lugt A, Dippel D, Roos Y, Bot J, Majoie C, Marquering H and the MR CLEAN Trial Investigators (Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial of Endovascular Treatment for Acute Ischemic Stroke in the Netherlands) (2021) The Role of Edema in Subacute Lesion Progression After Treatment of Acute Ischemic Stroke. Front. Neurol. 12:705221. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.705221 ¹ Department of Biomedical Engineering and Physics, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Amsterdam, Netherlands,
 ² Department of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Amsterdam, Netherlands,
 ³ Nico.lab, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ⁴ Department of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine, Haaglanden Medisch Centrum, The Hague, Netherlands, ⁵ Department of Neurology, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands,
 ⁶ Department of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands,
 ⁷ Department of Radiology, Texas Stroke Institute, Dallas-Fort Worth, TX, United States, ⁹ Department of Radiology, Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht, Maastricht University Medical Center, Maastricht, Netherlands,
 ¹⁰ Department of Neurology, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Amsterdam, Netherlands,
 ¹⁰ Department of Neurology, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Amsterdam, Netherlands,
 ¹⁰ Department of Neurology, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Vrije Universiteit van Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Background: Ischemic lesions commonly continue to progress even days after treatment, and this lesion growth is associated with unfavorable functional outcome in acute ischemic stroke patients. The aim of this study is to elucidate the role of edema in subacute lesion progression and its influence on unfavorable functional outcome by quantifying net water uptake.

Methods: We included all 187 patients from the MR CLEAN trial who had high quality follow-up non-contrast CT at 24 h and 1 week. Using a CT densitometry-based method to calculate the net water uptake, we differentiated total ischemic lesion volume (TILV) into edema volume (EV) and edema-corrected infarct volume (ecIV). We calculated these volumes at 24 h and 1 week after stroke and determined their progression in the subacute period. We assessed the effect of 24-h lesion characteristics on EV and ecIV progression. We evaluated the influence of edema and edema-corrected infarct progression on favorable functional outcome after 90 days (modified Rankin Scale: 0–2) after correcting for potential confounders. Lastly, we compared these volumes between subgroups of patients with and without successful recanalization using the Mann–Whitney *U*-test.

Results: Median TILV increased from 37 (IQR: 18–81) ml to 68 (IQR: 30–130) ml between 24 h and 1 week after stroke, while the net water uptake increased from 22 (IQR: 16–26)% to 27 (IQR: 22–32)%. The TILV progression of 20 (8.8–40) ml was mostly caused by ecIV with a median increase of 12 (2.4–21) ml vs. 6.5 (2.7–15) ml of EV progression. Larger TILV, EV, and ecIV volumes at 24 h were all associated with more edema and lesion progression. Edema progression was associated with unfavorable functional outcome [aOR: 0.53 (0.28–0.94) per 10 ml; p-value: 0.05], while edema-corrected

61

infarct progression showed a similar, non-significant association [aOR: 0.80 (0.62–0.99); *p*-value: 0.06]. Lastly, edema progression was larger in patients without successful recanalization, whereas eclV progression was comparable between the subgroups.

Conclusion: EV increases in evolving ischemic lesions in the period between 1 day and 1 week after acute ischemic stroke. This progression is larger in patients without successful recanalization and is associated with unfavorable functional outcome. However, the extent of edema cannot explain the total expansion of ischemic lesions since edema-corrected infarct progression is larger than the edema progression.

Keywords: edema, ischemic lesion, infarct, progression, growth, post-treatment, subacute period, acute ischemic stroke

INTRODUCTION

Treatment of acute ischemic stroke due to a large vessel occlusion aims to restore the supply of blood to the downstream ischemic tissue and cease the progression of infarction and other pathophysiological processes that result from ischemia (1, 2). Previous studies assessing ischemic and infarcted volumes on computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) have shown that the ischemic lesion progresses in the subacute period even after (successful) treatment, and this growth is known to be associated with unfavorable functional outcome (1-5). Previous studies have also shown that patients with unsuccessful treatment suffer from more lesion growth compared to those with successful treatment (2). Ischemic lesions as assessed on follow-up non-contrast CT (NCCT) images consist of a combination of infarct and edematous volumes. The lesion evolution may vary based on multiple factors. In patients with unsuccessful or incomplete recanalization, the evolving lesion is expected to predominantly consist of increasing infarct volume, possibly due to the expansion of infarct into the downstream territory caused by persistently reduced blood flow (2). Conversely, in patients with successful recanalization, the evolving lesions may consist of more edematous volume growth as a result of reperfusion injury and status of the microvasculature (6). Distinguishing between infarct and edema volumes (EV) may provide insight on the constituents of subacute lesion growth and help to understand the influence of subacute lesion progression on unfavorable outcome to better target secondary treatments.

Broocks et al. have developed a NCCT densitometry-based technique to quantify edema-related net water uptake within the NCCT lesion (7). In the current study, we aimed to quantify

edematous and edema-corrected infarct volumes (ecIV) within the NCCT lesions at 24 h and 1 week after acute ischemic stroke using this net-water uptake based imaging biomarker. With the distinction of EV, we aimed to assess the influence of edema and edema-corrected infarct progression on favorable functional outcome after 90 days. Additionally, we also assessed the influence of successful recanalization and treatment type on edema and edema-corrected infarct progression.

METHODS

Patient Population

In this study, we included patients that were enrolled in the Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial of Endovascular Treatment for Acute Ischemic Stroke in the Netherlands (MR CLEAN) trial (8). Patients with an acute ischemic stroke due to a large vessel occlusion, above the age of 18 years that could be treated with endovascular treatment (EVT) within 6 h of symptom onset, were randomized to receive intravenous thrombolysis (IVT) with alteplase alone or IVT with alteplase along with EVT. More details regarding the inclusion and exclusion criterion of the trial have been provided in the study protocol (8). The MR CLEAN trial was conducted with the approval of a central medical ethics committee and the research board of each participating center. Patients or their legal representatives provided written informed consent.

The protocol of the MR CLEAN trial required a late follow-up NCCT scan after 1 week (variable time window of \sim 3–9 days) of stroke onset to evaluate the final infarct volume. Furthermore, a CT angiography scan was required 24 h after stroke onset to evaluate the post-treatment recanalization status. Performing a NCCT scan along with the CT angiography was common practice. Hence, 280 patients of the MR CLEAN trial received a NCCT scan at both time-points. In the current study, we included patients who underwent NCCT 24 h and 1 week (median: 5, IQR: 5-6 days) after onset of stroke. From these patients, we excluded those that developed a large, diffuse hemorrhages; received hemicraniectomy; or had incomplete images or images with movement artifacts, partial volume artifacts, or other technical and processing errors. From this cohort, we excluded patients with an old infarct on the contralateral hemisphere, whose images had beam hardening artifacts, registration errors, and other

Abbreviations: CT, Computed Tomography; MRI, Magnetic Resonance Imaging; NCCT, Non-Contrast Computed Tomography; MR CLEAN, Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial of Endovascular Treatment for Acute Ischemic Stroke in the Netherlands; EVT, Endovascular Treatment; IVT, Intravenous Thrombolysis; HU, Hounsfield Unit; HT, Hemorrhagic Transformation; TILV, Total Ischemic Lesion Volume; HV, Hemorrhagic Volume; NWU, Net water uptake; EV, Edema Volume; ecIV, Edema Corrected Infarct Volume; IQR, Inter Quartile Range; mAOL, modified Arterial Occlusion Lesion; NIHSS, NIH Stroke Scale/Score; ICA, Intracranial carotid artery; ICA-T, Intracranial carotid artery-T junction; TICI, Thrombolysis in Cerebral Infarction.



technical issues. **Figure 1** describes the inclusion and exclusion criterion used in this study.

Image Analysis

Lesion Assessment

Ischemic lesions on the 24-h NCCT scans were delineated manually on ITK Snap Software with a fixed window width of 30 Hounsfield Units (HUs) and a center-level of 35 HU by two trained observers (4). The lesion delineations included relevant hypodense areas representing edema and/or infarct expanding into the contralateral hemisphere or causing to sulcal and/or ventricular effacement. Hyperdense areas within or surrounding the lesions recognized as hemorrhages or contrast extravasation were also included. Chronic lesions with fluid attenuation, clear borders, and/or without mass effect were not included in the lesion delineation. Only the symptomatic side was revealed to the observers. Ischemic lesions on the 1-week NCCT were automatically segmented using an in-house validated software (9). One of the two experienced neuro-radiologists blinded to the clinical data, except for the symptomatic side, evaluated and corrected the lesions when required. Further details of the lesion assessment have been provided in a previous study (4). Presence of hemorrhagic transformation was assessed by the imaging core lab on the 1-week NCCT scan. The lesion delineations in the patients identified to have hemorrhagic transformations also included hyper-densities representing hemorrhagic transformation in and around the hypodense areas. The hemorrhagic areas were delineated on the 24-h (P.K) and 1-week (K.K) NCCT scans. Regions within the delineation that did not represent hemorrhagic transformation (HT) were identified as non-hemorrhagic regions.

Total ischemic lesion volume (TILV) and hemorrhagic volume (HV) were calculated as the product of number of voxels within the appropriate delineation and the voxel size.

Net-Water Uptake Quantification

The method developed by Broocks et al. to quantify netwater uptake involves mirroring the lesion to the contralateral hemisphere and calculating the mean density (in HU) of the ipsilateral and contralateral regions-of-interest. To automatically mirror the lesion to the contralateral hemisphere, we used an in-house NCCT atlas with centered, straight head. We first segmented the intracranial region from the 24-h and 1week NCCT scans to exclude bone, air, and other irrelevant information (10). The segmented intracranial region and the delineated lesions were registered to the in-house atlas using Elastix software and mirrored (11-14). In patients with hemorrhagic transformation, the hemorrhagic region was excluded from the lesion. We selected voxels with a density between 20 and 80 HU from the mirrored segmentations to exclude cerebrospinal fluid and calcifications (7). The mean densities (in HU) in the ipsilateral lesion (D_{ischemic}) and in the contralateral segmentation (D_{normal}) were calculated. Net water uptake (NWU) per volume of lesion was the defined as (7):

$$NWU = \frac{D_{normal} - D_{ischemic}}{D_{normal}}$$

Figure 2 displays the steps involved in calculating net water uptake. EV was calculated as the product of the NWU and TILV (in patients without HT) and non-hemorrhagic volume (in patients with HT). ecIV was determined as the difference between TILV, EV, and HV (7). TILV, EV, HV, and ecIV progression were defined as the difference between the 1-week and 24-h TILV, EV HV, and ecIV, respectively.

Statistical Analysis

TILV, EV, and ecIV (at 24 h and 1 week) and their progression are presented with their median and interquartile range (IQR). We compared the lesion characteristics between 24 h and 1 week using the Wilcoxon signed rank test. We performed exploratory analysis to assess the effect of 24-h lesion characteristics on EV and ecIV progression in the patient population and patient subgroups based on successful recanalization using linear regression analysis. We defined successful recanalization as modified arterial occlusion lesion (mAOL) score of three points evaluated on the 24-h CT angiography scans. Furthermore, we determined the influence of edema and edema-corrected infarct progression on using univariable and multivariable logistic regression analysis, including adjustments for potential confounders. Favorable functional outcome was assessed after 90 days and was defined as modified Rankin Scale 0-2. Baseline, clinical, and imaging and (post) treatment characteristics associated with favorable functional outcome at a significance of p < 0.1 were selected as potential confounders. Akaike Information Criterion was used to compare the multivariable logistic regression models with edema and edema-corrected infarct progression. Lastly, to assess the influence of successful recanalization, we compared lesion characteristics between



FIGURE 2 | Visual representation of the steps involved in calculating net-water uptake on the 24-h (top row) and 1-week (bottom row) NCCT image of the same patient. (A,B) show the NCCT image and segmented lesion (represented in red). The NCCT image is registered to an in-house atlas along with the segmented lesion after excluding the hemorrhagic region (C). The lesion is then mirrored to the contra-lateral hemisphere (D). The NWU within the 24-h and 1-week lesion of this patient were 10% and 22%, respectively.

patients that did and did not achieve successful recanalization using the Mann-Whitney *U*-test. The same test was used to assess the influence of EVT on the lesion and lesion progression characteristics.

Dichotomous and categorical baseline, clinical, and treatment characteristics of the study population are presented as proportions; normally distributed continuous variables are presented as mean \pm STD and non-normally distributed continuous variables are presented as median and IQR. Patients with missing values were not included in analyses with those particular variables. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (IBM SPSS Statistics, version 25, 2018) and R [4.0.2 (2020-06-22) using RStudio Version 1.1.383 – © 2009-2017 RStudio, Inc.]. A *p*-value \leq 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Patient Population

Of the 500 patients from the MR CLEAN trial population, we included 187 patients (**Figure 1**). The median age was 66 (IQR: 56–76) years, and 44% of the population was female. The median ASPECTS score was 9 (IQR: 8–10), and median NIHSS at baseline was 17 (IQR: 13–21). Ninety-one (49%) patients were

randomized to receive EVT, and 100 (53%) achieved successful recanalization. Information on recanalization status was missing for 16 (8.6%) patients. Baseline characteristics are provided in **Table 1**.

Lesion Characteristics

In our population, the median TILV after 24 h was 37 (18–81) ml and 1 week was 68 (IQR: 30–130) ml. Median NWU was 22 (IQR: 16–26)% after 24 h and 27 (IQR: 22–32)% 1 week. Wilcoxon signed rank test showed that the TILV, EV, NWU, ecIV, and HV at 24 h were significantly lower than those at 1 week. The median TILV progression was 20 (8.8–40) ml, while the median EV progression and ecIV progression were 6.5 (2.7–15) ml and 12 (2.4–21) ml, respectively. Details of the lesion characteristics are provided in **Table 2**.

Influence of 24-h Lesion Characteristics on Lesion Progression

In our population, we found that larger EV and ecIV after 24 h were associated with larger edema and TILV progression. Similar trends were also observed in the subgroup of patients with unsuccessful recanalization. However, in the subgroup of patients with successful



FIGURE 3 | Association of post-treatment (left) edema and (right) edema corrected infarct progression in the subacute period with favorable functional outcome (modified Rankin Scale 0–2) after 90 days.



recanalization, the association of EV after 24 h with TILV progression was not statistically significant (p = 0.24). Details of the univariable linear regression are provided in **Table 3**.

Influence on Favorable Functional Outcome

Edema and edema-corrected infarct progression were both associated with unfavorable functional outcome in the univariate

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of the study population and comparison between patients with and without successful recanalization.

Variable		Study population (n = 187)	Unsuccessful recanalization (<i>n</i> = 71)	Successful recanalization (<i>n</i> = 100)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (in years)		66 (56–76)	62 (51–73)	67 (57–76)	0.06
Male sex		104 (56%)	43 (61%)	55 (55%)	0.57
Previous ischemic stroł	<e< td=""><td>13 (7.0%)</td><td>3 (4.2%)</td><td>10 (10%)</td><td>0.27</td></e<>	13 (7.0%)	3 (4.2%)	10 (10%)	0.27
Myocardial infarction		23 (12%)	11 (15%)	11 (11%)	0.53
Diabetes mellitus		18 (9.6%)	6 (8.5%)	8 (8%)	1
Hypertension		94 (50%)	32 (45%)	52 (52%)	0.46
Atrial fibrillation		53 (28%)	17 (24%)	29 (29%)	0.58
Hypercholesterolemia		44 (24%)	15 (21%)	24 (24%)	0.80
Current smoking		57 (30%)	24 (34%)	31 (31%)	0.83
Antiplatelet drugs		53 (28%)	20 (28%)	28 (28%)	1
Coumarins		12 (6.4%)	1 (1.4%)	8 (8%)	0.08
Statins		54 (29%)	18 (25%)	30 (30%)	0.62
Anti-hypertensive drugs		98 (52%)	33 (46%)	54 (54%)	0.42
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)		140 (125-160)	139 (125–160)	140 (126–158)	0.64
Clinical hemisphere side left		105 (56%)	42 (59%)	52 (52%)	0.44
Pre-stroke modified Rankin Scale (0–2)		177 (95%)	68 (96%)	94 (94%)	0.74
Baseline NIHSS		17 (13–21)	17 (13–21)	17 (13–21)	0.91
Proximal occlusion (ICA or ICA-T)		50 (27%)	20 (28%)	26 (26%)	0.89
		9 (8–10)	9 (8–10)	9 (8–10)	0.51
	Missing	2 (1.1%)			
Collateral score	Absent	4 (2.2%)	1 (1.4%)	2 (2.0%)	0.19
	Filling <50% of the occluded area	51 (27%)	13 (18%)	32 (32%)	
	Filling >50% and <100% of the occluded area	69 (37%)	31 (44%)	33 (33%)	
	Filling 100% of the occluded area	62 (33%)	26 (37%)	32 (32%)	
	Missing	1 (0.54%)			
Received iv thrombolys	iis	169 (90%)	66 (93%)	89 (89%)	0.54
Allocated to endovascu	ular treatment	91 (49%)	15 (21%)	69 (69%)	<0.01
Time to randomize (mir	nutes)	190 (150–260)	200 (150–270)	190 (150–250)	0.12

Data are displayed as median (interquartile range) or number (percentage of population). Mann–Whitney U-test and Chi-Square/Fisher-tests were performed to compare continuous and binary/categorical variables between the successful and unsuccessful recanalization sub-groups, appropriately.

analysis [OR: 0.40 (0.24-0.60); *p*-value: <0.01; OR: 0.76 (0.62-0.91) per 10 ml; *p*-value: <0.01]. Similar results with slightly lower significance levels were observed in the multivariable analysis including adjustments for potential confounders [aOR: 0.53 (0.28-0.94) *p*-value: 0.05; aOR: 0.80 (0.62-0.99); *p*-value: 0.06] for 10 ml of EV and ecIV progression, respectively (**Figure 3**). The AIC of the multivariable model with edema progression (181.5) and edema-corrected infarct progression (181.8) were comparable. Details of the multivariable logistic regression are provided in **Table 4**.

Influence of Treatment

As shown in **Table 5** and **Figure 4**, patients with successful recanalization had significantly lower TILV (p = 0.02), EV (p < 0.01), and ecIV (p = 0.03) after 24 h compared to those without successful recanalization. Patients with successful recanalization had lower EV (p < 0.01) and non-significantly different ecIVs

(p = 0.11) after 1 week. Furthermore, edema progression (p = 0.01) was lower in patients with successful recanalization compared to those without successful recanalization, while the ecIV progression was comparable between the subgroups (p = 1.00).

Patients randomized to receive EVT had lower EV and percentages of NWU after 24 h (p = 0.01; p < 0.01, respectively) and lower NWU after 1 week (p = 0.03) compared to those who did not receive EVT. Details of the lesion characteristics compared between patients that did and did not receive EVT are provided in **Table 6**.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we showed that EV, ecIV, and hemorrhage volume continue to progress after 24 h and that larger lesions after 24 h are associated with more lesion progression in the subacute TABLE 2 | Ischemic lesion characteristics obtained in the subacute period after treatment in 187 patients.

24 h	1 week	Progression	p-value
37 (18–81)	68 (30–130)	20 (8.8–40)	<0.01**
22 (16–26)	27 (22–32)	6.0 (0.33–11)	<0.01**
7.5 (2.9–17)	15 (7.9–35)	6.5 (2.7–15)	<0.01**
29 (15–62)	51 (21–87)	12 (2.4–21)	<0.01**
0 (0–1.3)	0 (0-2.4)	0 (0–0)	0.04*
	37 (18–81) 22 (16–26) 7.5 (2.9–17) 29 (15–62)	37 (18–81) 68 (30–130) 22 (16–26) 27 (22–32) 7.5 (2.9–17) 15 (7.9–35) 29 (15–62) 51 (21–87)	37 (18–81) 68 (30–130) 20 (8.8–40) 22 (16–26) 27 (22–32) 6.0 (0.33–11) 7.5 (2.9–17) 15 (7.9–35) 6.5 (2.7–15) 29 (15–62) 51 (21–87) 12 (2.4–21)

All data are displayed as median (interquartile range). Wilcoxon signed rank-test was performed between lesion characteristics obtained after 24 h and 1 week. **p < 0.01.

*p ≤ 0.05.

TABLE 3 | Univariable linear regression of the 24-h ischemic lesion characteristics and edema, edema-corrected infarct and lesion volume progression in the subacute period.

Measurement	Population ß (95% CI)	Unsuccessful recanalization ß (95% CI)	Successful recanalization ß (95% CI)
	<i>n</i> = 188	<i>n</i> = 71	<i>n</i> = 100
Independent variable – Edema progressi	ion (ml)		
Edema volume (ml)	0.37 (0.21–0.52)**	0.35 (0.17–0.53)**	0.39 (0.12–0.65)**
dema corrected infarct volume (ml) 0.22 (0.17–0.27)**		0.23 (0.16–0.3)**	0.19 (0.1–0.27)**
Total ischemic lesion volume (ml)	0.15 (0.11-0.19)**	0.15 (0.1–0.2)**	0.13 (0.06–0.19)**
Independent variable – Edema corrected	l infarct progression (ml)		
Edema volume (ml)	0.05 (-0.19-0.3)	0.15 (-0.08-0.38)	0.07 (-0.46-0.60)
Edema corrected infarct volume (ml)	0.06 (-0.03-0.16)	0.1 (0-0.2)*	0.12 (-0.06-0.3)
Total ischemic lesion volume (ml)	0.04 (-0.03-0.11)	0.06 (−0.01−0.13) [∳]	0.07 (-0.06-0.2)
Independent variable-Lesion progressi	on (ml)		
Edema volume(ml)	0.41 (0.05–0.78)*	0.49 (0.14–0.85)**	0.45 (-0.3-1.2)
Edema corrected infarct volume (ml)	0.28 (0.15-0.42)**	0.32 (0.18–0.47)**	0.31 (0.06–0.56)*
Total ischemic lesion volume (ml)	0.18 (0.09-0.28)**	0.21 (0.1–0.31)**	0.2 (0.02–0.38)*

^{**}p ≤ 0.01.

*p ≤ 0.05. ∮p ≤ 0.10

[∮]p ≤ 0.10.

period. Furthermore, we showed that edema progression is associated with unfavorable functional outcome and that it is lower in patients who have successful recanalization.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to quantify edema progression in ischemic lesions assessed in the subacute period after stroke onset. EVs are generally described using indirect and global imaging markers like midline shift—the gold standard for assessing edema, and hemispheric, lateral ventricular, or swelling volume (15–17). Broocks et al. have developed a densitometry based NWU measure that relies on the relationship of increasing lesion volume due to water content and the associated density reduction on NCCT (18). Due to the increased reliability to distinguish EV from within the ischemic lesion compared to the global imaging markers and its easy applicability to widely available NCCT scans, this method was utilized in this study (7, 19–21).

The 24-h NWU observed in this study (22%) is comparable with the 24-h NWU presented in a previous study (20.6%) (7). We extended this finding and showed that NWU, edema, and ecIV are significantly larger after 1 week compared to those assessed 24 h after stroke onset. This indicates that the lesion progresses due to an increase in both edematous and true-infarct volumes. Ischemia and post-ischemic reperfusion deteriorate the integrity of the capillaries in the blood brain barrier, leading to more edema and ischemia. The cascading effect of the increased EV and associated rise in tissue pressure results in an increase in the mechanical forces experienced by the surrounding tissue, ultimately increasing edema and lesion volumes (22). This is supported by our finding that larger 24-h edema, edema corrected infarct, and the total lesion volume are associated with larger subacute edema and lesion progression. In this study, we calculated EV using a densitometry-based technique that measures the water content within the ischemic lesion. Hence, the EVs estimated in this study could be a marker for vasogenic edema, and not cytotoxic edema occurring due to osmotic gradients between the extra and intra-cellular spaces (22). Thus, the ecIVs are a marker for true infarct tissue, cytotoxic edema, and other ischemic components that cannot be distinguished on NCCT scans. Furthermore, we did not find that the 24-h lesion characteristics influence edema-corrected infarct progression. This may indicate that edema corrected infarct mainly extends into the downstream at-risk territory. It is also possible

TABLE 4 | Multivariable logistic regression analysis of edema and edema-corrected infarct progression with favorable functional outcome (modified Rankin Scale 0–2) in 187 patients.

Variable	Model 1: Edema	progression	Model 2: Edema corrected infarct progression		
	Odds ratio (95% Cl)	p-value	Odds ratio (95% Cl)	<i>p</i> -value	
Progression^	0.53 (0.28–0.94)	0.05*	0.80 (0.62–0.99)	0.06∮	
Total ischemic lesion volume^	0.83 (0.72-0.94)	0.01**	0.79 (0.69–0.89)	<0.01**	
Age	0.96 (0.93–0.99)	0.01**	0.96 (0.93–0.99)	0.01**	
Coumarines	0.12 (0-1.10)	0.11	0.12 (0-1.07)	0.11	
Systolic blood pressure	0.99 (0.97-1.01)	0.26	0.99 (0.97-1.01)	0.23	
Baseline NIHSS	0.94 (0.87-1.00)	0.07∮	0.94 (0.88–1.01)	0.10∮	
Proximal occlusion	0.42 (0.15-1.07)	0.08∮	0.38 (0.14–0.99)	0.06∮	
Collaterals	1.03 (0.59–1.77)	0.92	0.94 (0.54–1.61)	0.82	
Intra-arterial thrombectomy	2.29 (1.06-5.06)	0.04*	2.29 (1.06-5.06)	0.04*	

^Analysis done for 10 ml volume.

** $p \le 0.01$.

*p ≤ 0.05.

^y p ≤ 0.10.

TABLE 5 Comparison of ischemic lesion characteristics obtained in the subacute period after treatment in patients with and without successful recanalization.

		24 h			1 week			Progression	
Successful recanalization	No (<i>n</i> = 71)	Yes (<i>n</i> = 100)	<i>p</i> -value	No (<i>n</i> = 71)	Yes (<i>n</i> = 100)	p-value	No (<i>n</i> = 71)	Yes (<i>n</i> = 100)	<i>p</i> -value
Total ischemic lesion volume (ml)	54 (23–98)	33 (13–62)	0.02*	81 (35–140)	63 (24–97)	0.06	22 (10–43)	19 (5.4–33)	0.33
Edema volume (ml)	12 (4.9–25)	5.1 (2.2–11)	<0.01**	24 (9.4–48)	13 (5.9–22)	<0.01**	8.0 (3.3–20)	5.2 (1.6–13)	0.01*
Net water uptake (%)	24 (21–28)	20 (14–24)	<0.01**	30 (25–35)	25 (20–29)	<0.01**	5.6 (0.19–11)	6.0 (-0.04-11)	0.86
Edema corrected infarct volumes (ml)	34 (17–69)	24 (11–45)	0.03*	55 (24–92)	47 (19–66)	0.11	11 (5.7–21)	14 (1.9–21)	1.00
Hemorrhage volume (ml)	0 (0-1.1)	0 (0–1.3)	0.77	0 (0–2.1)	0 (0–1.8)	0.66	0 (0–0.0)	0 (0–0)	0.80

All data are displayed as median (interquartile range). Mann–Whitney U-test was performed to assess differences in lesion characteristics between patients with and without successful recanalization (mAOL = 3 points).

** $p \le 0.01$.

*p ≤ 0.05.

that edema-corrected infarct progression could be caused by other factors such as unsuccessful recanalization, no-reflow phenomenon, thrombus fragmentation, and/or formation of microvascular emboli (6). This could be supported by our finding that the 24-h lesion characteristics only showed a similar trend in the sub-population of unsuccessful recanalization. Nevertheless, the mechanism of edema-corrected infarct progression still needs to be explored.

In a previous study on this patient population, we showed that lesion progression in the subacute period is associated with unfavorable functional outcome (5). In the current study, we extended this finding to show that edema progression within the lesion is associated with unfavorable functional outcome. This finding is in line with previous studies that assessed the influence of edema on functional outcome (15, 23, 24). It is surprising that in our population, edema-corrected infarct progression only showed a similar but non-significant trend that could be due to the overlapping effect of adjusting for the 24-h lesion volume. However, due to the pertinent association between infarct and edema, a similar study on a larger population is required to validate our findings.

Successful recanalization is known to decrease edema formation. Kimberly et al. showed reduced edema, defined by midline shift, on early follow-up (24 h) and late followup (5–7 days) in patients with successful recanalization (15). Similarly, Broocks et al. showed that patients with successful treatment, defined as reperfusion using TICI score, have decreased NWU and associated EVs after 24 h compared to those with unsuccessful treatment (21). In addition to showing comparable results after 24 h, we showed that the similar trend TABLE 6 | Comparison of ischemic lesion characteristics obtained in the subacute period after treatment in patients that were randomized to receive EVT and iVT or only IVT.

24 h				1 week			Progression		
iVT + EVT	No <i>N</i> = 96	Yes <i>N</i> = 91	p-value	No <i>N</i> = 96	Yes <i>N</i> = 91	p-value	No <i>N</i> = 96	Yes <i>N</i> = 91	<i>p</i> -value
Total ischemic lesion volume (ml)	48 (23–81)	33 (16–77)	0.10	79 (35–130)	58 (25–99)	0.12	21 (11–43)	20 (6.8–35)	0.26
Edema volume (ml)	8.8 (5.0–20)	4.7 (2.1–13)	0.01**	20 (9.5–39)	14 (6.0–27)	0.07	6.7 (2.9–17)	6.1 (2.0–14)	0.36
Percentage NWU	23 (18–28)	21 (14–24)	<0.01**	28 (23–33)	26 (21–30)	0.03*	5.3 (-0.30-10)	7.0 (1.1–12)	0.15
Edema corrected infarct volume (ml)	35 (17–64)	23 (13–56)	0.14	55 (25–93)	41 (19–73)	0.20	12 (5.3–22)	12 (1.7–21)	0.32
Hemorrhage volume (ml)	0 (0–0.86)	0 (0–2.3)	0.79	0 (0–2.6)	0 (0-1.6)	0.99	0 (0–0.49)	0 (0–0)	0.07

All data are displayed as median (interquartile range). Mann–Whitney U-test was performed to assess differences in lesion characteristics between patients with and without EVT. $**p \leq 0.01$.

*p ≤ 0.05.

continues in the subacute period up to 1 week after onset. Patients with successful recanalization demonstrated reduced EVs in comparison with patients that do not have successful recanalization in the late follow-up images as well. Furthermore, Broocks et al. also showed that growth of lesion and edema corrected infarct is lower in patients with successful treatment compared to those without successful treatment (7). Moreover, Federau et al. assessed ischemic lesions on MR perfusion images in the subacute period and showed reduced subacute lesion growth in patients that have >90% reperfusion (2). In our population, we observed similar trends in lesion and ecIVs after 24 h. We observed that total lesion and ecIV at 1 week, and lesion progression was lower in patients that have successful recanalization; however, these differences were not statistically significant. Furthermore, our finding that patients that received EVT presented with lower NWU after 24 h and 1 week further establishes the benefit of iVT and EVT over iVT only.

Our study has a few limitations. Firstly, as the 1-week NCCT scans were obtained between approximately 3 and 9 days, and since it is known that the influence of edema is most pronounced in the subacute period after stroke onset, future studies assessing the bias of the variable time frame on lesion and growth of its constituents are required (4). Secondly, mTICI score assessed on digital subtraction angiography (DSA) scans is the standard measure for reperfusion and treatment success. However, in this study, treatment success was defined as recanalization status using the mAOL score assessed on the 24-h CTA scans since DSAs were only available for the patients randomized to receive IVT and EVT. There can be a difference in the recanalization directly assessed after EVT using DSA images and assessed 24-h after treatment because of the dynamic behavior of clot formation and dissolution. Therefore, our results cannot directly be translated to current measures of treatment success. Thirdly, hyper-densities within the hypodense areas recognized as hemorrhage or contrast extravasation were included in the lesion delineations. However, hemorrhagic regions within these lesions were only defined for patients identified to be suffering from hemorrhagic transformation on the 1-week scan. Thus, the net water uptake measurements could have been biased by the influence of contrast extravasation. Lastly, 24-h lesion volume was as a potential confounder in the multivariable regression model to assess the influence of edema progression on favorable functional outcome despite being significantly associated with edema progression. This could have led to some errors associated with multicollinearity. However, since the purpose was to assess the influence of edema progression, after accounting for the TILV after 24 h, on functional outcome, both these variables were of interest and included in the final model.

CONCLUSION

Both edema and ecIVs continue to progress in the subacute period after treatment of stroke, noting that lesion progression cannot be explained by increase in edema alone. Edema progression is associated with unfavorable functional outcome and is larger in patients with unsuccessful recanalization and in patients with large 24-h infarct lesions. This could also help in improving the identification of secondary treatment targets for subacute care of patients after an acute ischemic stroke.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available due to ethical restrictions that prevent the sharing of patient data. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to the MR CLEAN executive committee (www.mrclean-trial.org), mrclean@erasmusmc.nl.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by a Central Medical Ethics Committee and the research boards of all participating centers accepted the MR CLEAN trial. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WZ, AL, RO, DD, YR, and CM designed the MR CLEAN trial. OB collected and prepared the data for the trial. PK, KK, OB, and AB prepared data for this study. PK performed the statistical analysis, interpreted the results, and drafted the paper. HM assisted with the statistical analysis, interpretation of the results, and drafting the paper. KK, AB, KT, OB, AY, WZ, RO, AL, DD, YR, JB, and CM critically revised the paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

MR CLEAN was partly funded by the Dutch Heart Foundation (2008 T030). MR CLEAN was also funded by unrestricted grants from: AngioCare BV, Covidien/EV3[®], MEDAC Gmbh/LAMEPRO, Penumbra Inc., and Concentric Medical/TOP Medical BV. This study was designed, conducted, analyzed, and interpreted by the investigators independently of all. This sub-study was also funded by INSIST (www.insist-h2020.eu): a European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (Grant Agreement Number: 777072).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Amber Bucker (Department of Radiology, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands) for her contribution in patient selection and delineation of the 24-h ischemic lesion volumes.

MR CLEAN TRIAL INVESTIGATORS

Olvert A. Berkhemer, Amsterdam UMC, location AMC, Netherlands and Erasmus MC-University Medical Center Rotterdam, Netherlands. Puck S. S. Fransen, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center Rotterdam, Netherlands. Debbie Beumer, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center Rotterdam, Netherlands and Maastricht University Medical Center and Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht (CARIM), Netherlands. Berkhemer, Fransen, and Beumer contributed equally. Lucie A. van den Berg, Amsterdam UMC, location AMC, Netherlands. Hester F. Lingsma, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center Rotterdam, Netherlands. Albert J. Yoo, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, United States of America. Wouter J. Schonewille, Saint Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein, Netherlands. Jan Albert Vos, MD, Sint Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein, Netherlands. Paul J. Nederkoorn, Amsterdam UMC, location AMC, Netherlands. Marieke J. H. Wermer and Marianne A. A. van Walderveen, Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands. Julie Staals, Maastricht University Medical Center and Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht (CARIM), Netherlands. Jeannette Hofmeijer and Jacques A. van Oostaven, Rijnstate Hospital, Arnhem, Netherlands. Geert J. Lycklama à Nijeholt and Jelis Boiten, MC Haaglanden, The Hague, Netherlands. Patrick A. Brouwer and Bart J. Emmer, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center Rotterdam, Netherlands. Sebastiaan F. de Bruijn and Lukas C. van Dijk, HAGA Hospital, The Hague, Netherlands. L. Jaap Kappelle, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands. Rob H. Lo, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands. Ewoud J. van Dijk and Joost de Vries, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands. Paul L. M. de Kort and Willem Jan J. van Rooij, Sint Elisabeth Hospital, Tilburg, Netherlands. Jan S. P. van den Berg and Boudewijn A. A. M. van Hasselt, Isala Klinieken, Zwolle, Netherlands. Leo A. M. Aerden and René J. Dallinga, Reinier de Graaf Gasthuis, Delft, Netherlands. Marieke C. Visser and Joseph C. J. Bot, Amsterdam UMC, location VU, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Patrick C. Vroomen and Omid Eshghi, University Medical Center Groningen, the Netherlands. Tobien H. C. M. L. Schreuder and Roel J. J. Heijboer, Atrium Medical Center, Heerlen, Netherlands. Koos Keizer and Alexander V. Tielbeek, Catharina Hospital, Eindhoven, Netherlands. Heleen M. den Hertog and Dick G. Gerrits, Medical Spectrum Twente, Enschede, Netherlands. Renske M. van den Berg-Vos and Giorgos B. Karas, Sint Lucas Andreas Hospital, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Ewout W. Steverberg, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center Rotterdam, the Netherlands. H. Zwenneke Flach, Isala Klinieken, Zwolle, Netherlands. Henk A. Marquering and Marieke E. S. Sprengers, Amsterdam UMC, location AMC, Netherlands. Sjoerd F. M. Jenniskens, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands. Ludo F. M. Beenen and René van den Berg, Amsterdam UMC, location AMC, Netherlands. Peter J. Koudstaal and Wim H. van Zwam, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center Rotterdam, Netherlands. Yvo B. W. E. M. Roos, Amsterdam UMC, location AMC, Netherlands. Aad van der Lugt, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center Rotterdam, Netherlands. Robert J. van Oostenbrugge, Maastricht University Medical Center and Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht (CARIM), the Netherlands. Charles B. L. M. Majoie, Amsterdam UMC, location AMC, Netherlands. Diederik W. J. Dippel, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center Rotterdam, Netherlands.

REFERENCES

- Xiong XY, Liu L, Yang QW. Refocusing neuroprotection in cerebral reperfusion era: new challenges and strategies. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:1– 11. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00249
- Federau C, Mlynash M, Christensen S, Zaharchuk G, Cha B, Lansberg MG, Wintermark M, Albers GW. Evolution of volume and signal intensity on fluid-attenuated inversion recovery MR images after endovascular

stroke therapy. Radiology. (2016) 280:184–92. doi: 10.1148/radiol.20151 51586

- Krongold M, Almekhlafi MA, Demchuk AM, Coutts SB, Frayne R, Eilaghi A. Final infarct volume estimation on 1-week follow-up MR imaging is feasible and is dependent on recanalization status. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2015) 7:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2014.10.010
- 4. Bucker A, Boers AM, Bot JCJ, Berkhemer OA, Lingsma HF, Yoo AJ, et al. Associations of Ischemic Lesion Volume With Functional Outcome in Patients

With Acute Ischemic Stroke 24-Hour Versus 1-Week Imaging on behalf of the MR CLEAN Trial Investigators (Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial of Endovascular Treatment for Acute Ischemic Stroke in the Netherlands).

- 5. Konduri P, van Voorst H, Bucker A, Kranendonk K van, Boers A, Treurniet K, et al. Post-treatment ischemic lesion evolution is associated with reduced favorable functional outcome in stroke patients. *Stroke*. (2021).
- Zhao W, Wu C, Dornbos D, III, Sijie Li, Song H, Wang Y, et al. Multiphase adjuvant neuroprotection for stroke. *Brain Circ.* (2017) 6:35–40. doi: 10.4103/bc.bc_58_19
- Broocks G, Hanning U, Faizy TD, Scheibel A, Nawabi J, Schön G, et al. Ischemic lesion growth in acute stroke: water uptake quantification distinguishes between edema and tissue infarct. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2019) 40:823–832. doi: 10.1177/0271678X19848505
- Berkhemer OA, Fransen PSS, Beumer D, van den Berg LA, Lingsma HF, Yoo AJ, et al. A randomized trial of intraarterial treatment for acute ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med. (2015) 372:11–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1411587
- Boers AM, Marquering HA, Jochem JJ, Besselink NJ, Berkhemer OA, Van Der Lugt A, et al. Automated cerebral infarct volume measurement in followup noncontrast CT scans of patients with acute ischemic stroke. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2013) 34:1522–7. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A3463
- Sales Barros R, Tolhuisen ML, Boers AMM, Jansen I, Ponomareva E, Dippel DWJ, et al. Automatic segmentation of cerebral infarcts in followup computed tomography images with convolutional neural networks. J Neurointerv Surg. (2019) 12:1–6. doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2019-015471
- Klein S, Staring M, Murphy K, Viergever MA, Pluim JPW. Elastix: a toolbox for intensity-based medical image registration. *IEEE Trans Med Imaging*. (2010) 29:196–205. doi: 10.1109/TMI.2009.2035616
- Yaniv Z, Lowekamp BC, Johnson HJ, Beare R. SimpleITK image-analysis notebooks: a collaborative environment for education and reproducible research. J Digit Imaging. (2018) 31:290–303. doi: 10.1007/s10278-017-0037-8
- Beare R, Lowekamp B, Yaniv Z. Image segmentation, registration and characterization in R with simpleITK. J Stat Softw. (2018) 86:8. doi: 10.18637/jss.v086.i08
- Lowekamp BC, Chen DT, Ibáñez L, Blezek D. The design of simpleITK. Front Neuroinform. (2013) 7:1–14. doi: 10.3389/fninf.2013.00045
- Kimberly WT, Dutra BG, Boers AMM, Alves HCBR, Berkhemer OA, Van Den Berg L, et al. Association of reperfusion with brain edema in patients with acute ischemic stroke: a secondary analysis of the MR CLEAN trial. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:453–61. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017. 5162
- Yoo AJ, Sheth KN, Kimberly WT, Chaudhry ZA, Elm JJ, Jacobson S, Davis SM, Donnan GA, Albers GW, Stern BJ, et al. Validating imaging biomarkers of cerebral edema in patients with severe ischemic stroke. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis.* (2013) 22:742–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2012.01.002
- Ostwaldt AC, Battey TWK, Irvine HJ, Campbell BCV, Davis SM, Donnan GA, et al. Comparative analysis of markers of mass effect after ischemic stroke. J Neuroimaging. (2018) 28:530–4. doi: 10.1111/jon. 12525
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Ernst M, Faizy TD, Minnerup J, Siemonsen S, et al. Computed tomography-based imaging of Voxel-Wise Lesion water uptake in ischemic brain: relationship between density and direct volumetry. *Invest Radiol.* (2018) 53:207–13. doi: 10.1097/RLI.00000000000 00430
- 19. Broocks G, Flottmann F, Scheibel A, Aigner A, Faizy TD, Hanning U, et al. Quantitative lesion water uptake in acute stroke computed

tomography is a predictor of malignant infarction. *Stroke.* (2018) 49:1906-12. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.020507

- Vorasayan P, Bevers MB, Beslow LA, Sze G, Molyneaux BJ, Hinson HE, et al. Intravenous glibenclamide reduces lesional water uptake in large hemispheric infarction. *Stroke*. (2019) 50:3021–7. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.026036
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Hanning U, Schön G, Sporns P, Minnerup J, et al. Impact of endovascular recanalization on quantitative lesion water uptake in ischemic anterior circulation strokes. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* (2019) 40:437–445. doi: 10.1177/0271678X18823601
- 22. Simard JM, Kent TA, Chen M, Tarasov KV, Gerzanich V. Brain oedema in focal ischaemia: molecular pathophysiology and theoretical implications. *Lancet Neurol.* (2007) 6:258–68. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70055-8
- 23. Wheeler HM, Mlynash M, Inoue M, Tipirnini A, Liggins J, Bammer R, et al. The growth rate of early DWI lesions is highly variable and associated with penumbral salvage and clinical outcomes following endovascular reperfusion. *Int J Stroke*. (2015) 10:723–9. doi: 10.1111/ijs.12436
- Weimar C, König IR, Kraywinkel K, Ziegler A, Diener HC. Age and national institutes of health stroke scale score within 6 hours after onset are accurate predictors of outcome after cerebral ischemia. *Stroke.* (2003) 35:158–62. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000106761.94985.8B

Conflict of Interest: PK was funded by INSIST (www.insist-h2020.eu): a European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (Grant Agreement Number: 777072). AB is a shareholder of Nico.Lab. AY reports grants from Cerenovus Neurovascular, Medtronic, Stryker, Penumbra, and Genentech for investigator-initiated studies; funds from Stryker, Cerenovus Neurovascular and Penumbra (core imaging lab activities) and Genentech (consultation); and declares to have equity ownership from Insera Therapeutics. WZ reports speaker fees from Stryker and Cerenovus (paid to the institution). AL and DD report funds from the Cerenovus Neurovascular, Dutch Heart Foundation, Brain Foundation Netherlands, Organization for Health Research and Development, Health Holland Top Sector Life Sciences and Health, and unrestricted grants paid to the institution from AngioCare BV, Covidien/EV3, MEDAC Gmbh/LAMEPRO, PenumbraInc., Top Medical/Concentric, Stryker, Stryker European Operations BV, Medtronic, Thrombolytic Science and LLC for research. AL further reports grants paid to the institution from the Siemens Healthineers, GE Healthcare, and Philips Healthcare. YR is a shareholder at Nico.Lab. CM reports grants from European Commission, during the conduct of the study; grants from CVON/Dutch Heart Foundation, grants from TWIN Foundation, grants from Stryker, outside the submitted work; and owns stock in Nico.lab. HM is a co-founder and shareholder of Nico.lab.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Konduri, van Kranendonk, Boers, Treurniet, Berkhemer, Yoo, van Zwam, Oostenbrugge, van der Lugt, Dippel, Roos, Bot, Majoie, Marquering and the MR CLEAN Trial Investigators (Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial of Endovascular Treatment for Acute Ischemic Stroke in the Netherlands). This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Pretreatment of Sulfonylureas Reducing Perihematomal Edema in Diabetic Patients With Basal Ganglia Hemorrhage: A Retrospective Case-Control Study

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriel Broocks, Universität Hamburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Jawed Nawabi, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany Vincent Geest, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany

*Correspondence:

Jiang Wen jiangwen@fmmu.edu.cn Yang Fang fyangx_neuro@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 05 July 2021 Accepted: 21 September 2021 Published: 22 October 2021

Citation:

Jingjing Z, Jingjing Z, Bo H, Le W, Jingya W, Dong W, Fang Y and Wen J (2021) Pretreatment of Sulfonylureas Reducing Perihematomal Edema in Diabetic Patients With Basal Ganglia Hemorrhage: A Retrospective Case-Control Study. Front. Neurol. 12:736383. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.736383 Zhang Jingjing[†], Zhao Jingjing[†], Hui Bo, Wang Le, Wei Jingya, Wei Dong, Yang Fang^{*} and Jiang Wen^{*}

Department of Neurology, Xijing Hospital, Fourth Military Medical University (Air Force Medical University), Xi'an, China

Background: The sulfonylurea receptor 1-transient receptor potential melastatin 4 (SUR1–TRPM4) channel is a target key mediator of brain edema. Sulfonylureas (SFUs) are blockers of the SUR1–TRPM4 channel. We made two assessments for the pretreatment of SFUs: (1) whether it associates with lower perihematomal edema (PHE) and (2) whether it associates with improved clinical outcomes in diabetic patients who have acute basal ganglia hemorrhage.

Methods: This retrospective case-control study was conducted in diabetic adults receiving regular SFUs before the onset of intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH). All of the patients received the clinical diagnosis of spontaneous basal ganglia hemorrhage. The diagnosis was confirmed by a CT scan within 7 days after hemorrhage. For each case, we selected two matched controls with basal ganglia hemorrhage based on admission time (\leq 5 years) and age differences (\leq 5 years), with the same gender and similar hematoma volume. The primary outcome was PHE volume, and the secondary outcomes were relative PHE (rPHE), functional independence according to modified Rankin Scale score and Barthel Index at discharge, and death rate in the hospital.

Results: A total of 27 patients (nine cases and 18 matched controls), admitted between January 1, 2009 and October 31, 2018, were included in our study. There was no significant association between SFU patients and non-SFU patients on PHE volumes [15.4 (7.4–50.2 ml) vs. 8.0 (3.1–22.1) ml, p = 0.100]. Compared to non-SFU patients, the SFU patients had significantly lower rPHE [0.8 (0.7–1.3) vs. 1.5 (1.2–1.9), p = 0.006]. After we adjusted the confounding factors, we found that sulfonylureas can significantly reduce both PHE volume (regression coefficient: –13.607, 95% CI: –26.185 to –1.029, p = 0.005) and rPHE (regression coefficient: –0.566, 95% CI: –0.971 to –0.161, p = 0.009). However, we found no significant improvement in clinical outcomes at discharge, in the event of pretreatment of SFUs before the onset of ICH, even after we adjusted the confounding factors.

72

Conclusion: For diabetic patients with acute basal ganglia hemorrhage, pretreatment of sulfonylureas may associate with lower PHE and relative PHE on admission. No significant effect was found on the clinical outcomes when the patients were discharged. Future studies are needed to assess the potential clinical benefits using sulfonylureas for ICH patients.

Keywords: sulfonylureas, perihematomal edema, intracerebral hemorrhage, prognosis, case-control study

INTRODUCTION

Intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH) accounts for 10% of all strokes. It is associated with high disability and mortality risks; therefore, it brings a huge burden to the society today (1). The physical effects of hematoma (mass effect) and secondary perihematomal edema (PHE) are major causes of severe neurological deficits and even death. Although symptomatic treatments, such as osmotic drugs, have been used on ICH patients, their therapeutic effects are insufficient. Therefore, the need for novel anti-edema drugs has become more urgent (2).

Among all mechanisms causing brain edema, blood-brain barrier hyperpermeability and cell swelling inducers have been the two main foci (2). Out of all the target mediators, a key potential candidate is the sulfonylurea receptor 1-transient receptor potential melastatin 4 (SUR1-TRPM4) channel. In response to the depletion of ATP by hypoxia, the SUR1-TRPM4 channel opens and releases an unregulated flow of ions and therefore causes brain edema (3). In rodent stroke models, sulfonylureas were confirmed as a blocker to the SUR1-TRPM4 channel. They reduce non-selective ion influx and excess brain water in peri-infarct regions (3). Recently, clinical trials suggested that, after an ischemic stroke, sulfonylureas reduce symptomatic hemorrhagic transformation (4, 5). Besides this, pretreated sulfonylureas were associated with smaller volumes of hematoma and PHE after ICH as well as improved discharge destination (6, 7).

Basal ganglia hemorrhage, the most common form of spontaneous ICH, is associated with a high mortality risk (8). In this study, we investigated the effects of sulfonylureas pretreatment on volumes of PHE on admission and clinical outcomes at discharge for diabetic patients with basal ganglia hemorrhage.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and Data Collection

We conducted a retrospective case-control study of diabetic patients with acute ICH admitted at the Department of Neurology of the Xijing Hospital of Air Force Medical University, Xi'an, China, from January 1, 2009 to October 31, 2018. The patients included in the study were over 18 years old, had sulfonylureas before the onset, and were diagnosed as spontaneous basal ganglia hemorrhage as confirmed by computed tomography (CT) scan within the first 7 days. For each case, two matched controls with basal ganglia hemorrhage were selected based on the most recent admission data (\leq 5 years),

with age difference within 5 years, the same gender, and similar hematoma volume. The patients were excluded if they had a modified Rankin Scale (mRS) score \geq 3, they had a secondary ICH, or the cranial CT was unavailable upon admission. Midline shift was measured as the perpendicular distance between the septum pellucidum and the ideal midline (the line being coplanar with the falx cerebri) (9). The primary outcome was PHE volume, and the secondary outcomes were relative PHE (rPHE, a ratio of PHE to ICH volume), functional independence according to mRS score and Barthel Index at discharge, and death rate in the hospital. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Xijing Hospital (KY20182067-F-1). Given that this study was retrospective, informed consent was not available.

Imaging Analysis

An independent neuroradiologist blindly measured the ICH and PHE volumes using the 3D slicer software (v.4.10.2; NIH US) based on the regions of interest from the head CT of the patients upon admission. The assessment of the evaluating agreement of the researchers was performed in another study from our group, and the results indicated a high agreement for our researchers (10). In addition, the volume of ICH and PHE on CT was measured using a semiautomatic volumetric algorithm in our study (11). rPHE was calculated using the following formula: rPHE = PHE volume/ICH volume.

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analysis was completed using the Statistical Package for Social Science (version 19.0 for Windows; SPSS Inc., Chicago). Normally distributed data were described as mean (standard deviation) and analyzed by Student's t-test. Skewed data were described as median (interquartile range) and analyzed by Mann–Whitney U-test. Chi-square test or Fisher exact test was used for comparison between dichotomous data. Linear regression or binary logistic regression were performed for multivariate analysis. Statistical significance was set as a two-sided P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Study Population

A flow diagram of the included and excluded patients is provided in **Figure 1**. From January 1, 2009 to October 31, 2018, a total of 1,835 patients with spontaneous ICH were admitted to Xijing Hospital. Among them, 146 diabetic patients met the criteria of this study, which required ICH in the basal ganglia region. Nine patients pretreated with sulfonylureas before the onset of



ICH were included in the sulfonylureas group (SFU patients), and 18 matched controls were selected (non-SFU patients). The average onset age of patients was 61 (51–71) years old. Out of all patients, 77.8% were male, and the average clinical scores were as follows: the NIHSS score was 13.0 (5.0–36.0), the Glasgow Coma Score (GCS) score was 14.0 (6.0–15.0), and the ICH score was 1.0 (0.0–3.0). The two groups did not differ significantly in baseline characteristics, such as age, gender, past history, medication history, blood pressure, clinical scores, and laboratory indicators, upon admission. The only major difference was that the time from onset to admission head CT in the sulfonylureas group was longer than that in the non-sulfonylureas group [1 (1–3) vs. 1 (1–1) days, P = 0.011] (**Table 1**). The clinical characteristics are shown in **Table 1**.

Treatment During Hospitalization

During hospitalization, more than half of the SFU patients continued to use sulfonylureas for blood glucose control, with a significantly higher rate than those in the non-SFU group (55.6 vs. 5.6%, P = 0.008). Between the two groups, there was no statistical difference in the treatment for blood pressure control nor in the use of osmotic drugs, hemostasis, craniotomy, drainage, mechanical ventilation, or other treatments.

Imaging Characteristics

The measurements of hematoma and PHE using 3D slicer software package is provided in **Figure 2**. We found that there was no significant association between SFU patients and non-SFU patients on PHE volume [15.4 (7.4–50.2) ml

vs. 8.0 (3.1–22.1) ml, p = 0.100]. However, the rPHE in SFU patients was significantly lower [0.8 (0.7–1.3) vs. 1.5 (1.2–1.9), p = 0.006], while there was no significant difference between the two groups in hematoma breaking into ventricles and midline shift. **Table 2** shows the results of the first head CT upon admission of the SFU and non-SFU patients.

In order to clarify the influence of confounding factors on our results, we carried out collinearity statistics in regression analysis. The results showed that there was no multicollinearity in the regression analysis in our study (**Table 3**). After adjusting for confounding factors, we found that sulfonylureas significantly associated with a lower PHE volume (regression coefficient: -13.607, 95% CI: -26.185 to -1.029, p = 0.035) and rPHE (regression coefficient: -0.566, 95% CI: -0.971 to -0.161, p = 0.009) (**Table 4**).

Clinical Outcomes

The average mRS score was 4 at the time the patients were discharged in both groups; no significant differences were found (P = 0.831). In neither group did we find any significant association between pretreatment of sulfonylureas and inhospital mortality, the number of patients with mRS ≥ 3 , or Barthel Index at discharge. This remained true even after we adjusted for confounding factors (age, gender, NIHSS and GCS on admission, imaging data including ICH volume, PHE volume, hematoma breaking into ventricles and midline shift, and sulfonylureas during hospitalization).

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of sulfonylureas (SFU) and non-SFU patients.

	All patients	Non-SFU patients	SFU patients	P-value
	(N = 27)	(N = 18)	(N = 9)	
Age (years)	61 (51–71)	61 (51–68)	61 (45–72)	0.837
Male (N, %)	21 (77.8%)	14 (77.8%)	7 (77.8%)	1.000
Time from onset to admission head CT (day) ^a	1 (1–1)	1 (1–1)	1 (1–3)	0.011
ICH volume (ml)	11.4 (4.24–31.94)	12.7 (5.0–36.3)	11.4 (3.0–30.8)	0.440
Past history				
Stroke (N, %)	4 (14.8%)	4 (22.2%)	0 (0.0%)	0.268
Hypertension (N, %)	20 (74.1%)	13 (72.2%)	7 (77.8%)	1.000
Coronary heart disease (N, %)	3 (11.1%)	1 (5.6%)	2 (22.2%)	0.250
Hyperlipidemia (N, %)	2 (7.4%)	1 (5.6%)	1 (11.1%)	1.000
Alcoholism (N, %)	2 (7.4%)	1 (5.6%)	1 (11.1%)	1.000
Smoking (N, %)	6 (22.2%)	2 (11.1%)	4 (44.4%)	0.136
Medication history				
Antiplatelet agents (N, %)	3 (11.1%)	2 (11.1%)	1 (11.1%)	1.000
Anticoagulants (N, %)	1 (3.7%)	1 (5.6%)	0 (0.0%)	1.000
Statins (N, %)	3 (11.1%)	2 (11.1%)	1 (11.1%)	1.000
Blood pressure on admission				
SBP (mm Hg) ^b	160 (±27)	162 (±30)	156 (±23)	0.608
DBP (mm Hg) ^b	95 (±19)	96 (±20)	92 (±16)	0.635
MBP (mm Hg) ^b	117 (±20)	118 (±22)	113 (±17)	0.608
Clinical scores on admission				
NIHSSª	13.0 (5.0–36.0)	13.5 (5.0–34.0)	13.0 (3.0–36.5)	0.897
GCS ^a	14.0 (6.0–15.0)	14.0 (6.0–15.0)	15.0 (4.5–15.0)	0.956
ICH score ^a	1.0 (0.0–3.0)	1.0 (0.0–3.0)	1.0 (0.0-3.0)	0.978
Laboratory indicators on admission				
Blood glucose (mmol/L) ^b	12.2 (±5.3)	11.8 (±5.4)	13.1 (±5.4)	0.453
Hematocrit	0.4 (±0.45)	0.4 (±0.50)	0.4 (±0.37)	0.954
INR ^b	1.0 (±0.1)	1.0 (±0.1)	1.0 (±0.1)	0.905
Platelet (10 ⁹ /L) ^b	176 (±56)	167 (±56)	193 (±56)	0.271
Serum creatinine (μ mol/L) ^b	96.6 (±44.6)	105.1 (±52.2)	80.0 (±13.8)	0.161
Length of stay (day) ^a	13 (8–19)	13 (7–18)	13 (8–21)	0.938

CT, computed tomography; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; MBP, mean arterial pressure; NIHSS, National Institute of Health Stroke Scale; GCS, Glasgow Coma Score; ICH, intracerebral hemorrhage; INR, international normalized ratio.

^aMedian (quartile).

 b Mean \pm standard deviation.

DISCUSSION

The retrospective case-control study showed that pretreatment of sulfonylureas significantly associated with lower PHE and rPHE in diabetic patients who have acute basal ganglia hemorrhage. However, there was no significant difference on clinical outcomes between SFU and non-SFU patients at discharge.

Basal ganglia hemorrhage accounts for 50–70% of spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage, and 35–44% of basal ganglia hemorrhage cases are due to hypertension (12, 13). In our study, we did not find any significant differences in patients with hypertension between the SFU and non-SFU groups. Regarding the use of sulfonylureas during hospitalization, significantly more patients in the SFU group received it than in the non-SFU group. Moreover, we found no difference in other treatments between the two groups. Our findings provided evidence that an association existed between the pretreatment of sulfonylureas prior to the onset of ICH and decreased PHE and rPHE in the acute stage. This is in accordance with a previous clinical trial (7). Preclinical studies proved that sulfonylureas blocked the SUR1–TRPM4 channel from allowing ions to enter into cells. This resulted in reducing the formation of cytotoxic edema and vasogenic edema; then, sulfonylureas inhibited the secretion of the inflammatory mediator MMP-9 and eventually benefit ICH (14, 15). After adjusting for confounders, our results showed that the PHE volume and rPHE in SFU patients were smaller than those in non-SFU patients. In addition, in order to more accurately describe the effect of sulfonylureas on PHE, we used ICH volume as one of the matching factors instead of an outcome indicator.

For patients pretreated with sulfonylureas before admission, one previous study described improved discharge destination,



FIGURE 2 | Measurements of hematoma and perihematomal edema using 3D slicer software package. Two patients with similar ICH volumes but different PHE volumes were shown in this figure. Top panel: A patient with ICH from non-SFU group. (A) original image of head CT. (B) hematoma (5.0 ml) marked with pink. (C) PHE (6.7 ml) marked with blue. Bottom panel: A patient with ICH from SFU group. (D) original image of head CT. (E) hematoma(4.9ml) marked with pink. (F) PHE (4.2 ml) marked with blue. ICH, intracerebral hemorrhage; PHE, perihematomal edema.

TABLE 2 | Imaging characteristics on admission of sulfonylureas (SFU) and non-SFU patients.

	Non-SFU patients	SFU patients	P-value
	(<i>N</i> = 18)	(N = 9)	
PHE volume (ml)ª	15.4 (7.4–50.2)	8.0 (3.1–22.1)	0.100
rPHE ^a	1.5 (1.2–1.9)	0.8 (0.7–1.3)	0.006
Hematoma breaking into ventricles (N, %)	6 (33.3%)	2 (22.2%)	0.676
Midline shift (N, %)	7 (38.9%)	3 (33.3%)	1.000
^a Median (quartile).			

TABLE 3 | Collinearity statistics of confounding factors in regression analysis.

	PHE		rPHE	
	Tolerance	VIF	Tolerance	VIF
Age	0.654	1.530	0.654	1.530
Gender	0.536	1.864	0.536	1.864
Time from onset to admission head CT	0.676	1.480	0.676	1.480
ICH volume	0.276	3.619	0.276	3.619
Hematoma breaking into ventricles	0.626	1.598	0.626	1.598
Midline shift	0.213	4.701	0.213	4.701

VIF, variance inflation factor.

The collinearity in regression analysis can be judged by two indicators: (1) when VIF \geq 10, it indicates that there is serious multicollinearity between independent variables; and (2) when tolerance is <0.1, collinearity may be serious.

and another study found that pretreatment with sulfonylureas was significantly associated with a lower likelihood of unfavorable functional outcome (mRS \geq 3) at discharge (6, 7). Similar to a

TABLE 4 | Analysis of the associations between pretreatment of sulfonylureas use, perihematomal edema (PHE) volume and rPHE in sulfonylureas (SFU) and non-SFU patients.

	Regression coefficient (95% CI)	P-value	Adjusted regression coefficient (95% CI)	Adjusted <i>P</i> -value
PHE volume	-17.816 (-36.874 to 1.243)	0.066	-13.607 (-26.185 to -1.029)	0.035
rPHE	-0.593 (-0.977 to -0.210)	0.004	-0.566 (-0.971 to -0.161)	0.009

Adjusted P-value by multiple linear regression analysis for confounders, including age, gender, time from onset to admission head CT, ICH volume, hematoma breaking into ventricles, and midline shift.

previous study (6), we used both mRS score and Barthel Index at discharge as parameters to assess the functional outcomes. However, pretreatment of sulfonylureas before the onset of ICH showed no significant improvement in clinical outcomes at discharge, even after we had adjusted for the confounding factors. One reason for the difference between our results and the two studies mentioned above may be that we limited the location of ICH to the basal ganglia; in those studies, the site of hematoma was not clearly defined. However, it was a determinant of functional outcomes (16).

Several potential limitations need to be taken into account. Firstly, our study was designed as a retrospective study with a

relatively small sample size; however, with our strict inclusion criteria as well as the 1:2 matching of cases and controls, it could represent the broader populations of ICH patients with diabetes. Secondly, due to the widespread use of different oral antidiabetic medications, the rate of sulfonylureas administration has largely decreased in Chinese diabetic patients, especially in the urban areas. For this reason, we studied all the sulfonylureas without limiting to a single drug. Thirdly, since it was difficult to obtain long-term follow-up data, the primary outcome of our study was based on imaging data rather than clinical outcomes. Lastly, we only analyzed admission CT scans because of a range of available antidiabetic agents during hospitalization. That might have different effects on outcomes, but it was what we had to do in real-world medical care. The limitations mentioned above must be recognized, but we believe that they would not invalidate the overall findings.

In conclusion, our study suggested that, for diabetic patients with acute basal ganglia hemorrhage, pretreatment of sulfonylureas may associate with lower PHE and relative PHE on admission. However, it has no significant effect on clinical outcomes at discharge. Future studies are needed to assess the potential clinical benefits in using sulfonylureas for ICH patients.

REFERENCES

- Benjamin EJ, Muntner P, Alonso A, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2019 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. (2019) 139:e56– 28. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000659
- Michinaga S, Koyama Y. Pathogenesis of brain edema and investigation into anti-edema drugs. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2015) 16:9949–75. doi: 10.3390/ijms16059949
- Simard JM, Chen M, Tarasov KV, Bhatta S, Ivanova S, Melnitchenko L, et al. Newly expressed SUR1-regulated NC(Ca-ATP) channel mediates cerebral edema after ischemic stroke. *Nat Med.* (2006) 12:433–40. doi: 10.1038/nm1390
- Kunte H, Busch MA, Trostdorf K, Vollnberg B, Harms L, Mehta RI, et al. Hemorrhagic transformation of ischemic stroke in diabetics on sulfonylureas. *Ann Neurol.* (2012) 72:799–806. doi: 10.1002/ana.23680
- Sheth KN, Elm JJ, Molyneaux BJ, Hinson H, Beslow LA, Sze GK, et al. Safety and efficacy of intravenous glyburide on brain swelling after large hemispheric infarction (GAMES-RP): a randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:1160– 9. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30196-X
- Chang JJ, Khorchid Y, Kerro A, Burgess LG, Goyal N, Alexandrov AW, et al. Sulfonylurea drug pretreatment and functional outcome in diabetic patients with acute intracerebral hemorrhage. *J Neurol Sci.* (2017) 381:182– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2017.08.3252
- Irvine H, Male S, Robertson J, Bell C, Bentho O, Streib C. Reduced intracerebral hemorrhage and perihematomal edema volumes in diabetics on sulfonylureas. *Stroke.* (2019) 50:995– 8. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.022301
- Qureshi AI, Mendelow AD, Hanley DF. Intracerebral haemorrhage. *Lancet*. (2009) 373:1632–44. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60371-8
- Wach J, Hamed M, Schuss P, Guresir E, Herrlinger U, Vatter H, et al. Impact of initial midline shift in glioblastoma on survival. *Neurosurg Rev.* (2021) 44:1401–9. doi: 10.1007/s10143-020-01328-w
- Zhao J, Yang F, Song C, Li L, Yang X, Wang X, et al. Glibenclamide Advantage in Treating Edema After Intracerebral Hemorrhage (GATE-ICH): study protocol for a multicenter randomized, controlled, assessor-blinded trial. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:656520. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.656520
- 11. Volbers B, Staykov D, Wagner I, Dorfler A, Saake M, Schwab S, et al. Semi-automatic volumetric assessment of perihemorrhagic

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Xijing Hospital. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

This trial was conceived by YF and JW. ZhanJ and ZhaoJ collected the data, performed statistical analysis, and wrote the first version of the manuscript, with the advice from YF and JW. HB, WL, WJ, and WD assisted in data collection, statistical analysis, and manuscript modification. All authors are responsible for the designation and conduction of this study as well as the data analysis, the drafting, and the reviewing of the final content of the paper.

edema with computed tomography. *Eur J Neurol.* (2011) 18:1323–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2011.03395.x

- Li Y, Yang R, Li Z, Tian B, Zhang X, Wang J, et al. Urokinase vs tissue-type plasminogen activator for thrombolytic evacuation of spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage in basal ganglia. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:371. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00371
- Sutherland GR, Auer RN. Primary intracerebral hemorrhage. J Clin Neurosci. (2006) 13:511–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2004.12.012
- Gerzanich V, Kwon MS, Woo SK, Ivanov A, Simard JM. SURI-TRPM4 channel activation and phasic secretion of MMP-9 induced by tPA in brain endothelial cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0195526. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0195526
- Li N, Liu YF, Ma L, Worthmann H, Wang YL, Wang YJ, et al. Association of molecular markers with perihematomal edema and clinical outcome in intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. (2013) 44:658–63. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.673590
- Rost NS, Smith EE, Chang Y, Snider RW, Chanderraj R, Schwab K, et al. Prediction of functional outcome in patients with primary intracerebral hemorrhage: the FUNC score. *Stroke*. (2008) 39:2304–9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.512202

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Jingjing, Jingjing, Bo, Le, Jingya, Dong, Fang and Wen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Stroke Lateralization in Large Hemisphere Infarctions: Characteristics, Stroke-Related Complications, and Outcomes

Jie Li[†], Ping Zhang[†], Yingying Liu, Wanli Chen, Xingyang Yi and Chun Wang^{*}

Department of Neurology, People's Hospital of Deyang, Deyang, China

Objectives: To assess the hemispheric differences in characteristics, stroke-related complications, and outcomes of patients with large hemisphere infarctions (LHI).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriel Broocks, Universität Hamburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Anita Ante Arsovska, Saints Cyril and Methodius University of Skopje, North Macedonia Miao Chen, University of Shanghai for Science and Technology, China

> *Correspondence: Chun Wang dysrmyysjnkwc@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 11 September 2021 Accepted: 05 November 2021 Published: 10 December 2021

Citation:

Li J, Zhang P, Liu Y, Chen W, Yi X and Wang C (2021) Stroke Lateralization in Large Hemisphere Infarctions: Characteristics, Stroke-Related Complications, and Outcomes. Front. Neurol. 12:774247. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.774247 **Methods:** We enrolled consecutive patients admitted within 24 h after the diagnosis of LHI (defined as an ischemic stroke involving more than 50% of the territory of the middle cerebral artery in computed tomography and/or magnetic resonance imaging). Univariate and multivariate analysis were performed to explore the association between lateralization and stroke-related complications and clinical outcomes.

Results: A total of 314 patients with LHI were enrolled, with 171 (54.5%) having right hemispheric involvement. Right-sided patients with LHI had lower baseline National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) score (18 vs. 22, p < 0.001), higher frequency of atrial fibrillation (69.0 vs. 52.4%, p = 0.003), and higher proportion of cardio-embolism (73.1 vs. 56.6%, p = 0.013) than the left. Right-sided LHI had higher incidence rates of malignant brain edema (MBE) (48.5 vs. 30.8%, p = 0.001) and a composite of cardiovascular events (29.8 vs. 17.5%, p = 0.011) during hospitalization. The incidence rate of 1-month mortality (34.5 vs. 23.8%, p = 0.036) was higher in right-sided patients with LHI, but there were no hemispheric differences in the incidence rates of 3-month mortality and unfavorable outcome (both p > 0.05). Multivariate analyses suggested right hemisphere involvement was independently associated with increased risk of MBE (adjusted OR 2.37, 95% CI 1.26–4.43, p = 0.007) and composite of cardiovascular events (adjusted OR 2.04, 95% CI 1.12–3.72, p = 0.020). However, it was not independently associated with 1-month death, 3-month mortality, and 3-month unfavorable outcome (all p > 0.05).

Conclusions: Right-sided patients with LHI had higher frequency of atrial fibrillation and cardio-embolism than the left-sided patients. Right hemisphere involvement was independently associated with increased risk of MBE and composite of cardiovascular events during hospitalization, whereas stroke lateralization was not an independent predictor of mortality and unfavorable outcome in patients with LHI.

Keywords: hemispheric difference, complications, malignant brain edema, cardiovascular events, outcome, large hemispheric infarction

78

INTRODUCTION

Large hemispheric infarction (LHI), which usually results from occlusion of the internal carotid artery or proximal middle cerebral artery (MCA), is a devastating condition with a high mortality rate (1, 2). LHI is commonly associated with varying degrees of brain swelling, with subsequently raised intracranial pressure, midline shift, and brain herniation, giving rise to the term malignant brain edema (MBE) (3). Until recently, no pharmacological strategies have been proven effective by clinical trials (4). Decompressive hemicraniectomy (DHC) conducted within 48 h after symptom onset has been proven effective for patients with LHI with MBE (5). However, only 0.3% of highly selected ischemic stroke patients would be eligible for DHC based on the strict eligibility criteria in the DHC trials (6).

It has also been reported that that poststroke complications are the leading cause of death and unfavorable outcomes in ischemic stroke patients (7, 8). Roth et al. have indicated that neurological impairment level is the most substantial factor predicting the rate of complications (9). Our previous work has demonstrated that stroke-related complication occurred in more than three fourths of the patients with LHI and was related to unfavorable outcome, whereas only MBE and pneumonia are independent predictors of a 3-month unfavorable outcome (10). As we know, the NIHSS score are weighted toward left hemisphere lesions (11). It is reasonable to suspect that strokerelated complications might frequently occur in left hemisphere stroke and result in poor outcomes. However, previous works have found that MBE seemed to be more common in the right hemisphere (12). Meanwhile, there is no consensus on the impact of the stroke hemisphere on outcomes of AIS (12-15).

Nowadays, limited data exist regarding the hemispheric differences in the incidence of stroke-related complications and outcomes of patients with imaging-diagnosed LHI. Therefore, we conducted a retrospective cohort study using the prospective data of Deyang stroke registry to assess the hemispheric differences in characteristics, stroke-related complications, and outcomes of patients with LHI.

METHODS

Study Design and Subjects

From January 1, 2016 to March 31, 2019, patients who were admitted to the Department of Neurology, People's Hospital of Deyang City with either a first-ever or recurrent acute ischemic stroke (AIS) were prospectively and consecutively registered. We enrolled patients who were admitted within 24 h from symptoms onset and diagnosed with LHI. LHI was defined as an infarction in the territory of the MCA, with computed tomography (CT) and/or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) evidence of infarction that affected more than 50% of the territory of the MCA (with or without the involvement of other vascular territories) during hospitalization, and also an acute onset of corresponding clinical signs and symptoms (16). All patients had a non-contract CT (NCCT) scan before initial treatment. A routine follow-up NCCT or MRI scan was performed within the first 7 days of hospitalization. Other CT scans were performed in case neurological deterioration occurred to determine brain edema or hemorrhagic transformation. We excluded patients with bilateral hemisphere involvement. Cases with incomplete hospital records or missing imaging that would prevent complete data collection were excluded. We also excluded cases with a preexisting score of more than 2 on the modified Rankin scale (mRS) and who lived dependently (17).

The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of People's Hospital of Deyang City (Reference No. 2011-04-134). Written informed consent was obtained from all patients before they were enrolled or from their legal representative if the patient lost the capacity to give informed consent.

Data Collection and Outcome

Baseline data on age, sex, admission delay, initial stroke severity assessed by the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) score, baseline systolic and diastolic blood pressure, serum glucose on admission, and vascular risk factors were collected and compared according to the stroke side (left or right hemisphere involvement). The potential etiology of LHI was classified as cardio-embolism or not according to the Trial of Org 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment (TOAST) criteria (18). Two trained neurologists who were blinded to clinical information independently reviewed the imaging. A disagreement was resolved through discussion and consultation with a third neurologist. The presence of the HDMCAs was assessed on the pretreatment NCCT according to the following criteria (19): spontaneous visibility of the whole or part of horizontal segment of the MCA, the density of the MCA higher than that of the surrounding brain, disappearance on bone windows, unilaterality, and absence of subarachnoid bleeding. Early CT signs of hypodensity > 1/3 MCA territory was defined as the substantial involvement of ≥ 2 of the following four areas: frontal, temporal, parietal, or both basal ganglia and insula (20). The ASPECTS was assessed on the pretreatment NCCT (21). Final infarct territory on the followingup imaging was dichotomized into MCA territory and MCA plus (involvement of other vascular territories besides the MCA territory). MBE was defined as the development of clinical signs of herniation (including decease in consciousness and/or anisocoria), accompanied by a midline shift of $\geq 5 \text{ mm}$ at the septum pellucidum or pineal gland with effacement of the basal cisterns on follow-up imaging, without other known/apparent causes of deterioration (22). Hemorrhagic transformation during hospitalization was classified as hemorrhagic infarct (HI) and parenchymal hematoma (PH) based on follow-up CT or MRI according to the recommendations of the European Cooperative Acute Stroke Study (ECASS) criteria (23).

In-hospital treatments analyzed in our study included intravenous thrombolysis (IVT), endovascular interventions (EVT), DHC, mechanical ventilation, and osmotic agents (such as mannitol). IVT or EVT was performed according to the Chinese guidelines, and the inclusion and exclusion criteria were similar to those of the American guideline (24, 25). The final treatment decision was made in consultation with the neurologist and the patient's family. Post-EVT recanalization was evaluated on the digital subtraction angiography according to the Thrombolysis in Cerebral Infarction (TICI) grading system. Successful recanalization was defined as a TICI grade of

2b or 3 (26, 27). DHC was considered for patients with LHI with significant neurological deterioration and MBE, and the decision was finally made in consultation with neurosurgeons and the patient's family. Stroke-related complications, including both neurological and medical complications during hospitalization, were reviewed by data collectors who were not aware of the study from hospital records when the patient was discharged (10). Neurological complications included MBE, hemorrhagic transformation, post-stroke seizures/epilepsy, central hyperthermia, and recurrent stroke, whereas medical complications included composite of cardiovascular events, pneumonia, urinary tract infection, gastrointestinal bleeding, electrolyte disorder, acute renal failure, urinary incontinence, hypoalbuminemia, deep venous thrombosis, and bedsore, which have been elaborated in our previous study (10). Composite of cardiovascular events in our study was defined as a composite of myocardial infarction, or acute heart failure, or any sudden cardiac death (28).

Patients were followed-up at 90 days after stroke onset by using questionnaires *via* a telephone interview or by mail. The primary outcome measures in our study were 1-month mortality, 3-month mortality, and unfavorable outcome [defined as an mRS score of 4 to 6 (17)].

Statistical Analyses

The primary objective of our work was to test whether hemispheric side of LHI influenced the incidence of stroke-related complications and clinical outcomes.

Baseline characteristics, in-hospital treatment, stroke-related complications, and outcomes were compared between patients with LHI with left-side and right-side lesions. Intergroup differences in categorical variables were assessed for significance using the χ^2 tests or Fisher's exact tests, whereas differences in continuous variables were assessed using Student's t-tests or the Mann-Whitney U-test. Univariate analysis was performed to test variables that might affect the occurrence of strokerelated complications and outcomes. The included variables were: (1) age, (2) baseline NIHSS score, (3) vascular risk factors surveyed in our study, (4) imaging characteristics, (5) in-hospital treatment. The 3-month survival was estimated by the Kaplan-Meier method and a log-rank test was used for survival comparisons between patient groups. Multivariate analyses were performed to identify the association between the lateralization and the occurrence of stroke-related complications and outcomes, via adjusting for potential confounders (variables with p < 0.1 in univariate analyses). The 95% CI were calculated to describe the precision of the estimates. All statistical analysis was performed using SPSS v21.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL). Two-sided p < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

During the study period, 3,551 patients with AIS were registered. Of those patients, 314 (8.8%) unilateral patients with LHI admitted with 24 h were enrolled in the present study [mean age: 68.1 ± 14.8 years; 181 (57.6%) men; median NIHSS score on



admission: 20]. A flow diagram of included and excluded patients is provided in **Figure 1**. All patients with LHI received CT scan at least one time and 156 (49.7%) patients received MRI. Among the enrolled patients, 171 (54.5%) were right hemisphere stroke and 143 (45.5%) were left hemisphere stroke. Sixty-one (19.4%) cases were treated with IVT and 46 (14.6%) were treated with EVT at the hyperacute stage. Thirty (9.6%) cases received DHC and 99 (31.5%) received mechanical ventilation during hospitalization. Five (1.6%) cases were lost to follow-up and 93 (29.6%) patients died at 30 days. Seven (2.2%) patients were lost to follow-up at 90 days (three in right-sided group and four in left-sided group). Among the entire cohort, 104 (33.1%) patients died and 221 (70.4%) patients had unfavorable outcome at 3 months.

Hemispheric Differences in Characteristics and In-hospital Treatment

Compared with left hemisphere stroke, patients with LHI with right-side lesions had lower baseline NIHSS score (18 vs. 22, p < 0.001). Right hemisphere LHI showed higher rate of atrial fibrillation (69.0 vs. 52.4%, p = 0.003) and higher proportion of cardio-embolism (73.1 vs. 56.6%, p = 0.013) than the left. There was no difference in the mean age, gender, median admission delay, baseline blood pressure, baseline serum glucose, or other vascular risk factors between the two groups (all p > 0.05). Right hemispheric LHI had a lower median ASPECTS (six vs. seven, p = 0.004) and a higher rate of basal ganglia involvement on the pretreatment NCCT (70.2 vs. 58.0%, p = 0.025); however, the presence of HDMCAS, hypodensity > 1/3 of the MCA territory on baseline CT scan, and final infarct territory were comparable between the two groups (all p > 0.05). Then 21 (12.3%) cases with right hemisphere involvement and 25 (17.5%) cases with left hemisphere involvement were treated with EVT (p = 0.194) at the hyperacute stage. Among those patients, successful recanalization was achieved in 12 (57.1%) right-sided LHI patients and 20 (80.0%) left-sided patients. Patients with LHI with right-side involvement more frequently received DHC (14.0 vs. 4.2%, p = 0.003). There was no difference in the administration rate of IVT, mechanical ventilation, and osmotic therapy (all p > 0.05) (Table 1).

Hemispheric Differences in the Incidence of Stroke-Related Complications

Large hemisphere infarctions patients with right hemisphere involvement had higher incidence rates of MBE (48.5 vs. 30.8%, p = 0.001) and composite of cardiovascular events (29.8 vs. 17.5%, p = 0.011) during hospitalization than those with left-side lesions (**Figure 2**). However, no significant difference was found in the incidence rate of total hemorrhagic transformation (48.0 vs. 49.0%, p = 0.860), HI (18.1 vs. 18.9%, p = 0.864), and PH (29.8 vs. 30.1%, p = 0.962) between right and left hemisphere stroke patients. Meanwhile, there was no significant difference in the events rates of seizures/epilepsy, central hyperthermia, recurrent stroke, pneumonia, urinary tract infection, gastrointestinal bleeding, electrolyte disorder, acute renal failure, urinary incontinence, hypoalbuminemia, deep venous thrombosis, and bedsore between right and left

TABLE 1 Hemispheric differences in baseline characteristics and in-hospital
treatment of LHI patients.

	Right hemisphere $(n = 171)$	Left hemisphere $(n = 143)$	P-value
Age (years), mean \pm SD	69.1 ± 14.2	66.9 ± 15.5	0.180*
Male, n (%)	91 (53.2)	90 (62.9)	0.083 [‡]
Time from onset (h), median (range)	5 (3-11)	5 (3-14)	0.771†
Baseline NIHSS score, median (range)	18 (15-22)	22 (20-25)	< 0.001 [†]
SBP on admission (mm Hg)	140.3 ± 24.5	143.1 ± 25.1	0.326*
DBP on admission (mm Hg)	83.0 ± 16.2	82.2 ± 13.9	0.659*
Baseline serum glucose (mmol/L)	8.2 ± 2.4	7.8 ± 2.8	0.259*
Risk factors, n (%)			
Hypertension	94 (55.0)	67 (46.9)	0.152‡
Diabetes mellitus	39 (22.8)	29 (20.3)	0.588 [‡]
Dyslipidemia	36 (21.1)	30 (21.0)	0.987 [‡]
Coronary heart disease	29 (17.0)	16 (11.2)	0.146 [‡]
Atrial fibrillation	118 (69.0)	75 (52.4)	0.003 ‡
Rheumatic heart disease	25 (14.6)	19 (13.3)	0.735 [‡]
Current smoking	54 (31.6)	52 (36.4)	0.372 [‡]
Alcohol consumption	43 (25.1)	33 (23.1)	0.670 [‡]
Previous ischemic stroke/TIA	27 (15.8)	21 (14.7)	0.787 [‡]
Previous ICH	2 (1.2)	2 (1.4)	0.857 [‡]
TOAST classification, n (%)			0.013 [‡]
Large-artery atherosclerosis	20 (11.7)	25 (17.5)	
Cardio-embolism	125 (73.1)	81 (56.6)	
Other determined etiology	5 (2.9)	12 (8.4)	
Undetermined etiology	21 (12.3)	25 (17.5)	
HDMCAS, n (%)	51 (29.8)	34 (23.8)	0.230 [‡]
Hypodensity > 1/3 MCA territory	51 (29.8)	33 (23.1)	0.191 [‡]
ASPECTS, median (range)	6 (4-8)	7 (5-9)	0.004 [†]
Basal ganglia Involvement	120 (70.2)	83 (58.0)	0.025 [‡]
Final infarct territory			0.066‡
MCA	142 (83.0)	129 (90.2)	
MCA plus	29 (17.0)	14 (9.8)	
Treatments, n (%)			
Intravenous thrombolysis^	34 (19.9)	27 (18.9)	0.823
Endovascular interventions^	21 (12.3)	25 (17.5)	0.194
DHC^	24 (14.0)	6 (4.2)	0.003
Mechanical ventilation^	61 (35.7)	38 (26.6)	0.084
Osmotic agents^	166 (97.1)	134 (93.7)	0.150

SD, Standardized difference; NIHSS, National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; TOAST, Trial of Org 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment; TIA, transient ischemic stroke; ICH, intracerebral hemorrhage; HDMCAS, hyperdensity in the middle cerebral artery (MCA); DHC, decompressive hemicraniectomy.

*Student t-test. [†]Mann–Whitney U-test. [‡] χ 2 test. The bold values indicates p < 0.05. ^Acute phase treatment.

hemisphere stroke patients (all p > 0.05) (**Table 2**). After adjusting for age, baseline NIHSS score and other confounders in multivariate analyses, right hemisphere involvement was independently associated with increased risk of MBE (adjusted



OR 2.37, 95% CI 1.26–4.43, p = 0.007) and composite of cardiovascular events (adjusted OR 2.04, 95% CI 1.12–3.72, p = 0.020) (**Table 3**).

Since the occurrence of MBE is closely related to whether EVT was carried out, the recanalization status (successful recanalization or not), and also whether there was hemorrhagic transformation, we conducted a sensitivity analysis including EVT, successful recanalization, and hemorrhagic transformation in the multivariate analysis. After adjusting for confounders, right-sided stroke was still an independent factor associated with increased risk of MBE in LHI patients (adjusted OR 3.12, 95% CI 1.55–6.29, p = 0.001).

Hemispheric Differences in the Outcomes

The incidence rate of 1-month mortality (34.5 vs. 23.8%, p = 0.036) was higher among LHI patients with right hemisphere involvement, but there were no hemispheric differences in the incidence rates of 3-month mortality (37.4 vs. 28.0%, p = 0.086) and 3-month unfavorable outcome (73.7 vs. 66.4%, p = 0.196) (**Figure 2; Table 2**). Meanwhile, the 3-month survival rate of the right hemispheric LHI estimated by Kaplan-Meier Method was not significantly higher than the left-sided (p = 0.071, log-rank test; **Figure 3**). After adjusting for age, baseline NIHSS score, baseline systolic blood pressure, baseline serum glucose, hypodensity > 1/3 MCA territory on baseline CT scan, ASPECTS, involvement of other vascular territories besides the MCA territory, EVT, DHC, and mechanical ventilation,

which had a potential association with death and unfavorable outcomes of LHI patients in univariate analysis, right hemisphere involvement was not independently associated with 1-month mortality, 3-month mortality, and 3-month unfavorable outcome of LHI patients (all p > 0.05, see in **Table 3**).

DISCUSSION

Several studies have reported the left-right propensity of cardioembolic infarcts, but no consensus has been reached so far (29-34). Although the left hemisphere propensity of cardiogenic emboli has been reported (29, 30), some researches supported the right-sided propensity of cardio-embolism, especially those associated with atrial fibrillation (31, 32). A recently published work indicated that bovine aortic arch was associated with left hemisphere laterality of cardioembolic stroke compared with standard arches (33). Another work suggested that there was a trend toward right-sided lesions in patients with standard arches, but no significant difference in cardio-embolic stroke laterality of patients with bovine arches was demonstrated (34). In this work, we found that LHI patients with right hemisphere involvement had higher frequency of atrial fibrillation and cardio-embolism, supporting the right-sided propensity of cardio-embolism in LHI patients. It is worth noting that although there were 1.6% (5/314) left-handed patients (all with right hemisphere infarction) in the present cohort, there was no significant difference in the presence of left-handedness among LHI patients with a stroke etiology

TABLE 2 Hemispheric differences of and stroke-related complications during
hospitalization in LHI patients.

	Right hemisphere	Left hemisphere	P-value
	(<i>n</i> = 171)	(n = 143)	
Neurological complications	s, n (%)		
Malignant brain edema	83 (48.5)	44 (30.8)	0.001
Hemorrhagic transformation	82 (48.0)	70 (49.0)	0.860
HI	31 (18.1)	27 (18.9)	0.864
PH	51 (29.8)	43 (30.1)	0.962
Seizures/epilepsy	11 (6.4)	13 (9.1)	0.377
Central hyperthermia	23 (13.5)	10 (7.0)	0.063
Recurrent stroke	4 (2.3)	1 (0.7)	0.381*
Medical complications, n (%)		
Composite of cardiovascular events	51(29.8)	25(17.5)	0.011
Pulmonary infection	129 (75.4)	109 (76.2)	0.871
Urinary tract infection	36 (21.1)	30 (21.0)	0.987
Gastrointestinal bleeding	71 (41.5)	62 (43.4)	0.743
Electrolyte disturbance	105 (61.4)	80 (55.9)	0.327
Acute renal failure	43 (25.1)	27 (18.9)	0.184
Hypoalbuminemia	84 (49.1)	70 (49.0)	0.976
Urinary incontinence	35 (20.5)	28 (19.6)	0.845
Deep venous thrombosis	16 (9.4)	15 (10.5)	0.738
Bedsore	4 (2.3)	3 (2.1)	1.000*
Clinical outcomes, n (%)			
1-month mortality	59 (34.5)	34 (23.8)	0.036
3-month mortality	64 (37.4)	40 (28.0)	0.086
3-month unfavorable outcome	e 126 (73.7)	95 (66.4)	0.196

*Fisher's exact test. The bold values indicates p < 0.05.

of cardiogenic embolism or not, supporting that the right-sided propensity of cardio-embolism in LHI patients was independent of whether it was a non-dominant hemisphere or not. Our results could be explained by the fact that the brachiocephalic artery is the first branch off the aortic arch, has the largest ostium, and heads upward and parallel to the direction of the ascending aorta. So large-sized cardiogenic emboli would therefore have a higher propensity to enter the brachiocephalic artery (which supplies the right common carotid and right subclavian) rather than the left common carotid artery, which arises second from the aortic arch and has an orientation perpendicular to it (33–35). Further study is warranted to determine whether there is a difference in the laterality of cardiogenic infarct depending on the size of embolic particles besides the aortic arch branching pattern.

Previous works have suggested that higher baseline NIHSS score was one of the early predictors for MBE after ischemic stroke (36). Meanwhile, the NIHSS score are also weighted toward left hemisphere lesions (11). As a result, right hemisphere infarctions can be deemed to be less severe than left-sided, such that physicians and surgeons might be less aggressive in treatment. However, our study found that patients with LHI with right hemisphere involvement had higher incidence rate of MBE (48.5 vs. 30.8%) than those with the left. Multivariate analysis suggested that right hemisphere stroke (OR 2.37, 95 %

TABLE 3 | Univariate and multivariate analyses for the association between right hemisphere involvement and stroke-related complications and outcome in LHI patients.

	Univariate analysis		Multivariate analysis*	
	OR (95%CI)	P-value	OR (95%CI)	P-value
Malignant brain edema	2.12 (1.33-3.38)	0.002	2.37 (1.26-4.43) ^a	0.007
Composite of cardiovascular events	2.01 (1.17-3.45)	0.012	2.04 (1.12-3.72) ^b	0.020
1-month mortality	1.70 (1.03-2.81)	0.037	1.42 (0.73-2.73) ^c	0.302
3-month mortality	1.52 (0.94-2.47)	0.087	1.21 (0.62-2.34) ^c	0.574
3-month unfavorable outcome	1.39 (0.84-2.29)	0.197	1.20 (0.59-2.45) ^d	0.616

*Adjusted for variables which had a significant association with corresponding strokerelated complications and clinical outcomes in univariate analysis.

OR, odds ratios; Cl, confidence intervals.

^aAdjusted for age, baseline NIHSS score, baseline diastolic blood pressure, TOAST classification, hypodensity > 1/3 MCA territory on baseline CT scan, baseline ASPECTS, basal ganglia involvement, involvement of other vascular territories besides the MCA territory, and EVT, which had a potential association with malignant brain edema in univariate analysis.

^bAdjusted for age, sex, baseline NIHSS score, predisposing vascular risk factors (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, previous ischemic stroke/TIA, current smoking and alcohol consumption), prior-to-stroke heart diseases (coronary heart disease, atrial fibrillation, rheumatic heart disease), and acute reperfusion therapies (IVT and EVT), which had a potential association with composite of cardiovascular events in univariate analysis.

^cAdjusted for age, baseline NIHSS score, baseline systolic blood pressure, baseline serum glucose, hypodensity > 1/3 MCA territory on baseline CT scan, ASPECTS, involvement of other vascular territories besides the MCA territory, EVT, DHC and mechanical ventilation, which had a potential association with death of LHI patients in univariate analysis.

 d Adjusted for age, baseline NIHSS score, baseline systolic blood pressure, baseline serum glucose, hypodensity > 1/3 MCA territory on baseline CT scan, ASPECTS, involvement of other vascular territories besides the MCA territory, EVT, DHC and mechanical ventilation, which had a potential association with death of LHI patients in univariate analysis. The bold values indicates p < 0.05.

CI 1.26-4.43) was an independent risk factor of MBE in patients with LHI. Although there was a lower successful recanalization rate of right-sided stroke patients following EVT in our cohort (57.1 vs. 80.0%), multivariate analysis including EVT, successful recanalization, and hemorrhagic transformation also identified right hemisphere involvement as an independent risk factor of MBE in LHI patients. These results are consistent with the result of a systematic review, which included a total of 73 relevant studies and concluded that "malignant" MCA infarction appears to be more common in the right hemisphere (12). These results can be explained because the right hemisphere plays a crucial role in cardiovascular regulation due to autonomic nervous system lateralization, leading to greater alterations of norepinephrine levels and sympathetic activation after right hemispheric insular infarction than the left (37). Increased levels of norepinephrine can result in vasoconstriction, increasing the permeability of blood-brain barrier and the levels of extracellular glutamate by stimulation of β -adrenoreceptor, creating an intracellular Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ osmotic gradient and thus attracting extracellular fluid into the cell resulting in the development of cytotoxic edema (12, 37, 38). Moreover, increased levels of norepinephrine can stimulate the α -1 adrenergic receptors in the supraoptic nucleus of the hypothalamus and thereby enhance the release



FIGURE 3 | Three-month survival curves for LHI patients estimated by Kaplan–Meier analysis (patients with right or left hemisphere involvement, p = 0.071, log rank test).

of vasopressin, leading to the downregulation of aquaporin-4 and increasing the plasma membrane permeability (12, 39). Vasopressin can also participate in the ischemic cascade, leading to neuroinflammation, necrosis, and apoptosis that might be another factor in the asymmetrical development of MBE (12, 39).

Several clinical works indicate that the effect on the cardiovascular system depends on the stroke lateralization (40-43). It has been reported that when brain damage affects the right insular cortex, the consequences on cardiac function are more deleterious and more frequent (40-42). Conversely, another work indicates that left insular stroke appears to be an independent predictor of severe cardiovascular consequences such as cardiac death, acute myocardial infarction, angina, or heart failure (41). The phenomenon of stroke lateralization has also been observed in experimental models (44, 45). It has been demonstrated that right MCA occlusion (MCAO) in rats had more cardiovascular consequences than the left MCAO (44, 45). In our work, we found that right-sided LHI patients had higher rate of composite of cardiovascular events (29.8 vs. 17.5%) during hospitalization than the left-sided. After adjusting for age, sex, baseline NIHSS score, predisposing vascular risk factors (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, previous ischemic stroke/TIA, current smoking, and alcohol consumption), prior-to-stroke heart diseases (coronary heart disease, atrial fibrillation, rheumatic heart disease), and acute reperfusion therapies (IVT and EVT), which had a potential association with composite of cardiovascular events, right hemisphere involvement was still an independent risk factor of composite of cardiovascular events in patients with LHI (OR 2.04, 95% CI 1.12–3.72). This result could be explained by the fact that right hemisphere stroke, especially those with insular cortex involvement, is responsible for autonomic disturbances and triggers inflammatory processes including the release of cytokines such as monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, C-reactive protein, growth differentiation factor, leading to an increased risk of cardiac death, acute myocardial infarction, and heart failure (46).

Our work found that although the right-sided LHI had higher incidence rate of 1-month mortality (34.5 vs. 23.8%) in univariate analysis, multivariate analysis suggested that stroke lateralization was not an independent predictor of mortality and unfavorable outcome in LHI patients. Previous studies have not reached a consensus on the impact of the stroke hemisphere on outcomes of AIS (12–15). A cohort study indicated that left-hemispheric AIS were often associated with a worse outcome than their right-hemispheric counterparts (14). However, several studies suggested an association between right hemisphere involvement and higher risk of death and unfavorable functional outcome in AIS patients, especially for those with mild/moderate strokes (13, 47). The results of our work are in line with previous published systematic review and metaanalysis, which indicated that stroke lateralization was not an independent predictor of mortality and unfavorable outcome and did not modify the treatment effect of MCA territorial infarction (12, 15).

Limitations

The results of the present work should be interpreted with caution given its limitations. First, we conducted a retrospective study using the prospective data from the Deyang stroke registry, and so we could not provide information related to inflammatory cytokines and markers of myocardial injury such as C-reactive protein, troponins, or other acute-phase protein, and further studies are needed to explore this issue. Second, it was a single hospital-based study, with limited generalizability. Some patients with severe LHI might not be hospitalized, especially those who died before being admitted to the hospital, and so we could not exclude inclusion bias in this study. Third, follow-up in our study was performed by telephone interview or a mailed questionnaire instead of a clinic visit which may result in reporting bias.

CONCLUSIONS

We identified that patients with LHI with right hemisphere involvement had higher frequency of atrial fibrillation and cardio-embolism. Right hemisphere involvement was independently associated with increased risk of MBE and composite of cardiovascular events during hospitalization, whereas hemispheric difference was not an independent predictor of mortality and unfavorable outcome in LHI patients. Implement of early pharmacological or non-pharmacological intervention for autonomic restoration might improve the

REFERENCES

- Uhl E, Kreth FW, Elias B, Goldammer A, Hempelmann RG, Liefner M, et al. Outcome and prognostic factors of hemicraniectomy for space occupying cerebral infarction. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2004) 75:270-4. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2003.019885
- Huttner HB, Schwab S. Malignant middle cerebral artery infarction: clinical characteristics, treatment strategies, and future perspectives. *Lancet Neurol.* (2009) 8:949-58. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70224-8
- Frank JI. Large hemispheric infarction, deterioration, and intracranial pressure. *Neurology*. (1995) 45:1286-90. doi: 10.1212/WNL.45.7.1286
- Steiner T, Ringleb P, Hacke W. Treatment options for large hemispheric stroke. *Neurology*. (2001) 57(suppl 2):S61-8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.57.suppl_2.S61
- Vahedi K, Hofmeijer J, Juettler E, Vicaut E, George B, Algra A, et al. Early decompressive surgery in malignant infarction of the middle cerebral artery: a pooled analysis of three randomised controlled trials. *Lancet Neurol.* (2007) 6:215-22. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70036-4
- Rahme R, Curry R, Kleindorfer D, Khoury JC, Ringer AJ, Kissela BM, et al. How often are patients with ischemic stroke eligible for decompressive hemicraniectomy? *Stroke.* (2012) 43:550-2. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.635185
- Weimar C, Roth MP, Zillessen G, Glahn J, Wimmer ML, Busse O, et al. Complications following acute ischemic stroke. *Eur Neurol.* (2002) 48:133-40. doi: 10.1159/000065512

outcome of right-sided LHI patients, especially those with insular cortex involvement.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the corresponding author on reasonable request.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of People's Hospital of Deyang City. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JL and PZ collected, analyzed, and interpreted the data, as well as drafted the manuscript. YL and WC participated in data interpretation and revised the manuscript. XY participated in study conception and design. CW contributed substantially to study design and supervision, data interpretation and manuscript writing. All authors critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was funded by Universal Application Program, Health and Family Planning Commission of Sichuan Province (17PJ084), the Science and Technology Research Foundation of Deyang City (2020SZZ069), and Applied Basic Research Program, Science and Technology Department of Sichuan Province (No. 2018JY0389) in China.

- Johnston KC, Li JY, Lyden PD, Hanson SK, Feasby TE, Adams RJ, et al. Medical and neurological complications of ischemic stroke: experience from the RANTTAS trial. *Stroke*. (1998) 29:447-53. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.29.2.447
- Roth EJ, Lovell L, Harvey RL, Heinemann AW, Semik P, Diaz S. Incidence of and risk factors for medical complications during stroke rehabilitation. *Stroke*. (2001) 32:523-9. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.32.2.523
- Li J, Zhang P, Wu S, Wang Y, Zhou J, Yi X, et al. Strokerelated complications in large hemisphere infarction: incidence and influence on unfavorable outcome. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord.* (2019) 12:1756286419873264. doi: 10.1177/1756286419873264
- 11. Fink JN, Selim MH, Kumar S, Silver B, Linfante I, Caplan LR, et al. Is the Association of National Institutes of Health stroke scale scores and acute magnetic resonance imaging strokes volume equal for patients with right- and left-hemisphere stroke? *Stroke.* (2002) 33:954-8. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000013069.24300.1D
- Rastogi V, Lamb DG, Williamson JB, Stead TS, Penumudi R, Bidari S, et al. Hemispheric differences in malignant middle cerebral artery stroke. *J Neurol Sci.* (2015) 353:20-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2015.04.036
- Aszalós Z, Barsi P, Vitrai J, Nagy Z. Lateralization as a factor in the prognosis of middle cerebral artery territorial infarct. *European Neurol.* (2002) 48:141-5. doi: 10.1159/000065515
- Hedna VS, Bodhit AN, Ansari S, Falchook AD, Stead L, Heilman KM, et al. Hemispheric differences in ischemic stroke: is left-hemisphere stroke more common? *J Clin Neurol.* (2013) 9:97-102. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2013. 9.2.97

- Almekhlafi MA, Hill MD, Roos YM, Campbell BCV, Muir KW, Demchuk AM, et al. Stroke laterality did not modify outcomes in the HERMES meta-analysis of individual patient data of 7 trials. *Stroke.* (2019) 50:2118-24. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.023102
- 16. Manno EM. The management of large hemispheric cerebral infarcts. *Comprehensive Ther.* (2005) 31:124-30. doi: 10.1007/s12019-005-0008-8
- de Haan R, Limburg M, Bossuyt P, van der Meulen J, Aaronson N. The clinical meaning of Rankin "handicap" grades after stroke. *Stroke.* (1995) 26:2027-30. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.26.11.2027
- Adams HP Jr, Bendixen BH, Kappelle LJ, Biller J, Love BB, Gordon DL, et al. Classification of subtype of acute ischemic stroke. Definitions for use in a multicenter clinical trial. TOAST. Trial of Org 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment. *Stroke*. (1993) 24:35-41. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.24.1.35
- Topcuoglu MA, Arsava EM, Kursun O, Akpinar E, Erbil B. The utility of middle cerebral artery clot density and burden assessment by noncontrast computed tomography in acute ischemic stroke patients treated with thrombolysis. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. (2014) 23:e85-91. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2013.08.026
- Kalafut MA, Schriger DL, Saver JL, Starkman S. Detection of early CT signs of > 1/3 middle cerebral artery infarctions: interrater reliability and sensitivity of CT interpretation by physicians involved in acute stroke care. *Stroke.* (2000) 31:1667-71. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.31.7.1667
- Pexman JH, Barber PA, Hill MD, Sevick RJ, Demchuk AM, Hudon ME, et al. Use of the Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score (ASPECTS) for assessing CT scans in patients with acute stroke. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2001) 22:1534-42.
- 22. Kimberly WT, Dutra BG, Boers AMM, Alves HCBR, Berkhemer OA, van den Berg L, et al. Association of reperfusion with brain edema in patients with acute ischemic stroke: a secondary analysis of the MR CLEAN Trial. JAMA Neurol. (2018) 75:453-61. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.5162
- Hacke W, Kaste M, Fieschi C, von Kummer R, Davalos A, Meier D, et al. Randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial of thrombolytic therapy with intravenous alteplase in acute ischaemic stroke (ECASS II). *Lancet.* (1998) 352:1245-51. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)08020-9
- 24. Jauch EC, Saver JL, Adams HP Jr, Bruno A, Connors JJ, Demaerschalk BM, et al. Guidelines for the early management of patients with acute ischemic stroke: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke.* (2013) 44:870-947. doi: 10.1161/STR.0b013e318284056a
- Powers WJ, Derdeyn CP, Biller J, Coffey CS, Hoh BL, Jauch EC, et al. 2015 American Heart Association/American Stroke Association focused update of the 2013 guidelines for the early management of patients with acute ischemic stroke regarding endovascular treatment. *Stroke.* (2015) 46:3020-35. doi: 10.1161/STR.00000000000074
- Zaidat OO, Yoo AJ, Khatri P, Tomsick TA, von Kummer R, Saver JL, et al. Recommendations on angiographic revascularization grading standards for acute ischemic stroke: a consensus statement. *Stroke.* (2013) 44:2650-63. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.001972
- Ospel JM, Singh N, Almekhlafi MA, Menon BK, Butt A, Poppe AY, et al. Early recanalization with alteplase in stroke because of large vessel occlusion in the ESCAPE Trial. *Stroke.* (2020) 5:304-7. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.120.031591
- Park HK, Lee JS, Hong KS, Cho YJ, Park JM, Kang K, et al. Statin therapy in acute cardioembolic stroke with no guidance-based indication. *Neurology*. (2020) 94:e1984-95. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000009397
- Meyer JS, Charney JZ, Rivera VM, Mathew NT. Cerebral embolization: prospective clinical analysis of 42 cases. *Stroke*. (1971) 2:541-54. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.2.6.541
- Rodríguez Hernández SA, Kroon AA, van Boxtel MP, Mess WH, Lodder J, Jolles J, et al. Is there a side predilection for cerebrovascular disease? *Hypertension*. (2003) 42:56-60. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000077983.66161.6F
- Kim HJ, Song JM, Kwon SU, Kim BJ, Kang DH, Song JK, et al. Right-left propensity and lesion patterns between cardiogenic and aortogenic cerebral embolisms. *Stroke*. (2011) 42:2323-5. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.616573
- 32. Park KY, Kim YB, Chung PW, Moon HS, Suh BC, Yoon KJ, et al. Right-side propensity of cardiogenic emboli in acute ischemic stroke with atrial fibrillation. *Scand Cardiovasc J.* (2014) 48:335-8. doi: 10.3109/14017431.2014.983964
- Matakas JD, Gold MM, Sterman J, Haramati LB, Allen MT, Labovitz D, et al. Bovine arch and stroke laterality. J

Am Heart Assoc. (2020) 9:e015390. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119. 015390

- 34. Gold M, Khamesi M, Sivakumar M, Natarajan V, Motahari H, Caputo N. Right-left propensity of cardiogenic cerebral embolism in standard versus bovine aortic arch variant. *Clin Anatomy*. (2018) 31:310-3. doi: 10.1002/ca.23045
- Carr IA, Nemoto N, Schwartz RS, Shadden SC. Size-dependent predilections of cardiogenic embolic transport. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2013) 305:H732-9. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00320.2013
- Hofmeijer J, Algra A, Kappelle LJ, van der Worp HB. Predictors of lifethreatening brain edema in middle cerebral artery infarction. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* (2008) 25:176-84. doi: 10.1159/000113736
- Yoon BW, Morillo CA, Cechetto DF, Hachinski V. Cerebral hemispheric lateralization in cardiac autonomic control. *Arch Neurol.* (1997) 54:741-4. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1997.00550180055012
- Kroppenstedt SN, Sakowitz OW, Thomale UW, Unterberg AW, Stover JF. Influence of norepinephrine and dopamine on cortical perfusion, EEG activity, extracellular glutamate, and brain edema in rats after controlled cortical impact injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2002) 19:1421-32. doi: 10.1089/089771502320914651
- Ameli PA, Ameli NJ, Gubernick DM, Ansari S, Mohan S, Satriotomo I, et al. Role of vasopressin and its antagonism in stroke related edema. *J Neurosci Res.* (2014) 92:1091-9. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23407
- Colivicchi F, Bassi A, Santini M, Caltagirone C. Cardiac autonomic derangement and arrhythmias in right-sided stroke with insular involvement. *Stroke.* (2004) 35:2094-8. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000138452.81003.4c
- Ay H, Koroshetz WJ, Benner T, Vangel MG, Melinosky C, Arsava EM, et al. Neuroanatomic correlates of stroke-related myocardial injury. *Neurology*. (2006) 66:1325-9. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000206077.13705.6d
- Krause T, Werner K, Fiebach JB, Villringer K, Piper SK, Haeusler KG, et al. Stroke in right dorsal anterior insular cortex is related to myocardial injury. *Ann Neurol.* (2017) 81:502-11. doi: 10.1002/ana.24906
- Laowattana S, Zeger SL, Lima JA, Goodman SN, Wittstein IS, Oppenheimer SM. Left insular stroke is associated with adverse cardiac outcome. *Neurology*. (2006) 66:477-83. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000202684.29640.60
- Hachinski VC, Oppenheimer SM, Wilson JX, Guiraudon C, Cechetto DF. Asymmetry of sympathetic consequences of experimental stroke. *Arch Neurol.* (1992) 49:697-702. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1992.00530310039010
- 45. Sun L, Du J, Zhang G, Zhang Y, Pan G, Wang L, et al. Aberration of Ltype calcium channel in cardiac myocytes is one of the mechanisms of arrhythmia induced by cerebral ischemia. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2008) 22:147-56. doi: 10.1159/000149792
- Méloux A, Béjot Y, Rochette L, Cottin Y, Vergely C. Brain-heart interactions during ischemic processes: clinical and experimental evidences. *Stroke.* (2020) 51:679-86. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.027732
- 47. Sposato LA, Cohen G, Wardlaw JM, Sandercock P, Lindley RI, Hachinski V, et al. Effect of right insular involvement on death and functional outcome after acute ischemic stroke in the IST-3 trial (Third International Stroke Trial). *Stroke.* (2016) 47:2959-65. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.116.014928

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Li, Zhang, Liu, Chen, Yi and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Benefit of Thrombectomy in Patients With Low ASPECTS Is a Matter of Shades of Gray—What Current Trials May Have Missed

Gabriel Broocks^{1*}, Lukas Meyer¹, Rosalie McDonough¹, Matthias Bechstein¹, Uta Hanning¹, Jens Fiehler¹ and Andre Kemmling^{2,3} for the I-LAST Investigators

¹ Department of Diagnostic and Interventional Neuroradiology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany, ² Department of Neuroradiology, University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein, Lübeck, Germany, ³ Department of Neuroradiology, University of Marburg, Marburg, Germany

Randomized trials supporting the benefit of endovascular treatment in acute ischemic stroke patients with a large early infarction are not yet available. Few retrospective studies exist that suggest a potential positive treatment effect on functional outcome, as well as procedural safety. However, potential benefit or harm of MT in patients with low initial ASPECTS is still a subject of current debate, and in particular, how to select these patients for treatment. The purpose of this pilot study was to evaluate how early tissue water uptake in acute ischemic brain might determine lesion fate and functional outcome in low ASPECTS patients undergoing MT. We observed that the degree of early water uptake measured by quantitative NWU was significantly associated with functional outcome in low ASPECTS patients, yielding a higher diagnostic power compared to other parameters such as ASPECTS, age, or NIHSS. No conclusive evidence of a beneficial effect of successful reperfusion was observed in patients with low ASPECTS and high NWU, which highlights the potential of NWU as a tool to specify patient selection.

Keywords: stroke, edema, thrombectomy, infarct, outcome

RANDOMIZED TRIALS OF THROMBECTOMY IN PATIENTS WITH LARGE EARLY INFARCTS

Randomized clinical trial data supporting the benefit of endovascular treatment in acute ischemic stroke patients with a large early infarction are not yet available (1). Few retrospective studies exist that suggest a potential positive treatment effect on the functional outcome, as well as procedural safety (2–7). However, the potential benefit or harm of MT in patients with low inital ASPECTS is still a subject of current debate, and, in particular, how to select these patients for treatment. There is uncertainty of how to operationalize a threshold of extensive early infarct in CT to safely guide MT, which is reflected by the different inclusion criteria of the current low ASPECTS trials. TENSION and SELECT-2 include patients with ASPECTS 3–5, while LASTE (InExtremis) and TESLA include patients with 0–5 and 2–5, respectively (3–5 in LASTE for patients with > 80 years old) (8). Moreover, trials differ regarding the time window from the symptom onset to imaging, NIHSS cut-offs, or neuroimaging modality. The utilization of perfusion CT (CTP) as a selection tool has recently been critized with regard to overestimation of the true volume of irreversibly injured brain tissue, especially in the early time window, and in the context of the SELECT-2 trial

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jean-Claude Baron, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Kilian Treumiet, Amsterdam UMC, Netherlands Tae-Hee Cho, Hospices Civils de Lyon, France

> *Correspondence: Gabriel Broocks g.broocks@uke.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 31 May 2021 Accepted: 06 December 2021 Published: 14 January 2022

Citation:

Broocks G, Meyer L, McDonough R, Bechstein M, Hanning U, Fiehler J and Kemmling A (2022) The Benefit of Thrombectomy in Patients With Low ASPECTS Is a Matter of Shades of Gray—What Current Trials May Have Missed. Front. Neurol. 12:718046. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.718046 (9–13). In particular, the exclusion of large core patients but ASPECTS > 5 and/or early time window is controversial (9).

The rating of ASPECTS itself is based on binary scoring for presence of hypoattenuated brain tissue in 10 predefined territorial areas of the middle cerebral artery. This tissue hypoattenuation is directly related to early infarct with edematous water uptake, which can be quantified on CT (14). However, ASPECTS does not differentiate between different degrees of hypoattenuation in binary scored regions. Hence, the level of hypoattenuation (i.e., the level of water uptake indicated ischemic progression) may significantly differ across identical low ASPECTS ratings even after a similar time from the onset to imaging. It is thus conceivable that the potential benefit of MT in patients with low ASPECTS heavily depends on ischemic progression indicated by water uptake.

The purpose of this pilot study was to evaluate how early tissue water uptake in acute ischemic brain might determine lesion fate and the functional outcome in patients with low ASPECTS undergoing MT. We hypothesized that quantitative lesion water uptake measured in admission-CT differentiates patients with low ASPECTS with respect to the functional outcome after MT and predicts futile vessel recanalization.

PILOT STUDY-EARLY TISSUE WATER UPTAKE AS A DETERMINANT OF RESPONSE TO MT

Improving Low ASPECTS Stroke Thrombectomy (I-LAST)

I-LAST is an academic, independent, prospective, multicenter, observational registry study. This study aims to investigate the role of advanced imaging biomarkers in patients with large early infarct. The study is in accordance with the ethical guidelines of the local ethics committee and with the Declaration of Helsinki. The local ethics committee approved this study (WF-091/21) and waived informed consent. The study is registered within the ClinicalTrials.gov Protocol Registration and Results System (NCT04862507). The present pilot study used similar inclusion criteria (as stated below) and serves as an exploratory analysis to investigate the potential value of lesion water uptake as an imaging biomarker in the triage of patients with low ASPECTS.

Patient Inclusion

For this exploratory pilot study, anonymized data from a tertiarycare stroke center were analyzed retrospectively.

All patients with acute ischemic stroke due to a large vessel occlusion in the anterior circulation admitted between March 2017 and March 2019 were consecutively screened for patients with (1) CT-angiography-confirmed occlusion of the M1 segment of the middle cerebral artery (MCA) or distal occlusion of the internal carotid artery (ICA); (2) admission multimodal CT protocol with non-enhanced CT (NECT), CT-Angiography (CTA), and Perfusion-CT (CTP) performed within 12 h from the

symptom onset; (3) An initial ASPECTS of 5 or less in admission-NECT rated by a board-certified neuroradiologist. Decision for treatment was made by a board-certified neurointerventionalist in consensus with a board-certified attending stroke neurologist. Ischemic lesion net water uptake (NWU) was quantified as previously described (15, 16). A region of interest (ROI) was placed for density measurements according to the extent of ischemic hypoattenuation identified on NECT with hindsight knowledge of the core lesion in cerebral blood volume (CBV).

All finally analyzed patients were included in the regression analyses. Successful recanalization was defined as modified thrombolysis in cerebral infarctions (mTICI) score 2b-3. The patients who did not undergo MT were defined to have "no successful vessel recanalization."

We compared the medians of the independent variables using Mann-Whitney U tests for patients based on the functional outcome at Day 90 after dichotomization in "good" (mRS 0-2) and "poor" outcomes (mRS 3-6). Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analyses were performed to assess the area under the curve (AUC) of the independent variables [ASPECTS, NWU (continuous), age, and NIHSS] to compare its diagnostic ability to discriminate the functional outcome (dependent variable: mRS 0-2). Furthermore, a multivariable logistic regression analysis was performed using ASPECTS, NWU (continuous), age, time from the onset to imaging, NIHSS, and recanalization status as independent variables with stepwise variable selection. Moreover, "MT" was tested as an independent variable replacing "recanalization status." The intention was to assess the independent association of NWU and the functional outcome, adjusted for covariates, especially ASPECTS, and recanalization status. We also tested the association of recanalization and the outcome separately for the patients with low and high NWU, distinguished using the NWU cut-off from ROC analysis. Finally, multivariable logistic regression analysis was performed with mRS 0-3 as a dependent variable, as the number of patients with functional independence (mRS 0-2) at Day 90 may be limited due to more distinctive baseline infarction.

A statistically significant difference was accepted at a *p*-value of < 0.05. Analyses were performed using MedCalc (version 11.5.1.0; Mariakerke, Belgium) and R (R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria, 2017).

Ethics Statement

Anonymized data were recorded and analyzed in accordance with ethical guidelines and after approval of the local ethics committee. Informed consent was waived.

RESULTS

About 155 patients were analyzed. The median ASPECTS was 4 (IQR: 3–5), and the mean NWU at admission was 10.8% (SD: 3.8%). The median age was 75 (IQR: 66–82). Seventy-eight patients (50.3%) underwent MT, of which 50 (64%) resulted in successful endovascular recanalization (mTICI \geq 2b). The median mRS at Day 90 was 5 (IQR: 4–6) with 17 (11%)



FIGURE 1 | An example of patients with low ASPECTS and different kinds of net water uptake (NWU). Two examples showing patients with a low ASPECTS and low or high NWU, respectively. Follow-up imaging and a functional outcome are displayed.

patients achieving functional independence. **Figure 1** illustrates two examples of patients with low ASPECTS with high- vs. low-baseline NWU, respectively. Comparing the baseline NWU in patients with good clinical (mRS 0–2) vs. a poor outcome (mRS 3–6), the median NWU was significantly lower in patients with a good outcome (median 7.6, IQR: 4.6–8.7 vs. median 10.8, IQR: 8.9–13.9; p < 0.0001). **Table 1** shows the patient characteristics.

In ROC curve analysis, the highest diagnostic power was observed for NWU (AUC: 0.84; 95% CI: 0.77–0.89; Youden J: 0.59; cutoff, 9.1%; sensitivity, 88.2%; specificity, 70.6%), and ASPECTS (AUC: 0.78; 95% CI: 0.71–0.84; Youden J: 0.54; cut-off,

4; sensitivity, 88.2%; specificity, 65.4%). NIHSS on admission (AUC: 0.73) and age (AUC: 0.68) showed a moderate to low diagnostic ability to classify an outcome (**Table 2; Figure 2**). In multivariable logistic regression analysis, age (OR: 0.92; 95% CI: 0.85–0.99; p = 0.02), NWU (OR: 0.52; 95% CI: 0.37–0.74; p < 0.001), ASPECTS (OR: 17.89; 95% CI: 2.93–108.9; p = 0.001), and by trend status of recanalization (OR: 5.05; 95% CI: 0.97–26.5; p = 0.05) were significantly associated with a good functional outcome at Day 90 (**Table 3**). There was no significant interaction between NWU (continuous) and recanalization. The corresponding interaction term between

TABLE 1 | Patient characteristics.

Variable	<i>N</i> = 155
Age (years)—median (IQR)	75.0 (66–82)
Time from onset to imaging in	3.8 (2.5–5)
hours—median (IQR)	
NIHSS—median (IQR)	18 (15–21)
ASPECTS—median (IQR)	4 (3–5)
NWU (%)–mean (SD)	10.8 (3.8)
IV rtPA, n (%)	88 (56.8)
Thrombectomy, n (%)	78 (50.3)
successful recanalization (mTICl \geq 2b), n (%)	50 (64.0)
mRS90 0–2–n (%)	17 (11%)

TABLE 2 | ROC curve analysis.

AUC 95%Cl ASPECTS 0.78 0.70–0.84 % – Net Water Uptake 0.84 0.79–0.89 NIHSS on admission 0.73 0.65–0.80 Age 0.68 0.60–0.76 Time from onset—imaging 0.54 0.46–0.63			
% – Net Water Uptake 0.84 0.79–0.89 NIHSS on admission 0.73 0.65–0.80 Age 0.68 0.60–0.76		AUC	95%CI
NIHSS on admission 0.73 0.65–0.80 Age 0.68 0.60–0.76	ASPECTS	0.78	0.70–0.84
Age 0.68 0.60–0.76	%-Net Water Uptake	0.84	0.79–0.89
- 3-	NIHSS on admission	0.73	0.65–0.80
Time from onset-imaging 0.54 0.46-0.63	Age	0.68	0.60-0.76
	Time from onset-imaging	0.54	0.46-0.63

NWU and recanalization status was not statistically significant (OR: 0.85; 95% CI: 0.55–1.29; p = 0.47). When replacing the independent variable "recanalization status" with "MT," MT did not show a statistically significant association with an outcome (OR: 1.93; 95% CI: 0.28–13.26; p = 0.50).

In multivariable logistic regression analysis with mRS 0-3 as a dependent variable, NWU (continuous) was confirmed as an independent predictor of a good outcome (OR: 0.82; 95% CI: 0.72–0.93; p = 0.002), besides ASPECTS (OR: 2.07; 95% CI: 1.09–3.92; p = 0.03), and age (OR: 0.95; 95% CI: 0.92–0.99, p = 0.01) (**Table 3**).

In patients with NWU > 9.1% (cut-off from ROC curve analysis), successful recanalization did not show a statistically significant association with an improved outcome (OR: 1.17; 95% CI: 0.18–7.56, p = 0.87), while recanalization was significantly associated with a good outcome in patients with NWU < 9.1% (OR: 8.46; 95% CI: 1.7–41.1; p = 0.009).

DISCUSSION AND CONSEQUENCES FOR CLINICAL TRIALS

The aim of this pilot study was to investigate the impact of baseline NWU as a quantitative imaging biomarker in the



TABLE 3 N	/lultivariable	logistic	regression	analysis.
-------------	----------------	----------	------------	-----------

	Modified rankin scale 0-2			Modified rankin scale 0–3		
	OR	95%CI	P value	OR	95%CI	P value
NWU	0.52	0.37–0.74	<0.001	0.82	0.72–0.93	<0.01
ASPECTS	17.89	2.93–109	0.02	2.07	1.09–3.92	0.03
Age	0.92	0.85–0.99	0.02	0.95	0.92-0.99	0.01
Recanalization	5.05	0.97–26.5	0.05	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.

n.s., not significant.

assessment of patients with low ASPECTS. We hypothesized that the degree of hypoattenuation (i.e., water uptake) as a second lesion feature besides lesion extent modified the effect of MT on the functional outcome in patients with low ASPECTS. We observed that NWU was significantly associated with a functional outcome, yielding a higher diagnostic power compared to other parameters, such as ASPECTS, age, or NIHSS.

Yet, no randomized evidence supports MT for patients with low ASPECTS (17). Hence, diagnostic tools are needed to identify the patients with low ASPECTS that are expected to benefit from MT. The ASPECTS rating itself is based on binary subjective rating criteria (hypoattenuation yes/no). It, therefore, does not further quantify the degree of hypoattenuation, a major limitation of ASPECTS as a selection criterion for treatment. The stage of early infarct lesions in brain is defined by NWU, which, in turn, is directly related to lesion hypoattenuation and volume increase (i.e., extracellular edema). The decrease of attenuation of ischemic tissue is directly related to net influx of water, which has been demonstrated in vitro and in vivo (14, 18, 19). Therefore, an additional quantitative parameter that further stratifies lesion pathophysiology in patients with low ASPECTS could further differentiate the stages of early ischemic changes in acute stroke imaging to exclude those patients that do not benefit from MT (20).

In summary, we observed that neither MT nor successful recanalization after MT was associated with an improved outcome in patients with high NWU, adjusted for baseline ASPECTS. Hence, high NWU at admission may serve as a predictor of futile recanalization. In patients with low ASPECTS but low NWU, recanalization was significantly associated with functional independence. It is important to realize that the current trials investigating MT in patients with low ASPECTS do not consider lesion water uptake (i.e., the degree of hypoattenuation) as a factor for treatment selection, especially considering the extended time window from the symptom onset to imaging in these trials. Patient inclusion in TENSION requires a time from the onset to imaging of <11 h, while both TESLA and SELECT-2 include patients up to 24 h after the symptom onset. Hence, a patient with an ASPECTS of 2, high degree of lesion water uptake, and presenting after up to 24 h after the onset may be randomized in the TESLA trial and undergo MT. According to our data, recanalization of patients with low ASPECTS with high water uptake is not associated with a clinical benefit, and futile MT may occur with high probability. Moreover, ASPECTS remained an independent predictor of an outcome despite preselection of patients (i.e., ASPECTS 0–5 only) with a high OR, which emphasized differences among the lower ASPECTS scale, particularly encouraging treatment of ASPECTS 4–5.

Alternative concepts to patients with triage low ASPECTS are currently discussed, for instance, the utilization of CTP (5). This approach, however, is often criticized, in particular with regard to overestimation of the volume of irreversibly injured tissue, potentially causing the exclusion of patients who might benefit from MT (5, 11, 21). Second, CTP-derived core volumes did not modify the effect of MT on a clinical outcome in a HERMES meta-analysis (22). In contrast, NWU could serve as a quantitative imaging biomarker that specifically represents ischemic edema as a hallmark of irreversible infarction with very low likelihood of reversibility (5, 14, 23).

An approach for a clinical feasible implementation of NWU in the assessment of patients with extensive baseline infarct lesion could be realized by an adjusted ASPECTS. The degree of hypoattenuation per ASPECTS region could be quantified using simple measurements of relative density changes in the ischemic brain tissue compared to a contralateral region of interest and then be used to adjust the ASPECT score. Further studies are needed to validate the impact of NWU in patients with low ASPECTS and to test the applicability and diagnostic ability of an edema-corrected ASPECTS. Limitations of our study include the relatively small number of patients due to strict inclusion criteria. Furthermore, the retrospective design of this study does not allow for valid conclusions regarding treatment effects. Moreover, the matching of patients who did not undergo MT as "not successfully recanalized" might lead to an underestimation of the effect of MT due to the potential phenomenon of spontaneous reperfusion. We did not observe a significant interaction between baseline NWU and recanalization, but this might be biased by the small number of patients. Yet, the quantification of NWU in admission CT requires the utilization of CTP, which is a limitation of this method. Future studies should validate alternative concepts of NWU quantification, for instance, using automated voxel-wise analysis of NECT hypoattenuation per ASPECTS region, or using multiphase CTA maps to define the ROI for NWU quantification in NECT.

CONCLUSION

In stroke patients with LVO and initial ASPECTS of ≤ 5 , low NWU of early infarct may constitute a beneficial constellation for vessel recanalization. No conclusive evidence of a beneficial effect of successful reperfusion was observed in patients with low ASPECTS and high NWU, which highlights the potential of NWU as a tool to specify patient selection.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available due to ethical restrictions that prevent the sharing of data. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethikkommission der Ärztekammer Hamburg. The Ethics Committee waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation.

I-LAST STUDY COLLABORATORS

Gabriel Broocks, Department of Neuroradiology, University Medical Center Hamburg Eppendorf, Germany; Tobias D. Faizy, Department of Neuroradiology, Stanford University, Stanford, United States; Andre Kemmling, Department of Neuroradiology, University Hospital, Marburg, Germany; Sönke

REFERENCES

- Diestro JDB, Dmytriw AA, Broocks G, Chen K, Hirsch JA, Kemmling A, et al. Endovascular thrombectomy for low aspects large vessel occlusion ischemic stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2020) 47:612–9. doi: 10.1017/cjn.2020.71
- Sarraj A, Hassan AE, Savitz S, Sitton C, Grotta J, Chen P, et al. Outcomes of endovascular thrombectomy vs medical management alone in patients with large ischemic cores: a secondary analysis of the optimizing patient's selection for endovascular treatment in acute ischemic stroke (select) study. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:1147–56. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2109
- Kaesmacher J, Chaloulos-Iakovidis P, Panos L, Mordasini P, Michel P, Hajdu SD, et al. Mechanical thrombectomy in ischemic stroke patients with alberta stroke program early computed tomography score 0-5. *Stroke*. (2019) 50:880– 8. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.023465
- Roman LS, Menon BK, Blasco J, Hernandez-Perez M, Davalos A, Majoie C, et al. Imaging features and safety and efficacy of endovascular stroke treatment: a meta-analysis of individual patient-level data. *Lancet Neurol.* (2018) 17:895–904. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30242-4
- McDonough R, Elsayed S, Faizy TD, Austein F, Sporns PB, Meyer L, et al. Computed tomography-based triage of extensive baseline infarction: aspects and collaterals versus perfusion imaging for outcome prediction. *J Neurointerv Surg.* (2021) 13:869–74. doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2020-016848
- Broocks G, Hanning U, Flottmann F, Schonfeld M, Faizy TD, Sporns P, et al. Clinical benefit of thrombectomy in stroke patients with low aspects is mediated by oedema reduction. *Brain.* (2019) 142:1399–407. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz057
- Broocks G, Kniep H, Schramm P, Hanning U, Flottmann F, Faizy T, et al. Patients with low alberta stroke program early ct score (aspects) but good collaterals benefit from endovascular recanalization. *J Neurointerv Surg.* (2020) 12:747–52. doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2019-015308
- Bendszus M, Bonekamp S, Berge E, Boutitie F, Brouwer P, Gizewski E, et al. A randomized controlled trial to test efficacy and safety of thrombectomy in stroke with extended lesion and extended time window. *Int J Stroke*. (2019) 14:87–93. doi: 10.1177/1747493018798558
- Jadhav AP, Hacke W, Dippel DWJ, Simonsen CZ, Costalat V, Fiehler J, et al. Select wisely: the ethical challenge of defining large core with perfusion in the early time window. J Neurointerv Surg. (2021) 13:497–9. doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2021-017386
- Bivard A, Kleinig T, Miteff F, Butcher K, Lin L, Levi C, et al. Ischemic core thresholds change with time to reperfusion: a case control study. *Ann Neurol.* (2017) 82:995–1003. doi: 10.1002/ana.25109
- 11. Goyal M, Ospel JM, Menon B, Almekhlafi M, Jayaraman M, Fiehler J, et al. Challenging the ischemic core concept in acute ischemic

Langner, Department of Neuroradiology, University Medical Center, Rostock, Germany; Andre Kemmling, Department of Neuroradiology, University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein, Luebeck, Germany; Jawed Nawabi, Department of Radiology – Charite University Medicine, Berlin, Germany; Panagiotis Papanagiotou, Department of Neuroradiology Klinikum Bremen-Mitte GmbH, Bremen, Germany; Peter Sporns, Department of Neuroradiology, Universitätsspital Basel, Basel, Switzerland.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GB, LM, JF, and AK have contributed in conception and design of the study. GB, RM, MB, and AK have contributed in acquisition and analysis of data. GB, UH, JF, and AK have contributed in drafting a significant portion of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

stroke imaging. *Stroke.* (2020) 51:3147–55. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.120. 030620

- Broocks G, Minnerup J, McDonough R, Flottmann F, Kemmling A. Letter by broocks et al. regarding article, "challenging the ischemic core concept in acute ischemic stroke imaging". *Stroke.* (2021) 52:e76–7. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.120.032707
- Flottmann F, Broocks G, Faizy TD, Ernst M, Forkert ND, Grosser M, et al. Ctperfusion stroke imaging: a threshold free probabilistic approach to predict infarct volume compared to traditional ischemic thresholds. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:6679. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-06882-w
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Ernst M, Faizy TD, Minnerup J, Siemonsen S, et al. Computed tomography-based imaging of voxel-wise lesion water uptake in ischemic brain: relationship between density and direct volumetry. *Invest Radiol.* (2018) 53:207–13. doi: 10.1097/RLI.000000000000430
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Scheibel A, Aigner A, Faizy TD, Hanning U, et al. Quantitative lesion water uptake in acute stroke computed tomography is a predictor of malignant infarction. *Stroke*. (2018) 49:1906–12. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.020507
- Broocks G, Flottmann F, Hanning U, Schon G, Sporns P, Minnerup J, et al. Impact of endovascular recanalization on quantitative lesion water uptake in ischemic anterior circulation strokes. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2020) 40:437–45. doi: 10.1177/0271678X18823601
- Meyer L, Bechstein M, Bester M, Hanning U, Brekenfeld C, Flottmann F, et al. Thrombectomy in extensive stroke may not be beneficial and is associated with increased risk for hemorrhage. *Stroke*. (2021) 52:3109–17. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.120.033101
- Broocks G, Faizy TD, Flottmann F, Schon G, Langner S, Fiehler J, et al. Subacute infarct volume with edema correction in computed tomography is equivalent to final infarct volume after ischemic stroke: improving the comparability of infarct imaging endpoints in clinical trials. *Invest Radiol.* (2018) 53:472–6. doi: 10.1097/RLI.000000000000475
- Minnerup J, Broocks G, Kalkoffen J, Langner S, Knauth M, Psychogios MN, et al. Computed tomography-based quantification of lesion water uptake identifies patients within 4.5 hours of stroke onset: a multicenter observational study. *Ann Neurol.* (2016) 80:924–34. doi: 10.1002/ana.24818
- Nawabi J, Flottmann F, Kemmling A, Kniep H, Leischner H, Sporns P, et al. Elevated early lesion water uptake in acute stroke predicts poor outcome despite successful recanalization when "tissue clock" and "time clock" are desynchronized. *Int J Stroke.* (2021) 16:863–72. doi: 10.1177/1747493019884522
- Boned S, Padroni M, Rubiera M, Tomasello A, Coscojuela P, Romero N, et al. Admission ct perfusion may overestimate initial infarct core: the ghost infarct core concept. J Neurointerv Surg. (2017) 9:66–9. doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2016-012494

92

- 22. Campbell BCV, Majoie C, Albers GW, Menon BK, Yassi N, Sharma G, et al. Penumbral imaging and functional outcome in patients with anterior circulation ischaemic stroke treated with endovascular thrombectomy versus medical therapy: a meta-analysis of individual patient-level data. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18:46–55. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18) 30314-4
- Broocks G, McDonough R, Meyer L, Bechstein M, Kniep H, Schon G, et al. Reversible ischemic lesion hypodensity in acute stroke ct following endovascular reperfusion. *Neurology.* (2021) 97:e1075–84. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0000000000 012484

Conflict of Interest: JF receives research support from EU, BMBF, BMWi, DFG, Acandis, Medtronic, Microvention, and Stryker. JF is a consultant for Acandis, Codman, Cerenovus, Medtronic, Microvention, Penumbra, Phenox, and Stryker, holds Stock of Tegus Medical, and has executive functions at Eppdata (all unrelated). AK has research collaboration agreement with Siemens Healthcare (unrelated).

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Broocks, Meyer, McDonough, Bechstein, Hanning, Fiehler and Kemmling. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

